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Cautionary Dote Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The information provided in this Listing Statement, including information incorporated by reference, may 
contain "forward-looking statements" about SG Spirit Gold Inc. (the "Corporation") and Northern Lights 
Marijuana Company Limited ("DOJA").  In addition, the Corporation may make or approve certain 
statements in future filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities, in press releases, or in oral or 
written presentations by representatives of the Corporation or DOJA that are not statements of historical 
fact and may also constitute forward-looking statements.  All statements, other than statements of 
historical fact, made by the Corporation or DOJA that address activities, events or developments that the 
Corporation expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future are forward- looking statements, 
including, but not limited to, statements preceded by, followed by or that include words such as "may", 
"will", "would", "could", "should", "believes", "estimates", "projects", "potential", "expects", "plans", 
"intends", "anticipates", "targeted", "continues", "forecasts", "designed", "goal", or the negative of those 
words or other similar or comparable words.

Forward-looking statements may relate to future financial conditions, results of operations, plans, 
objectives, performance or business developments. These statements speak only as at the date they are 
made and are based on information currently available and on the then current expectations of the party 
making the statement and assumptions concerning future events, which are subject to a number of 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, performance or 
achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements, including, but not limited to, risks and uncertainties related to:

 the regulation of the medical marijuana industry in Canada;

 the availability of financing opportunities, risks associated with economic conditions, 
dependence on management and conflicts of interest; and

 other risks described in this Listing Statement and described from time to time in documents 
filed by the Corporation with Canadian securities regulatory authorities.

The forward-looking statements contained herein are based on certain key expectations and assumptions, 
including: (i) expectations and assumptions concerning timing of receipt of required shareholder and 
regulatory approvals, including with respect to the receipt of required licenses and third party consents, if 
any; and (ii) expectations and assumptions concerning the success of the operations of the Corporation.

With respect to the forward-looking statements contained herein, although the Corporation and DOJA
believe that the expectations and assumptions on which the forward-looking statements are based are 
reasonable, undue reliance should not be placed on the forward-looking statements, because no 
assurance can be given that they will prove to be correct. Since forward-looking statements address 
future events and conditions, by their very nature they involve inherent risks and uncertainties. Actual 
results could differ materially from those currently anticipated due to a number of factors and risks. These 
include, but are not limited to: the availability of sources of income to generate cash flow and revenue; 
the dependence on management  and  directors; risks relating to the receipt of the required licenses, risks 
relating to federal and provincial regulations applicable to the production and sale of marijuana, risks  
relating  to  additional  funding  requirements;  due  diligence  risks; exchange rate risks; risks relating to 
non-controlling interests; potential conflicts of interest; and potential transaction and legal risks, as more 
particularly described under the heading "Risk Factors" in this Listing Statement.
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Consequently, all forward-looking statements made in this Listing Statement and other documents of the 
Corporation or DOJA, as applicable, are qualified by such cautionary statements and there can be no 
assurance that the anticipated results or developments will actually be realized or, even if realized, that 
they will have the expected consequences to or effects on the Corporation and DOJA.  The cautionary 
statements contained or referred to in this section should be considered in connection with any 
subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements that the Corporation, DOJA and/or persons acting 
on their behalf may issue.  Neither the Corporation nor DOJA undertake any obligation to update or revise 
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, 
other than as required under securities legislation.

Market and Industry Data

This Listing Statement includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third party sources, 
including industry publications.  The Corporation believes that its industry data is accurate and that its 
estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness 
of this data.  Third party sources generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained 
from sources believed to be reliable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of 
included information.  Although the data is believed to be reliable, the Corporation has not independently 
verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Listing Statement or ascertained the 
underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources.



5

Glossary of Terms

The following is a glossary of certain general terms used in this Listing Statement including the summary 
hereof.  Terms and abbreviations used in the financial statements included in, or appended to this Listing 
Statement are defined separately and the terms and abbreviations defined below are not used therein, 
except where otherwise indicated. Words importing the singular, where the context requires, include the 
plural and vice versa and words importing any gender include all genders.

"ACMPR" means the Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations (Canada) pursuant to the 
Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (Canada);

"Acquireco" means NLMCO Acquisition Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation incorporated 
under the BCBCA for the purpose of carrying out the Amalgamation.

"Affiliate" means a corporation that is affiliated with another corporation as described below. A 
corporation is an "Affiliate" of another corporation if:

a) one of them is the subsidiary of the other; or

b) each of them is controlled by the same Person.

A corporation is "controlled" by a Person if:

a) voting securities of the corporation are held, other than by way of security only, by or for the 
benefit of that Person; and

b) the voting securities, if voted, entitle the Person to elect a majority of the directors of the 
corporation.

A Person beneficially owns securities that are beneficially owned by: 

a) a corporation controlled by that Person; or

b) an Affiliate of that Person or an Affiliate of any corporation controlled by that Person.

"Amalco" means "DOJA Cannabis Ltd", the entity formed upon completion of the Amalgamation, which 
will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer.

"Amalgamation Agreement" means the agreement entered into between the Corporation, Acquireco, 
and DOJA in respect of the Amalgamation, dated February 10, 2017, as amended from time to time.

"Amalgamation" means the amalgamation of Acquireco and DOJA.

"Associate" when used to indicate a relationship with a Person, means:
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(a) an issuer of which the Person beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting 
securities entitling him to more than 10% of the voting rights attached to outstanding 
securities of the issuer;

(b) any partner of the Person;

(c) any trust or estate in which the Person has a substantial beneficial interest or in respect 
of which a Person serves as trustee or in a similar capacity; or

(d) in the case of a Person who is an individual:

(i) that Person&s spouse or child, or
(ii) any relative of the Person or of his spouse who has the same residence as that

Person.

"BCBCA" means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia).

"Change of Business" means the change of business of the Corporation from mining activities to the 
medical marijuana industry.

"Commissions" means the Ontario Securities Commission, the Alberta Securities Commission and the
British Columbia Securities Commission.

"Common Shares" means the issued and outstanding common shares in the capital of the Corporation as 
presently constituted.

“Consideration Options” means the incentive stock options to be issued by the Corporation to holders of 
DOJA Options pursuant to the terms of the Amalgamation Agreement, and which shall entitle the holder 
thereof to purchase, subject to adjustment, one Common Share at a price of $0.42 per Common Share, on 
substantially the same terms as the DOJA Options.

"Consideration Warrants" means the common share purchase warrants to be issued by the Corporation 
to holders of DOJA Warrants pursuant to the terms of the Amalgamation Agreement, and which shall 
entitle the holder thereof to purchase, subject to adjustment, one Common Share at a price of $0.25 per 
Common Share, on substantially the same terms as the DOJA Warrants. 

“Consolidation” means the consolidation of the Common Shares on a three (old) for one (new) basis.

"Corporation" means SG Spirit Gold Inc., a corporation continued under the BCBCA.

"Corporation's Board of Directors" means the board of directors of the Corporation.

"CSE" means the Canadian Securities Exchange.

"CSE Approval" means the final approval of the CSE in respect of the listing of the Corporation&s Common 
Shares on the CSE following completion of the Amalgamation, as evidenced by the issuance of the final 
approval bulletin of the CSE in respect thereof.
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"CSE Policies" means the rules and policies of the CSE in effect as of the date hereof.

"DOJA" means Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limited, a corporation incorporated under the 
BCBCA. On February 27, 2017, the shareholders of Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limited approved 
a change of the company’s name, which change is anticipated to occur concurrently with the closing of 
the Amalgamation.

"DOJA's Board of Directors" means the board of directors of DOJA.

“DOJA Options” means the incentive stock options of DOJA.

"DOJA Performance Warrants" means the performance warrants of DOJA issued to certain directors, 
officers and employees of DOJA from time to time;

"DOJA Shareholders" means the holders of DOJA Shares.

"DOJA Shares" means the issued and outstanding class “A” voting common shares without par value in 
the capital of DOJA.

"DOJA Warrants" means the outstanding common share purchase warrants of DOJA, each of which 
entitles the holder thereof to purchase, subject to adjustment, one DOJA Share at a price of $0.45 per 
Common Share until February 17, 2019.

"Escrow Agent" means CST Trust Company.

"Escrow Agreement" means the escrow agreement to be entered into by the Corporation, the Escrow
Agent and certain securityholders of the Corporation in compliance with the requirements of the CSE.

"Escrowed Securities" means the Common Shares that will be subject to the Escrow Agreement upon 
completion of the Amalgamation.

"Facility" means DOJA’s proposed facility for the purposes of receiving a License under the ACMPR. 

"License" means a license from Health Canada designating that pursuant to the ACMPR DOJA is a 
"Licensed Producer".

"Licensed Producer" has the meaning ascribed to such term in the ACMPR.

"Listing Statement" means this listing statement of the Corporation, including the schedules hereto, 
prepared in support of the listing of the Common Shares on the CSE.

"MMPR" means the Marijuana for Medical Purposes Regulations (Canada) pursuant to the Controlled
Drugs and Substances Act (Canada).

"Dame Change" means the change of the Corporation&s name from "SG Spirit Gold Inc." to "DOJA 
Cannabis Company Limited".
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"DP 46-201" means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings.

"Person" means any individual, corporation, company, partnership, unincorporated association, trust, 
joint venture, governmental body or any other legal entity whatsoever.

"Resulting Issuer" means the Corporation following completion of the Amalgamation.

"Shareholders" means shareholders of the Corporation.

"Warrants" mean the outstanding common share purchase warrants of the Corporation, each of which 
entitles the holder thereof to purchase, subject to adjustment, one Common Share at a price of $0.10 per 
Common Share until February 9, 2021.
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2. CORPORATE STRUCTURE

2.1 Corporate Dame and Head and Registered Office

This Listing Statement has been prepared with respect to the Corporation in connection with its proposed 
listing on the CSE.  Upon completion of the Amalgamation, the head office of the Resulting Issuer will be 
located at 1593 Ellis Street, Kelowna, British Columbia, V1Y 2A7, and the registered office of the Resulting 
Issuer will be located at 301 – 1665 Ellis Street, Kelowna, British Columbia, V1Y 2B3.  The Corporation is a 
reporting issuer in the Provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario.

2.2 Jurisdiction of Incorporation

The Corporation was originally formed through the amalgamation of Stonecliffe Capital Inc. and Ruby Red 
Resources Inc., pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (Alberta), on December 19, 2006.  On October 
20, 2010, the Corporation amended its articles to change its name from “Ruby Red Resources Inc.” to “SG 
Spirit Gold Inc.”  On December 20, 2011, the Corporation was continued under the BCBCA.

2.3 Inter-corporate Relationships

Acquireco was incorporated on January 13, 2017, under the BCBCA, and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Corporation.  Other than Acquireco, the Corporation has one other subsidiary, SG Spirit Subco Inc., 
established under the laws of the State of Delaware.

2.4 Fundamental Change

See Item 3.1 – General Development of the Business – The Amalgamation.

2.5 Don-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada

This section is not applicable to the Corporation.

3. GEDERAL DEVELOPMEDT OF THE BUSIDESS

3.1 General Development of the Business

The Corporation

The Corporation has historically been involved in mineral exploration activities in the Province of British 
Columbia.  Most recently, the Corporation has been involved in the exploration and evaluation of its 
wholly-owned Purcell LOV property, located in the East Kootenay region of British Columbia.  The 
Corporation is headquartered in Vancouver, British Columbia.

On May 26, 2016, the Corporation, and its wholly-owned subsidiary SG Spirit Subco Inc., entered into a 
definitive agreement and plan of merger with ArcScan, Inc.  Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the 
Corporation proposed to acquire all of the outstanding share capital of ArcScan, Inc., through a series of 
transactions.  The agreement expired without completion of the transaction on September 30, 2016.
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On February 10, 2017, the Corporation, Acquireco, and DOJA entered into the Amalgamation Agreement, 
as amended on April 28, 2017, in respect of the Amalgamation.  In the event the Amalgamation is 
completed, the transaction would constitute a Change of Business for the Corporation.

DOJA Cannabis Company Limited

DOJA is a privately-owned company incorporated under the BCBCA on October 26, 2012 under the name 
Kitsch Real Estate Holdings Ltd.  On October 8, 2013, DOJA changed its name to Northern Lights Marijuana 
Company Limited.  On February 27, 2017, DOJA shareholders passed a special resolution authorizing the 
company to change its name to DOJA Cannabis Company Limited, or such other name as the directors of 
the company may determine. The registered and head office of DOJA is located at 1593 Ellis Street, 
Kelowna, British Columbia, V1Y 2A7.  DOJA has no subsidiaries.

Based in Canada’s picturesque Okanagan Valley, DOJA is a Licensed Producer of medical marijuana in 
Canada under the ACMPR and is committed to building a fast growing, lifestyle brand that offers high 
quality handcrafted cannabis strains in Canada.

DOJA Overview

After founding and building SAXX Underwear into an internationally recognizable brand, Trent Kitsch co-
founded Northern Lights in 2013 on the shared belief that the medicinal benefits of cannabis could no 
longer be overlooked and an incredible business opportunity existed to be at the forefront of the 
emerging marijuana industry in Canada.

In October 2013, DOJA submitted an application to Health Canada for a license to cultivate and sell 
marijuana for medical purposes under the ACMPR.  

On October 15, 2016, DOJA acquired its proposed facility (the "Facility"), a 7,100 square foot commercial 
building located at 6-2322 Dominion Road, West Kelowna, British Columbia, pursuant to a Contract of 
Purchase and Sale. DOJA concurrently entered into a 99 year lease to secure and extend its potential 
expansion area at is existing site.

On February 21, 2017, DOJA notified Health Canada and the Office of Medical Cannabis that DOJA’s 
proposed site is ready for Health Canada to conduct a Pre-License Inspection.

On May 2, 2017, Health Canada commenced its Pre-License Inspection of the Facility.

On June 16, 2017, Health Canada issued DOJA a license to cultivate only.  This license is the first part of a 
two part staged licensing process mandated by Health Canada.

To best of the DOJA’s knowledge, and as supported by Health Canada’s grant of a License to cultivate, 
DOJA’s proposed site and storage security measures are in place, and functional and comply with the 
requirements of the ACMPR and the Security Directive. To the best of DOJA’s knowledge, all zoning 
requirements as set out by the municipality of West Kelowna have been achieved and approved by the 
city inspectors and DOJA abides by all city zoning bylaws with respect to operating a medical marijuana 
facility on the currently leased property. To best of the DOJA’s knowledge, there are no outstanding 
Ministry of Environment issues and the land is clear of any notices or injunctions.  There are no 
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outstanding work orders, non-compliance orders, deficiency notices or other such notices relative to 
Facility.

DOJA is focused on increasing its near-term potential production capacity. Planning for a sizeable Phase II 
production facility expansion estimated at greater than 40,000 square feet at its current site is underway 
and the company continues to conduct due diligence on other expansion opportunities.

ACMPR Licensing Process Overview

The market for cannabis (including medical marijuana) in Canada is regulated by the CDSA, the ACMPR, 
the Narcotic Control Regulations and other applicable law. Health Canada is the primary regulator of the 
industry as a whole. The ACMPR aims to treat cannabis like any other narcotic used for medical purposes 
by creating conditions for a new commercial industry that is responsible for its production and 
distribution.

Any applicant seeking to become a licensed producer or seller under the ACMPR is subject to stringent 
Health Canada licensing requirements. The below table provides a general overview of the licensing 
process as described by Health Canada.

Stage Overview

Stage 1 Preliminary Screening: When an application is received, it undergoes a 
preliminary screening for completeness. If an application is not complete, it will 
be returned. If an application is complete, it will be assigned an application 
number. The application number means that the application has completed the 
preliminary screening.

Stage 2 Enhanced Screening: Once an application has been assigned an application 
number, it will be reviewed to ensure: that the location of the proposed site does 
not pose a risk to public health, safety and security; that the proposed security 
measures outlined in the application meet the requirements of the ACMPR; and 
the proposed quality assurance person has the appropriate credentials to meet 
the good production requirements outlined in Part 1, Subdivision D of the ACMPR. 
It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that they are in compliance with 
all applicable provincial, territorial, and municipal legislation, regulations and 
bylaws, including zoning restrictions.

Stage 3 Security Clearance: Once the screening of an application is complete, the security 
clearance forms for key personnel will be sent for processing. The time required 
to conduct mandatory security checks varies with each application. Security 
clearances generally take several months at a minimum. Health Canada and the 
RCMP are not able to provide updates on the status of security checks.
Applications will only advance to the review stage once the security clearances for 
the key personnel are completed. Please note that until such a time as Health 
Canada receives the results of the security checks, there will be no further 
communication from Health Canada.
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Stage 4 Review: Once all security clearances are obtained, an application will be 
thoroughly reviewed to validate the information provided. Given the extensive 
review process, applicants are generally required to communicate with the Office 
of Controlled Substances multiple times to provide clarifications on the 
application. Physical security plans will be reviewed and assessed in detail at this 
stage. Applicants must meet a minimum of a level 7 (pursuant to the physical 
security directive) to be considered for a license.

Stage 5 Pre-Licence Inspection: Upon confirmation from the applicant that the site has 
been fully built and security measures are in place, a pre-licence inspection will be 
scheduled. If any deficiencies are identified, they will be communicated to the 
applicant and must be addressed prior to a licence being issued.

Stage 6
DOJA's
current

stage of the
licensing
process

Licensing: Once it has been confirmed through the pre-licence inspection that the 
applicant meets all the requirements of the ACMPR, a licence will be issued. 
Health Canada has introduced a staged process for the issuance of licences. 
Applicants will first be issued a licence to produce only. This will enable Health 
Canada inspectors to confirm that the first batch of dried marijuana produced 
meets the good production practices and record keeping requirements outlined in 
the ACMPR. It also allows Health Canada to verify the test results of the dried 
marijuana (e.g. for microbial and chemical contaminants) to ensure that the dried 
marijuana meets all quality control requirements before it is made available for 
sale.
Once a licensed producer has finished producing the first crop of marijuana, they 
must demonstrate through an inspection and test results that the planned 
growing processes will result in the production of a dried product that meets the 
licensed producer&s specified quality control standards and the Good Production 
Practices set out in Part 1, Subdivision D of the ACMPR. Only once Health Canada 
is satisfied the licensed producer meets the requirements of Part 1, Subdivision D 
of the ACMPR will a licence be amended to allow sale to the public.

Applicants and Licensed Producers are required to demonstrate compliance with regulatory requirements, 
such as quality control standards, record-keeping of all activities as well as inventories of marijuana, and 
physical security measures to protect against potential diversion. Licensed Producers are also required to 
employ qualified quality assurance personnel who ultimately approve the quality of the product prior to 
making it available for sale. This approval process includes testing (and validation of testing) for microbial 
and chemical contaminants to ensure that they are within established tolerance limits for herbal 
medicines for human consumption as required under the Food and Drugs Act, and determining the 
percentage by weight of the two active ingredients of marijuana, delta-9-Tetrahydrocannabinol and 
cannabidiol.

Recent Financings

November Share Offering
In November 2016, DOJA completed a non-brokered private placement of 6,792,672 DOJA Shares for gross 
proceeds of $1,851,801 (the "Dovember Share Offering"). 4,726,005 of the DOJA Shares issued as part of 
the November Share Offering were issued at $0.30 per share for gross proceeds of $1,417,801.  The 
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remaining 2,066,667 DOJA Shares were issued as part of the exercising of certain outstanding Preferential 
Equity Raise Participation Rights at a 30% discount to the $0.30 equity financing price and the conversion 
of $97,500 of convertible promissory notes payable. The effective price per share was $0.21 for gross 
proceeds of $434,000 (inclusive of the converted promissory notes payable amounts). 

Subscribers under the November Share Offering who are not insiders of DOJA, and who will not be insiders 
of the Resulting Issuer, have agreed to a contractual hold period on their securities.  20% of such non-
insiders’ securities shall be (subject to applicable securities laws), freely trading upon the closing of the 
Amalgamation with the balance of their securities being released from the contractual hold period on the 
basis of 20% every three months thereafter.

February Unit Offering

On February 17, 2017, DOJA completed a non-brokered private placement of units (the "Units") at a price 
of $0.18 per Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,069,759 (the "February Unit Offering").  Each Unit 
was comprised one DOJA Share and one DOJA Warrant.  Each DOJA Warrant entitles the holder thereof to 
acquire, subject to adjustment, an additional DOJA Share at an exercise price of $0.45 for a period of 24 
months following the closing of the February Unit Offering. If within the 24 month term, (i) the closing 
trading price of the DOJA Shares on any recognized Canadian stock exchange is greater than $1.10 (subject 
to adjustment) for a period of 20 consecutive trading days, or (ii) DOJA receives a license to sell dried 
cannabis from Health Canada, then DOJA shall have the option, at its sole discretion, to request that 
holders of Warrants exercise their Warrants.

Subscribers under the February Unit Offering who are not insiders of DOJA, and who will not be insiders of 
the Resulting Issuer, have agreed to a contractual hold period on their securities.  20% of such non-
insiders’ securities shall be (subject to applicable securities laws), freely trading upon the closing of the 
Amalgamation with the balance of their securities being released from the contractual hold period on the 
basis of 20% every three months thereafter.

March Share Offering

On March 16, 2017, DOJA completed a non-brokered private placement of DOJA Shares at a price of $0.45 
per share for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $1.660,930 (the “March Share Offering").

Subscribers under the March Share Offering who are not insiders of DOJA, and who will not be insiders of 
the Resulting Issuer, have agreed to an additional contractual hold period on their securities of six months 
following the closing date of the Amalgamation.  The additional hold period shall be in addition to any 
resale restrictions imposed by applicable securities laws and shall restrict the holder’s ability to transfer its 
securities until the date that is the date that is four months following the date that DOJA becomes a 
reporting issuer in any province or territory of Canada.

June Share Offering

On June 15, 2017 and June 30, 2017, DOJA completed non-brokered private placements of DOJA Shares at 
a price of $0.90 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $3,057,162 (collectively, the 
"June Share Offering").
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Subscribers under the June Share Offering who are not insiders of DOJA, and who will not be insiders of 
the Resulting Issuer, have agreed to an additional contractual hold period on their securities of four 
months following the closing date of the Amalgamation.  The additional hold period shall be in addition to 
any resale restrictions imposed by applicable securities laws and shall restrict the holder’s ability to 
transfer its securities until the date that is the date that is four months following the date that DOJA 
becomes a reporting issuer in any province or territory of Canada

The Amalgamation

On February 10, 2017, the Corporation entered into the Amalgamation Agreement as amended on April
28, 2017 with Acquireco and DOJA, pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to acquire all of the issued 
and outstanding DOJA Shares by way of a "three-cornered" amalgamation whereby: 

a) the Corporation will complete the Consolidation;

b) Acquireco and DOJA amalgamate;

c) each holder of DOJA Shares will transfer their DOJA Shares to the Corporation in 
exchange for one-and-eight tenths (1.8) fully paid and non-assessable Common Shares of 
the Corporation for each DOJA Share held;

d) the Corporation will receive one fully paid and non-assessable common share of Amalco 
for all of the common shares of Acquireco held by the Corporation, following which all 
such common shares of Acquireco will be cancelled;

e) all DOJA Shares held by the Corporation as a result of the exchanges described above will 
be cancelled and the Corporation will receive, for each DOJA Share, one common share of 
Amalco and Amalco will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation; and

f) each holder of the DOJA Warrants and DOJA Options will surrender their DOJA Warrants 
and DOJA Options for cancellation and in consideration shall be entitled to receive one-
and-eight tenths (1.8) Consideration Warrants and Consideration Options, as applicable.

The Amalgamation will result in DOJA amalgamating with Acquireco and becoming Amalco, and Amalco
becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation.  Concurrently with the completion of the 
Amalgamation, the Corporation will change its name to "DOJA Cannabis Company Limited" and Amalco 
will be named "DOJA Cannabis Ltd.".

The valuation ascribed to DOJA in the Amalgamation was determined by arm&s length negotiation 
between the Corporation and DOJA, and based in part upon DOJA&s pre-Amalgamation financings.  A 
formal third party valuation was not determined to be necessary.

The Amalgamation was approved by a special resolution passed by the DOJA Shareholders at a 
shareholder meeting held on February 27, 2017 and by the Corporation, in its capacity as sole shareholder 
of Acquireco.  The Corporation’s Change of Business resulting from the completion of the Amalgamation 
was approved, pursuant to CSE Policies, by the written consent of a minimum of 51% of the Corporation’s 
pre-Amalgamation shareholders.
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Upon completion of the Amalgamation, the directors of the Resulting Issuer are expected to be William 
Trent Kitsch, Ryan Foreman, Jeffrey Barber, Patrick Brauckmann and Stewart Thornhill and the officers of 
the Corporation are expected to be William Trent Kitsch (Chief Executive Officer), Ryan Foreman 
(President), Jeffrey Barber (Chief Financial Officer), Maria Kitsch (Vice-President) and Keith Inman 
(Corporate Secretary).

The Corporation’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without 
par value and an unlimited number of preferred shares without par value.  Prior to the completion of the 
Amalgamation and the Consolidation, the outstanding capital of the Corporation consists of:

a) 15,211,457 Common Shares; 
b) 10,200,000 Warrants; and
c) 360,000 Options.

Upon completion of the Amalgamation, the outstanding capital of the Resulting Issuer will consist of:

a) 58,752,930 Shares;
b) 120,000 Options;
c) 180,000 Consideration Options;
d) 3,400,000 Warrants;
e) 10,697,589 Consideration Warrants; and
f) 7,886,399 Performance Warrants.

Upon completion of the Amalgamation, Amalco will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Corporation.

3.2 Significant Acquisitions and Dispositions

See Item 3.1 – General Development of the Business – The Amalgamation.

3.3 Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties

On October 19, 2015, the Liberal Party of Canada obtained a majority government in Canada. The Liberal 
Party has committed to the legalization of recreational cannabis in Canada. On June 30, 2016, the 
Canadian Federal Government established the Task Force on Cannabis Legalization and Regulation (the 
“Task Force”) to seek input on the design of a new system to legalize, strictly regulate and restrict access 
to marijuana. The Task Force has completed its review and published a report dated November 30, 2016, 
which outlines its recommendations. On April 13, 2017 the Canadian Federal Government introduced 
legislation which would establish a framework for the legalization of marijuana.  It is expected that the 
new legislation will be in place by the end of June 2018. The impact of such regulatory changes on the 
Corporation’s business is unknown, and the proposed regulatory changes may not be implemented at all.
There are significant risks associated with the Corporation&s business, as described in Item 17 – Risk 
Factors.
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4. DARRATIVE DESCRIPTIOD OF THE BUSIDESS

4.1(1) Darrative Description of the Corporation’s Business 

Business of the Corporation

Business Objectives

Following the Amalgamation, the principal business intended to be carried on by the Corporation is the 
production of medical marijuana in Canada, through DOJA, and subsequently the sale of medical 
marijuana in Canada, through DOJA, if and when a license to sell is obtained.  On June 16, 2017, DOJA 
received its License from Health Canada (see Item 17 – Risk Factors – Licensing Requirements under the 
ACMPR).

In the 12 months following completion of the Amalgamation, the Corporation expects to:

a) produce its first batch of dried marijuana;

b) receive an amendment to its License allowing DOJA to sell dried marijuana;

c) acquire patients, receive orders and complete first sales;

d) partner with a Canadian University to study the therapeutic effects of cannabis;

e) if warranted, complete the planning and commence the construction of Phase II 
expansion of the Facility; 

f) open the first DOJA Culture Café in Kelowna, British Columbia.  The storefront will 
supply locally roasted coffee, branded clothing and accessories that complement the 
DOJA lifestyle and serve as a cannabis information center;

g) complete due diligence on sites that would support the Corporation’s Phase III growth 
initiatives; and

h) develop a fast growing lifestyle brand built around a high quality craft cannabis 
approach.

DOJA has satisfied all of its capital commitments with respect to the build-out of its Facility and has no 
further material capital outlays planned.  The Corporation is budgeting $1.6 million for expenses related 
to cultivation of cannabis, utilities, salaries, consulting fees, legal fees, mortgage payments and other 
general and administrative expenses over the next 12 months. 

Significant Events or Milestones

The principal milestones that must occur during the 12-month period following the Amalgamation for the 
business objectives described above to be accomplished are as follows:
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a) DOJA producing its first batches of dried marijuana;

b) Receiving a development permit to begin construction of the Phase II expansion;

c) Health Canada inspectors confirming the dried marijuana produced by DOJA meets the 
good production practices and record keeping requirements outlined in the ACMPR and 
verifying the test results of the dried marijuana meets all quality control requirements; 

d) Health Canada granting DOJA a License to sell dried marijuana;

e) Registering patients;

f) Expanding the DOJA Culture Café storefront model; and

g) Completing first sales of dried cannabis to patients.

Total Funds Available

The pro forma working capital position of the Corporation as at March 31, 2017, giving effect to the 
Amalgamation as if it had been completed on that date, was approximately $5,059,981.

As at March 31, 2017 (the end of the Corporation&s most recent interim period for which financial 
statements have been published), the Corporation had working capital of $98,792.  The Corporation has 
historically relied upon equity financings to satisfy its capital requirements and will continue to depend 
upon equity capital to finance its activities moving forward.

The consolidated pro forma balance sheet of the Corporation, which gives effect to the Amalgamation as 
if it had been completed on March 31, 2017, is attached hereto as Schedule A.

Purpose of Funds

Upon completion of the Amalgamation, the Resulting Issuer expects to have $4,500,000 million in funds 
available to it to spend for the principal purpose of supporting its efforts to receive a license to sell 
marijuana and for general corporate purposes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there may be 
circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary for the 
Corporation to achieve its objectives. The Resulting Issuer may also require additional funds in order to 
fulfill its expenditure requirements to meet existing and any new business objectives and expects to 
either issue additional securities or incur debt to do so.  There can be no assurance that additional 
funding required by the Resulting Issuer will be available if required. However, it is anticipated that the 
available funds will be sufficient to satisfy the Resulting Issuer’s objectives for the 12 month period 
following the completion of the Amalgamation.
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Forecast 12 Month Budget

Expected Funds Available on Completion of the Amalgamation $4,500,000
General and Administrative Expenses $720,000
Future Capital Expenditures Pre-License to Sell $50,000
Excess Funds Available to the Corporation for General Working Capital $3,730,000

4.1(2) Principal Products or Services

Provided DOJA obtains a license to sell medical marijuana, DOJA anticipates developing a fast growing, 
lifestyle brand built around a high-quality handcrafted cannabis approach.  

4.1(3) Production and Sales

DOJA expects that the Resulting Issuer will engage in various patient outreach strategies in order to 
establish a client base.  Until such time that DOJA receives the applicable licenses from Health Canada it 
will not be able to sell medical marijuana.  

4.1(4) Competitive Conditions and Position

See Item 17 – Risk Factors - Competition.

4.1(5) Lending and Investment Policies and Restrictions

This is not applicable to the Corporation.

4.1(6) Bankruptcy and Receivership

Neither DOJA, the Corporation, nor any of the Corporation’s subsidiaries, has been the subject of any 
bankruptcy or any receivership or similar proceedings or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar 
proceedings, within any of the three most recently completed financial years (as applicable) or the 
current financial year.

4.1(7) Material Restructuring

The Corporation was originally formed through the amalgamation of Stonecliffe Capital Inc. and Ruby Red 
Resources Inc., pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (Alberta), on December 19, 2006.  On October 
20, 2010, the Corporation amended its articles to change its name from “Ruby Red Resources Inc.” to “SG 
Spirit Gold Inc.”, and consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of one post-
consolidation common share for every ten pre-consolidation common shares.  On December 20, 2011, 
the Corporation was continued under the BCBCA.  As a condition to closing the Amalgamation, the 
Corporation has agreed to consolidate its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of one 
post-consolidation common share for every three pre-consolidation common shares.

On March 22, 2016, the Corporation arranged for the incorporation of SG Spirit Subco Inc., a wholly-owned 
subsidiary established under the laws of the State of Delaware, for the purposes of completing the 
acquisition of ArcScan, Inc.  On January 13, 2017, the Corporation arranged for the incorporation of 
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Acquireco, a wholly-owned subsidiary established pursuant to the BCBCA, for the purposes of completing 
the Amalgamation.

4.2 Asset Backed Securities

The Corporation does not have any asset backed securities.

4.3 Companies with Mineral Projects

Aside from the wholly-owned Purcell LOV property, located in the East Kootenay region of British 
Columbia, the Corporation does not have any mineral projects.  It is a condition to completion of the 
Amalgamation that the Corporation sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of its mining interests, including 
Purcell LOV property.

4.4 Companies with Oil and Gas Operations

The Corporation does not have any oil and gas operations.

5. SELECTED CODSOLIDATED FIDADCIAL IDFORMATIOD

5.1 Consolidated Financial Information –  Annual Information

The Corporation’s Annual Information

The following table sets forth selected financial information for the Corporation for the years ended 
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.  Such information is derived from the financial statements of SG Gold 
and should be read in conjunction with such financial statements.  See Schedule “B” – Financial Statements 
of SG Spirit Gold Inc.

For the Years Ended December 31,

Operating Data:
2016 2015 2014

Total revenues Nil Nil Nil
Total expenses 213,265           40,926           91,335
Net loss for the year (211,338)           (62,902)           (399,305)
Basic and diluted loss per share(1) (0.02)   (0.07)   (0.42)
Dividends Nil Nil Nil

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets 94,113 3,959 68,444
Total liabilities 106,668 516,960 523,543
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DOJA’s Annual Information

The following table sets forth selected financial information for the DOJA for the years ended March 31, 
2017, 2016 and 2015.  Such information is derived from the financial statements of DOJA and should be 
read in conjunction with such financial statements.  See Schedule “E” – Financial Statements of Northern 
Lights Marijuana Company Limited.

For the Years Ended March 31

Operating Data:
2017 2016 2015

Total revenues 17,335 26,788 Nil
Total expenses 984,707 267,742 (12,388)
Net loss for the year (967,372) (240,954) (12,388)
Basic and diluted loss per share (0.07) (2,007.95) (103.23)
Dividends Nil Nil Nil

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets 4,782,848 42,914 846
Total liabilities 799,463 303,944 13,222

5.2 Consolidated Financial Information – Quarterly Information

The Corporation’s nuarterly Information

The results for each of the eight most recently completed quarters of the Corporation ending at the end 
of the most recently competed interim period, being March 31, 2017, are summarized below:

Quarter Ended Revenue Income (Loss) Income (Loss) per 
Share

March 31, 2017 Nil (35,053) (0.00)
December 31, 2016 Nil (22,918) (0.00)
September 30, 2016 Nil (13,238) (0.00)
June 30, 2016 Nil (36,550) (0.00)
March 31, 2016 Nil (138,632) (0.02)
December 31, 2015 Nil (28,091) (0.03)
September 30, 2015 Nil (16,807) (0.02)
June 30, 2015 Nil (13,096) (0.02)

5.3 Dividends

The future payment of dividends will be dependent upon the financial requirements of the Corporation to 
fund further growth, the financial condition of the Corporation and other factors which the Corporation&s 
Board of Directors may consider in the circumstances. It is not contemplated that any dividends will be 
paid in the immediate or foreseeable future if at all.

5.4 Foreign GAAP

This item does not apply to the Corporation.



21

6. MADAGEMEDT'S DISCUSSIOD ADD ADALYSIS

The Corporation’s MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2016 is attached to this Listing Statement as 
Schedule “C” – MD&A of SG Spirit Gold Inc. DOJA&s MD&A for the year ended March 31, 2017 is attached 
hereto as Schedule “D” –MD&A of DOJA Cannabis Company Limited.

7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES

The Common Shares are currently listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol “SG”.  
Upon completion of the Amalgamation, it is expected that the Common Shares will be listed for trading 
on the CSE under the symbol “DOJA”.

The DOJA Shares are not listed for trading on any stock exchange.

8. CODSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATIOD

Prior to completion of the Amalgamation and the Consolidation, the outstanding capital of the 
Corporation consists of:

a) 15,211,457 Common Shares;
b) 360,000 Options; and
c) 10,200,000 Warrants.

Prior to completion of the Amalgamation, the outstanding capital of DOJA consists of:

a) 29,823,580 DOJA Shares;
b) 5,943,105 DOJA Warrants;
c) 4,381,333 DOJA Performance Warrants; and
d) 100,000 DOJA Options.

Subsequent to the Amalgamation, the outstanding capital of the Resulting Issuer will consist of:

g) 58,752,930 common shares of the Resulting Issuer;
h) 120,000 Options;
i) 180,000 Consideration Options;
j) 3,400,000 Warrants;
k) 10,697,589 Consideration Warrants; and
l) 7,886,399 Performance Warrants.

9. OPTIODS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES

The Corporation currently has in place a 10% rolling stock option plan.  The plan was previously 
approved by the shareholders of the Corporation on February 16, 2015.  Under the option plan, the 
Corporation’s Board of Directors may, from time to time, grant stock options to purchase Common 
Shares to certain directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Corporation and of its subsidiaries 
and affiliates.  The maximum number of Common Shares issuable under the option plan and all other 
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security-based compensation arrangements of the Corporation is ten (10%) percent of the issued and 
outstanding number of Common Shares from time to time.  Pursuant to the terms of the option plan, the 
maximum length of any stock option shall be 5 years from the date the stock option is granted.

On November 30, 2016, the Corporation granted 520,000 incentive stock options to certain consultants 
to the Corporation, of which 260,000 incentive stock options remain outstanding.  Each option entitles 
the holder thereof to acquire a Common Share at a price of $0.14 per share until November 30, 2021.  
There are no other outstanding stock options outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement.

10. DESCRIPTIOD OF THE SECURITIES

10.1 Description of the Corporation’s Securities

Corporation

The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value and an 
unlimited number of preferred shares.  As at the date of this Listing Statement, and prior to the 
Consolidation, there are 15,211,457 Common Shares issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-
assessable shares.  A further 10,560,000 Common Shares have been reserved and allotted for issuance 
upon the due and proper exercise of the Corporation’s outstanding incentive stock options and the 
Warrants.

There are no pre-emptive rights, no conversion or exchange rights, no redemption, retraction, purchase 
for cancellation or surrender provisions. There are no sinking or purchase fund provisions, no provisions 
permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities or any other material restrictions, and there 
are no provisions which are capable of requiring a security holder to contribute additional capital.

DOJA

DOJA is authorized to issue an unlimited number of DOJA Shares, class B voting common shares, class C 
voting common shares, class D non-voting common shares, class E non-voting common shares, class F non-
voting common shares, class G non-voting preferred shares, class H non-voting preferred shares, class I 
non-voting preferred shares, class J non-voting preferred shares and class K non-voting preferred shares.  
As at the date of this Listing Statement, there are 29,823,580 DOJA Shares issued and outstanding as fully 
paid and non-assessable shares.  A further 10,424,438 DOJA Shares have been reserved and allotted for 
issuance upon the due and proper exercise of the DOJA Warrants, DOJA Performance Warrants and DOJA 
Options.

10.2 –  10.6 –  Miscellaneous Securities Provisions

None of the matters set out in sections 10.2 to 10.6 of CSE Form 2A are applicable to the share structure 
of the Corporation or DOJA.

10.7 – Prior Sales of Common Shares

The Corporation
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The Common Shares of the Corporation are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange under the ticker symbol 
“SG”.  The following tables set forth the issuances of Common Shares of the Corporation within the last 
twelve (12) months before the date of this Listing Statement. 

Date Issued Dumber of 
Common Shares

Issue Price per
Share ($)

Aggregate Issue
Price ($)

Dature of
Consideration

December 16, 
2016

500,000 $0.10 $50,000 Cash

December 20, 
2016

300,000 $0.10 $30,000 Cash

January 23, 2017 43,500 $0.10 $4,350 Cash
February 9, 
2017(1)

1,056,500 $0.10 105,650 Cash

February 9, 
2017(2)

260,000 $0.14 36,400 Cash

Notes:
(1) These shares were issued as a result of the exercise of share purchase warrants.
(2) These shares were issued as a result of the exercise of incentive stock options.

DOJA

The following table sets forth the issuances of DOJA Shares within the last twelve (12) months before the 
date of this Listing Statement.  

Date Issued Dumber of 
Securities

Issue Price per 
Security

Aggregate Issue 
Price

Dature of 
Consideration

November 25, 2016 6,866,680 $0.30 $1,874,008(1) Cash
February 17, 2017(2) 5,943,105 $0.18 $1,069,758.90 Cash 
March 16, 2017(3) 3,690,955 $0.45 $1,660,929.75 Cash
June 15, 2017(4) 2,858,739 $0.90 $2,572,865 Cash
June 30, 2017(4) 538,107 $0.90 $484,296.30 Cash

Notes:
(1) 2,066,667 of these shares were issued as part of the exercising of certain outstanding Preferential Equity Raise 

Participation Rights at a 30% discount to the equity financing price and the conversion of $97,500 of convertible 
promissory notes payable. The effective price per share was $0.21 for gross proceeds of $434,000 (inclusive of the 
converted promissory notes payable amounts).

(2) These shares formed part of the February Unit Offering.
(3) These shares formed part of the March Share Offering.
(4) These shares formed part of the June Share Offering
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10.8 Stock Exchange Price

The following table sets out the price ranges and volume traded or quoted on the TSX Venture Exchange 
for the Common Shares for the 12-month period prior to the date of this Listing Application.

Period High ($) Low ($) Volume
February 2017(2) $0.61 $0.39 4,329,500
January 2017 $0.45 0.18 8,446,500
December 2016 $0.165 $0.12 2,185,212
November 2016 $0.135 $0.085 2,653,020
October 2016(1) $0.10 $0.07 421,088
September 2016(1)

Trading Halted

August 2016(1)

July 2016(1)

June 2016(1)

May 2016(1)

April 2016(1)

March 2016(1) $0.09 $0.09 500
February 2016 $0.12 $0.09 42,014

Notes: 
(1) Trading in the Common Shares was halted from March 8, 2016 to October 27, 2016, at the request of the Corporation, in 
connection with its proposed acquisition of ArcScan, Inc.
(2) Trading in the Common Shares was halted on February 10, 2017 at the request of the Corporation in connection with 
the Amalgamation. 



25

11. ESCROWED SECURITIES

As required under the policies of the CSE, Principals of the Resulting Issuer will enter into an escrow 
agreement as if the Resulting Issuer was subject to the requirements of NP 46-201. The form of the 
escrow agreement must be as provided in NP 46-201. Escrowed Securities will be released on scheduled 
periods specified in NP 46-201 for emerging issuers, that is, 10% will be released upon listing followed by 
six subsequent releases of 15% each every six months thereafter.   

The table below includes the details of Escrowed Securities that will be held by Principals of the Resulting 
Issuer:

Designation of class held in 
escrow(1)

Dumber of securities held in 
escrow

Percentage of class

Common Shares 19,316,781 32.9%
Notes:
(1) CST Trust Company is the depository for these shares.
(2) Certain DOJA shareholders who are not insiders of DOJA, and who will not be insiders of the Resulting Issuer, have 
agreed to a contractual hold period on their securities.  20% of such non-insiders’ securities shall be (subject to applicable 
securities laws), freely trading upon the closing of the Amalgamation with the balance of their securities being released from 
the contractual hold period on the basis of 20% every three months thereafter.  

12. PRIDCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

12.1 and 12.2 - Principal Shareholders

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of each of the Corporation and DOJA, following the 
Amalgamation, the following Persons will beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or 
direction over voting securities carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to any class of voting 
securities of the Resulting Issuer:

Dame and Municipality 
of Residence of 
Shareholder

Type of Ownership Dumber and 
Percentage of Common 
Shares Owned prior to 
the Amalgamation

Dumber and 
Percentage of Common 
Shares Owned after 
giving effect to the 
Amalgamation

William Trent Kitsch
Kelowna, BC
CEO and Director

Direct Nil 7,476,250
12.7%

Ryan Thomas Foreman
Vancouver, BC
President and Director

Direct Nil 7,213,032 
12.3%

12.3 –  Voting Trusts

To the knowledge of the Corporation and DOJA, no voting trust exists within the Corporation such that 
more than 10% of any class of voting securities of the Corporation are held, or are to be held, subject to 
any voting trust or other similar agreement.
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12.4 –  Associates and Affiliates

To the knowledge of the Corporation none of the principal shareholders is an Associate or Affiliate of any 
other principal shareholder.

13. DIRECTORS ADD OFFICERS

13.1 –  13.5 –  Directors and Officers

The Articles of the Corporation provide that the number of directors should not be fewer than three
directors. Each director holds office until the close of the next annual general meeting of the
Corporation, or until his or her successor is duly elected or appointed, unless his or her office is
earlier vacated. The Corporation’s Board currently consists of 4 directors, of whom one can be defined
as an “unrelated director” or a  director who is independent of management and is free from any
interests and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to,
materially interfere with the director’s ability to act with a view to the best interests of the Corporation,
other than interests and relationships arising from shareholders, and do not have interests in or
relationships with the Corporation.

The following table lists the names, municipalities of residence of the proposed directors and officers of 
the Resulting Issuer, their positions and offices to be held with the Resulting Issuer, and their principal 
occupations during the past five (5) years and the number of securities of the Resulting Issuer that are 
beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction will be exercised by each. 

Dame, Municipality 
of Residence and 

Position Held

Principal 
Occupation for 
Past Five Years

Director of the 
Resulting Issuer 

Since

Dumber and 
Percentage of 

Common Shares 
Beneficially 
Owned or 

Controlled Prior 
to the 

Amalgamation

Dumber and 
Percentage of 

Common Shares 
Beneficially 
Owned or 

Controlled After 
the 

Amalgamation
William Trent Kitsch
Kelowna, BC
Chief Executive 
Officer and 
Director(1)

Entrepreneur N/A Nil 
0%

7,476,250
12.7%

Ryan Foreman
Vancouver, BC
President and 
Director

E-commerce 
Consultant

N/A Nil 
0%

7,213,032 
12.3%

Jeffrey Barber
Kelowna, BC
Chief Financial 
Officer and Director

Investment 
Banker

N/A Nil 
0%

1,350,000 
2.3% 
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Patrick 
Brauckmann(1)

Vancouver, BC
Director

Entrepreneur N/A Nil 
0%

Nil 
0%

Maria Kitsch
Kelowna, BC
Vice-President

Sales and 
Marketing
Specialist

N/A Nil 
0%

2,877,500
4.9%

Stewart Thornhill(1)

Ann Arbour, MI, USA
Director

Educator N/A Nil 
0%

400,000
0.7%

Keith Inman
Kelowna, BC
Corporate Secretary

Lawyer N/A Nil
0%

Nil
0%

Note: 
(1) Members of Audit Committee

13.6  –   13.9  Corporate  Cease  Trade Orders or Bankruptcies; Penalties  or  Sanctions; Personal
Bankruptcies

No proposed director of the Resulting Issuer:

(a) is, at the date of this Listing Statement, or has been, within 10 years before the date of 
this Listing Statement, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any 
company, including any personal holding company of such director, chief executive 
officer or chief financial officer that:

(i) while that person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade or 
similar order, or an order that denied the other relevant company access to any 
exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive 
days; or

(ii) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation  for  a 
period of more than 30 consecutive days issued after the that person issued 
after the director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer ceased to be a 
director or executive officer and which resulted from an event that occurred 
while the person was acting in such capacity;

(b) is, at the date of this Listing Statement, or has been, within 10 years before the date of 
this Listing Statement, a director or executive officer of any company (including the 
Corporation and any personal holding company of such director or executive officer) 
that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person 
ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold its assets; or

(c) nor any personal holding company has, within 10 years before the date of this Listing 
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Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold the assets of such person or their personal holding company.

No proposed director of the Resulting Issuer has been subject to: (i) any penalties or sanctions imposed 
by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a 
settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or (ii) any other penalties or sanctions 
imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable 
securityholder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed director.

13.10 –  Conflicts of Interest

Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors, officers and promoters of the Resulting Issuer 
also holding positions as directors or officers of other companies. Some of the individuals who will be 
directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer have been and will continue to be engaged in the 
identification and evaluation of assets, businesses and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of 
other companies, and situations may arise where the directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer will be 
in direct competition with the Resulting Issuer.  Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and 
remedies provided under BCBCA.

13.11   Management

Brief descriptions of the biographies for all of the proposed officers and directors of the Resulting Issuer 
are set out below:

Trent Kitsch – Chief Executive Officer and Director:  Mr. Kitsch co-founded DOJA in 2013. Prior thereto, Mr. 
Kitsch founded SAXX Underwear in 2007 and successfully built SAXX into a globally recognizable brand and 
the fastest growing underwear brand in North America before exiting the business in 2015.  In 2013 Mr. 
Kitsch and his wife Ria Kitsch founded Kitsch Wines in the Okanagan Valley. Trent is a proven entrepreneur 
that graduated from the Richard Ivey School of Business with a major in entrepreneurship. 

Ryan Foreman – President and Director:  Mr. Foreman co-founded DOJA with Mr. Kitsch in 2013. Mr. 
Foreman has spent over 15 years developing e-commerce operations within the consumer goods space 
working with influential brands and industry disrupters in the lifestyle and action sports markets. He has 
expertise developing and managing teams executing all business aspects including system integrations, 
domestic and international compliance, fulfillment, website development and online marketing. 

Jeff Barber – Chief Financial Officer and Director:  Mr. Barber joined DOJA in 2016 after selling his 
ownership in a boutique M&A advisory firm in Calgary. Prior thereto, he was an investment banker with 
Raymond James Limited for four years and previously held investment banking and equity research 
positions at Canaccord Genuity Corp. Jeff began his career as an Economist with Deloitte LLP. Throughout 
his career, Mr. Barber has worked closely with various public company Boards and executive teams to 
assist in institutional capital initiatives and advise on go-public transactions, valuations and M&A 
mandates. Jeff Barber is a CFA charterholder and holds a Masters degree in Finance and Economics from 
the University of Alberta.
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Stewart Thornhill – Director:  Mr. Thornhill is the Executive Director of the Zell Lurie Institute for 
Entrepreneurial Studies, serves as the Eugene Applebaum Professor of Entrepreneurial Studies and the 
Managing Director of the Zell Lurie Commercialization Fund.  Mr. Thornhill has served as the executive 
director of the Pierre L. Morrissette Institute for Entrepreneurship and a member of the faculty at the Ivey 
Business School at Western University in London, Ontario. At Ivey, he championed a number of new 
initiatives and has sizable experience helping entrepreneurs through his involvement in QuantumShift, an 
Executive Development program for high-growth entrepreneurs. Thornhill&s extensive background also 
includes global experience, having held the Karel Steur chair in entrepreneurship at the Universidad de San 
Andreas, Buenos Aires and various professorial roles at Jacobs University in Bremen, Germany, the Institut 
d&Etudes Politiques de Paris in France and the Schulich School of Business at York University in Toronto. Dr. 
Thornhill&s research interests include strategic execution, leadership, competitive strategy, innovation and 
corporate entrepreneurship. Mr. Thornhill’s work has appeared in several top management journals and 
he has published more than 20 teaching cases.  He serves on the editorial boards of the Journal of Business 
Venturing, the Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal, the International Entrepreneurship and Management 
Journal, and the Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research. He received his Ph.D. from the University of 
British Columbia and also holds a B.Sc. (Eng.) in Mechanical Engineering and an MBA with a concentration 
in Finance.

Ria Kitsch – Vice President:  Mrs. Kitsch has been with DOJA since inception. Ria was formerly head of 
marketing for SAXX Underwear. Since then she became a top salesperson and territory manager for 
WaterPlay Solutions Corp., quickly identifying and executing strategies to grow in regulated markets.  
Strong customer service skills and marketing focus make her a front-line specialist. Mrs. Kitsch earned a 
Business Honors degree from UBC-Okanagan.

Patrick Brauckmann – Director:  For more than a decade Mr. Brauckmann has identified, structured and
financed numerous private and public companies in a wide spectrum of industry sectors including
healthcare, internet telephony, solar energy, oil & gas, mineral exploration and licensed marijuana 
production in both the US and Canada. As an Independent Director to Northern Lights, Mr. Brauckmann 
brings strong cross sectional talents to the company from his experience as a co-founder of Canada’s 
first multi-disciplinary medical facilities, the co-creator of Chopra Yoga Studios, the founder of Corazon 
Gold Corp. and most recently assisting in the go-public strategy for one of Canada’s first licensed 
marijuana producers. Mr. Brauckmann has served in both management and Board capacities for public 
companies. Mr. Brauckmann received his B.A. (Hons) from Simon Fraser University.

Keith Inman – Corporate Secretary: Mr. Inman is a lawyer with a practice primarily focused on advising 
emerging and mid-market companies on corporate/commercial and securities law matters, including 
corporate finance and M&A transactions.  Mr. Inman has been a lawyer at Pushor Mitchell LLP, a full-
service law firm located in Kelowna, British Columbia since July 2016.  Prior to that, he was a lawyer at 
Dentons Canada LLP, an international law firm.  Mr. Inman holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the 
University of Alberta and is a member of the Law Societies of Alberta and British Columbia.
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14. CAPITALIZATIOD

14.1 The following chart is with respect to the Common Shares to be listed upon completion of the 
Amalgamation:

Dumber of
Securities

(non-
diluted)

Dumber of
Securities

(fully-
diluted)

% of
Issued
(non-
diluted)

% of Issued
(fully
diluted)

Public Float
Total outstanding (A) 58,752,930 81,036,918 100% 100%

Held by Related Persons or
employees of the Company or
Related Person of the Company,
or by persons or companies
who beneficially own or
control, directly or indirectly, 
more than a 5% voting position
in the Company (or who would
beneficially own or control,
directly or indirectly, more than
a 5% voting position in the
Company upon exercise or
conversion of other securities
held) (B)

19,316,781 26,576,780              32.88% 32.80%

Total Public Float (A-B) 39,436,149 54,460,138 67.12%   67.20%

Freely-Tradeable Float

Number of outstanding
securities subject to resale
restrictions, including
restrictions imposed by
pooling or other
arrangements or in a
shareholder agreement and
securities held by control
block holders (C)

  41,144,396   48,404,396    70.03%     59.73%

Total Tradeable Float (A-C)    17,608,534   32,632,522 29.97% 40.27%
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Public Securityholders (Registered)

Class of Security 

Size of Holding            Dumber of
holders

Total number of securities
1 - 99 securities 5         136
100 – 499 securities -     -
500 – 999 securities - -
1,000 – 1,999 securities - -
2,000 – 2,999 securities - -
3,000 – 3,999 securities - -
4,000 – 4,999 securities 1    4,720
5,000 or more securities 4                      13,890,101
Total   10                      13,894,957

Public Securityholders (Beneficial)

Common Shares of the Corporation

Size of Holding Dumber of holders Total number of securities

1 - 99 securities 140         5,283
100 – 499 securities 81      19,958
500 – 999 securities 49    29,429
1,000 – 1,999 securities 44 53,992
2,000 – 2,999 securities 20 44,562
3,000 – 3,999 securities 22 71,226
4,000 – 4,999 securities 11    47,492
5,000 or more securities 140                      12,527,936
Total   507                      12,799,878

14.2 – Convertible/Exchange Securities

The Corporation
Description of Security (include 

conversion/exercise terms, 
including conversion/exercise 

price)

Dumber of 
convertible/exchangeable 

securities

Dumber of listed securities 
issuable upon 

conversion/exchange

Common Share Purchase 
Warrants
$0.10 – February 9, 2021

10,200,000 10,200,000 Common Shares

Incentive Stock Options
$0.14 – November 30, 2021

260,000(1) 260,000 Common Shares

Note:
(1) An additional 100,000 incentive stock options are to be granted the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation prior to 
the completion of the Amalgamation.
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DOJA
Description of Security (include 

conversion/exercise terms, 
including conversion/exercise 

price) (1)

Dumber of 
convertible/exchangeable 

securities

Dumber of listed securities 
issuable upon 

conversion/exchange

DOJA Warrants
$0.45 – February 17, 2019

5,943,105 5,943,105 DOJA Shares

DOJA Performance Warrants
$0.0001 – October 1, 2019

3,081,833 3,081,833 DOJA Shares

DOJA Performance Warrants
$0.30 – December 1, 2019

150,000 150,000 DOJA Shares

DOJA Performance Warrants
$0.18 – January 31, 2020

1,000,000 1,000,000 DOJA Shares

DOJA Performance Warrants
$0.90 – January 31, 2020

650,000 650,000 DOJA Shares

DOJA Options
$0.75 – Expire five years 
following completion of the 
Amalgamation

100,000 100,000 DOJA Shares

Note:
(1) Prior to the completion of the Amalgamation.

14.3 – Other Listed Securities

Neither the Corporation nor DOJA has any other listed securities reserved for issuance that are not 
included in section 14.1 or 14.2.

15. EXECUTIVE COMPEDSATIOD

The following table sets forth the anticipated compensation to be paid or awarded to the directors and 
the following executive officers of the Resulting Issuer: (i) the Chief Executive Officer; (ii) the Chief 
Financial Officer; (iii) Vice-President, (iv) President after giving effect to the Amalgamation: 

Table of Compensation Excluding Compensation Securities

Dame & 
position

Year Salary, 
Consulting 

Fee, Retainer 
or 

Commission 
($)

Bonus
($)

Committee 
or meeting 

fees ($)

Value of 
Perquisites 

($)

Value of all 
other 

compensation 
($)

Total 
compensation 

($)

William Trent 
Kitsch, CEO 
and Director(1)

2017 120,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 120,000(1)

Ryan 
Foreman, 
President, 
Director(2)

2017 120,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 120,000(2)
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Jeffrey Barber, 
CFO 
Director(3)

2017 120,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 120,000(3)

Maria Kitsch, 
Vice-President

2017 60,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 60,000

Patrick 
Brauckmann, 
Director

2017 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Stewart 
Thornhill

2017 90,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 90,000

Notes:
(1) Of the Total Compensation expected to be received by Mr. Kitsch, $0 is expected to be received in his capacity as a Director.
(2) Of the Total Compensation expected to be received by Mr. Foreman, $0 is expected to be received in his capacity as a Director. 
(3) Of the Total Compensation expected to be received by Mr. Barber, $0 is expected to be received in his capacity as a Director.

Oversight and Description of Director and Damed Executive Officer Compensation

The determination of director and NEO compensation and how and when such compensation is to be 
determined is subject to the consideration of the Resulting Issuer’s board of directors.

16. IDDEBTEDDESS OF DIRECTORS ADD EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

At any time since the beginning of the most recently completed financial years of the Corporation or 
DOJA, no director, executive officer or other senior officer of the Corporation or DOJA or person who 
acted in such capacity in the last financial year of the Corporation or DOJA, or proposed director or officer 
of the Resulting Issuer or any Associate of any such director or officer is, or has been, indebted to the 
Corporation or DOJA, as applicable, nor has any such persons indebtedness to another entity been the 
subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding 
provided by the Corporation or DOJA or a subsidiary thereof.

17. RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to the Operations of the Corporation

Dried Marijuana is Not an Approved Drug or Medicine

Dried marijuana is not an approved drug or medicine in Canada. The Government of Canada does not 
endorse  the  use  of  marijuana,  but  the  courts  have  required  reasonable  access  to  a  legal  source  
of marijuana when authorized by a healthcare practitioner.

The Corporation is Not a Licensed Seller Under the ACMPR

On June 16, 2017, DOJA received its License from Health Canada under the ACMPR.  DOJA has not yet 
received a license to sell medical marijuana.  DOJA&s ability to sell medical marijuana in Canada is 
dependent on obtaining a license from Health Canada and there can be no assurance that DOJA will 
obtain such a license.
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DOJA&s success to date includes:

 DOJA has received a license to cultivate cannabis under ACMPR. This license is the first part of 
a two part staged licensing process mandated by Health Canada;

 DOJA personnel have passed through the security clearance stage of the licensing process; 
and

 DOJA has completed the build-out of its Facility.

DOJA’s License is subject to DOJA meeting ongoing compliance and reporting requirements. Failure to 
comply with the requirements of the License or any failure to maintain the License could have a material 
adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of the DOJA. Furthermore, the 
License has an expiry date of June 16, 2020.  Upon expiration of the License, DOJA would be required to 
submit an application for renewal to Health Canada containing information prescribed under the ACMPR 
and renewal cannot be assured.

Licensing Requirements Under the ACMPR

The market for cannabis (including medical marijuana) in Canada is regulated by the Controlled Drugs and 
Substances Act ("CDSA"), the ACMPR, the Narcotic Control Regulations, and other applicable law. Health 
Canada is the primary regulator of the industry as a whole. The ACMPR aims to treat cannabis like any 
other narcotic used for medical purposes by creating conditions for a new commercial industry that is 
responsible for its production and distribution.

Any applicant seeking to become a Licensed Producer under the ACMPR is subject to stringent Health 
Canada licensing requirements. The below table provides a general overview of the licensing process as 
described by Health Canada.

Stage Overview

Stage 1 Preliminary Screening: When an application is received, it undergoes a 
preliminary screening for completeness. If an application is not complete, it will 
be returned. If an application is complete, it will be assigned an application 
number. The application number means that the application has completed the 
preliminary screening.

Stage 2 Enhanced Screening: Once an application has been assigned an application 
number, it will be reviewed to ensure: that the location of the proposed site does 
not pose a risk to public health, safety and security; that the proposed security 
measures outlined in the application meet the requirements of the ACMPR; and 
the proposed quality assurance person has the appropriate credentials to meet 
the good production requirements outlined in Part 1, Subdivision D of the ACMPR. 
It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that they are in compliance with 
all applicable provincial, territorial, and municipal legislation, regulations and 
bylaws, including zoning restrictions.
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Stage 3 Security Clearance: Once the screening of an application is complete, the security 
clearance forms for key personnel will be sent for processing. The time required 
to conduct mandatory security checks varies with each application. Security 
clearances generally take several months at a minimum. Health Canada and the 
RCMP are not able to provide updates on the status of security checks.
Applications will only advance to the review stage once the security clearances for 
the key personnel are completed. Please note that until such a time as Health 
Canada receives the results of the security checks, there will be no further 
communication from Health Canada.

Stage 4 Review: Once all security clearances are obtained, an application will be 
thoroughly reviewed to validate the information provided. Given the extensive 
review process, applicants are generally required to communicate with the Office 
of Controlled Substances multiple times to provide clarifications on the 
application. Physical security plans will be reviewed and assessed in detail at this 
stage. Applicants must meet a minimum of a level 7 (pursuant to the physical 
security directive) to be considered for a license.

Stage 5 Pre-Licence Inspection: Upon confirmation from the applicant that the site has 
been fully built and security measures are in place, a pre-licence inspection will be 
scheduled. If any deficiencies are identified, they will be communicated to the 
applicant and must be addressed prior to a licence being issued.

Stage 6
DOJA's
current

stage of the
licensing
process

Licensing: Once it has been confirmed through the pre-licence inspection that the 
applicant meets all the requirements of the ACMPR, a licence will be issued. 
Health Canada has introduced a staged process for the issuance of licences. 
Applicants will first be issued a licence to produce only. This will enable Health 
Canada inspectors to confirm that the first batch of dried marijuana produced 
meets the good production practices and record keeping requirements outlined in 
the ACMPR. It also allows Health Canada to verify the test results of the dried 
marijuana (e.g. for microbial and chemical contaminants) to ensure that the dried 
marijuana meets all quality control requirements before it is made available for 
sale.
Once a Licensed Producer has finished producing the first crop of marijuana, they 
must demonstrate through an inspection and test results that the planned 
growing processes will result in the production of a dried product that meets the 
licensed producer&s specified quality control standards and the Good Production 
Practices set out in Division 4 of the ACMPR. Only once Health Canada is satisfied 
the licensed producer meets the requirements of Part 1, Subdivision D of the 
ACMPR will a license be amended to allow sale to the public.

Applicants and Licensed Producers are required to demonstrate compliance with regulatory 
requirements, such as quality control standards, record-keeping of all activities as well as inventories of 
marijuana, and physical security measures to protect against potential diversion. Licensed producers are 
also required to employ qualified quality assurance personnel who ultimately approve the quality of the 
product prior to making it available  for  sale.  This  approval  process  includes  testing  (and  validation  of  
testing)  for microbial and chemical contaminants to ensure that they are within established tolerance 



36

limits for herbal medicines for human consumption as required under the Food and Drugs Act, and 
determining the percentage by weight of the two active ingredients of marijuana, delta-9-
Tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol.

Timeframes and Cost to Obtain a License to Sell Under the ACMPR

The timeframes and costs required for the Corporation or any applicant for a License under the ACMPR to 
build the infrastructure required, to apply for, and to receive, a License can be significant.  The current 
backlog of applications from other licensees with Health Canada and the anticipated timeframe for 
processing and approval of any application for a license to sell medical marijuana cannot be reliably 
determined at this time.

Regulatory Risks

The proposed activities of the Corporation will be subject to regulation by governmental authorities, 
particularly Health Canada&s Office of Controlled Substances. The Corporation&s business objectives are 
contingent upon, in part, compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental 
authorities and obtaining all regulatory approvals, where necessary, for the sale of its products. The 
Corporation  cannot  predict  the  time  required  to  secure  all  appropriate  regulatory  approvals  for  its 
products, or the extent of testing and documentation that may be required by governmental authorities. 
Any delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain regulatory approvals would significantly delay the 
development of markets and products and could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of 
operations and financial condition of the Corporation.

Furthermore, although the operations of the Corporation are currently carried out in accordance with all 
applicable rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be 
enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail 
the Corporation&s ability to produce or sell medical marijuana. Amendments to current laws and 
regulations governing the importation, distribution, transportation and/or  production  of  medical 
marijuana, or more stringent implementation thereof could have a substantial adverse impact on the 
Corporation.

Governmental Regulations and Risks

The Corporation’s License is subject to environmental regulation.  These regulations mandate, among 
other things, the maintenance of air and water quality standards and land reclamation. They also set forth 
limitations on the generation, transportation, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. 
Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and enforcement, 
increased fines and penalties for non- compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of 
proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors 
and employees. There is no assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not 
adversely affect the Corporation&s operations.
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Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future, be required in connection with 
the Corporation&s operations. To the extent such approvals are required and not obtained, the 
Corporation may be curtailed or prohibited from its proposed production of medical marijuana or from 
proceeding with the development of its operations as currently proposed.

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in 
enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 
operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, 
installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. The Corporation may be required to 
compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of its operations and may have civil or criminal 
fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations.

Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing the production of medical marijuana, or 
more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on the Corporation and 
cause increases in expenses, capital expenditures or production costs or reduction in levels of production 
or require abandonment or delays in development.

Change in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines 

The Resulting Issuer’s operations will be subject to various laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the 
manufacture, management, transportation, storage and disposal of medical marijuana, as well as being 
subject to laws and regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection 
of the environment. 

On October 19, 2015, the Liberal Party of Canada obtained a majority government in Canada. The Liberal 
Party has committed to the legalization of recreational cannabis in Canada. On June 30, 2016, the 
Canadian Federal Government established the Task Force on Cannabis Legalization and Regulation to seek 
input on the design of a new system to legalize, strictly regulate and restrict access to marijuana. The Task 
Force has completed its review and published a report dated November 30, 2016, which outlines its 
recommendations. It is expected that the Canadian Federal Government will introduce legislation for the 
legalization of marijuana in the spring of 2017. The impact of such regulatory changes on the Corporation’s 
business is unknown, and the proposed regulatory changes may not be implemented at all.

On August 11, 2016, Health Canada announced the new ACMPR which came into force on August 24, 
2016, replacing the MMPR as the regulations governing Canada’s medical cannabis program. The ACMPR 
was implemented as a result of the Federal Court ruling in the case of Allard v. Canada (the “Allard 
Decision”). In the Allard Decision the Federal Court found the MMPR to be unconstitutional and of no 
force and effect, but suspended its declaration of invalidity for six months in order to give the government 
time to respond. 

As per Health Canada’s statement and corresponding fact sheet released on August 11, 2016, the ACMPR 
allows Canadians who have been authorized by their health care practitioner, and who are registered with 
Health Canada, to produce a limited amount of medical marijuana for their own medical purposes, or to 
designate someone who is registered with Health Canada to produce it for them. Starting materials such 
as plants or seeds are to be obtained from Licensed Producers only. Individuals will also continue to have 
the option to purchase quality controlled medical marijuana from licensed producers such as DOJA, 
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assuming it acquires the appropriate licenses. It is possible that such developments could significantly 
reduce the addressable market for the Resulting Issuer’s products and materially and adversely affect the 
business, financial condition and results of operations of the Resulting Issuer. 

The Canadian Federal Government’s Task Force sought input on the design of a new system to legalize, 
strictly regulate and restrict access to marijuana. The Task Force has completed its review in a report 
dated November 30, 2016 which outlines their 25 recommendations. Their advice will be considered by 
the Government of Canada as a new framework for recreational marijuana is developed. It is possible that 
such developments could significantly adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of 
operations of the Resulting Issuer.

On April 13, 2017, the federal government announced legislation to legalize the production and sale of 
cannabis.  It is currently expected that this new legislation will be in effect by the end of June 2018.

Limited Operating History

While DOJA was incorporated and began carrying on business in 2013, it is yet to generate any significant 
revenue.  The Corporation is therefore subject to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, 
including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other 
resources and lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Corporation will be successful in achieving 
a return on shareholders& investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of the early 
stage of operations.

History of Losses

The Corporation has incurred losses in recent periods. The Corporation may not be able to achieve or 
maintain profitability and may continue to incur significant losses in the future. In addition, the 
Corporation expects to continue to increase operating expenses as it implements initiatives to continue to 
grow its business. If the Corporation&s revenues do not increase to offset these expected increases in 
costs and operating expenses, it will not be profitable.

Risks Inherent in an Agricultural Business

The Corporation&s business may, in the future, involve the growing of medical marijuana, an agricultural 
product. Such business will be subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, 
plant diseases and similar agricultural risks. Although all such growing is expected to be completed 
indoors under climate controlled conditions, there can be no assurance that natural elements will not 
have a material adverse effect on any such future production.

Energy Costs

The Corporation&s medical marijuana growing operations will consume considerable energy, which will 
make it vulnerable to rising energy costs. Accordingly, rising or volatile energy costs may, in the future, 
adversely impact the business of the Corporation and its ability to operate profitably.
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Reliance on Management

Another risk associated with the production and sale of medical marijuana is the loss of important staff 
members. The Corporation is currently in good standing with all high level employees and believes that 
with well managed practices will remain in good standing. The success of the Corporation will be 
dependent upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion and good faith of its senior management and 
key personnel. While employment agreements are customarily used as a primary method of retaining the 
services of key employees, these agreements cannot assure the continued services of such employees. 
Any loss of the services of such individuals could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation&s 
business, operating results or financial condition.
Insurance and Uninsured Risks

The Corporation&s business is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including adverse 
environmental conditions, accidents, labour disputes and changes in the regulatory environment. Such 
occurrences could result in damage to assets, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in 
operations, monetary losses and possible legal liability.

Although the Corporation maintains and intends to continue to maintain insurance to protect against 
certain risks in such amounts as it considers to be reasonable, its insurance will not cover all the potential 
risks associated with its operations. The Corporation may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover 
these risks at economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or 
may not be adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as 
environmental pollution or other hazards encountered in the operations of the Corporation is not 
generally available on acceptable terms. The Corporation might also become subject to liability for 
pollution or other hazards which may not be insured against or which the Corporation may elect not to 
insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses from these events may cause the 
Corporation to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its financial 
performance and results of operations.

The Corporation Will Be an Entrant Engaging in a New Industry

The medical marijuana industry is fairly new. There can be no assurance that an active and liquid market 
for shares of the Corporation will develop and shareholders may find it difficult to resell their shares. 
Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the Corporation will be successful in the long term.
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Dependence on Suppliers and Skilled Labour

The ability of the Corporation to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a reasonable 
cost and in a timely manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. No assurances can be 
given that the Corporation will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, 
equipment, parts and components. This could have an adverse effect on the financial results of the 
Corporation.

Reliance on a Single Facility

To date, The Corporation&s proposed activities and resources have been primarily focused on the Facility. 
Adverse changes or developments affecting the Facility could have a material and adverse effect on the 
Corporation&s business, financial condition and prospects.

Difficulty to Forecast

The Corporation must rely largely on its own market research to forecast sales as detailed forecasts are 
not generally obtainable from other sources at this early stage of the medical marijuana industry in 
Canada. A failure in the demand for its products to materialize as a result of competition, technological 
change or other factors could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and 
financial condition of the Corporation.

Management of Growth

The Corporation may be subject to growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on its 
internal systems and controls. The ability of the Corporation to manage growth effectively will require it 
to continue to implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and 
manage its employee base. The inability of the Corporation to deal with this growth may have a material 
adverse effect on the Corporation&s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Internal Controls

Effective internal controls are necessary for the Corporation to provide reliable financial reports and to 
help prevent fraud. Although the Corporation will undertake a number of procedures and will implement 
a number of safeguards, in each case, in order to help ensure the reliability of its financial reports, 
including those imposed on the Corporation under Canadian securities law, the Corporation cannot be 
certain that such measures will ensure that the Corporation will maintain adequate control over financial 
processes and reporting. Failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties 
encountered in their implementation, could harm the Corporation&s results of operations or cause it to 
fail to meet its reporting obligations. If the Corporation or its auditors discover a material weakness, the 
disclosure of that fact, even if quickly remedied, could reduce the market&s confidence in the 
Corporation&s consolidated financial statements and materially adversely affect the trading price of the 
Corporation shares.
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Liquidity

The Corporation cannot predict at what prices the Corporation will trade upon completion of the 
Amalgamation, and there can be no assurance that an active trading market in the Corporation will 
develop or be sustained. Final approval of the CSE has not yet been obtained. There is a significant 
liquidity risk associated with an investment in the Corporation.

Litigation

The Corporation may become party to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business 
which  could adversely affect its  business.  Should  any litigation in  which  the Corporation  becomes 
involved be determined against the Corporation such a decision could adversely affect the Corporation&s 
ability to continue operating and the market price for Corporation shares and could use significant 
resources. Even if the Corporation is involved in litigation and wins, litigation can redirect significant 
Corporation resources.

Risks Related to the Medical Marijuana Industry

Legislative or Regulatory Reform

The Corporation&s operations will be subject to a variety of laws, regulations, guidelines and policies 
relating to the manufacture, import, export, management, packaging/labeling, advertising, sale, 
transportation, storage and disposal of medical marijuana but also including laws and regulations relating 
to drugs, controlled substances, health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the 
environment. Due to matters beyond the control of the Corporation, these laws, regulations, guidelines 
and policies may cause adverse effects to its operations.

The commercial medical marijuana industry is a new industry and the Corporation anticipates that such 
regulations will be subject to change as the Federal Government monitors licensed producers in action. 

Unfavourable Publicity or Consumer Perception

Management of the Corporation believes the medical marijuana industry is highly dependent upon 
consumer perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the medical marijuana produced. 
Consumer perception of the Corporation&s proposed products may be significantly influenced by scientific 
research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding 
the consumption of medical marijuana products. There can be no assurance that future scientific 
research, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or 
publicity will be favourable to the medical marijuana market or any particular product, or consistent with 
earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or 
other publicity that are perceived as less favourable than, or that question, earlier research reports, 
findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand for the Corporation&s proposed 
products and the business, results  of  operations,  financial  condition  and  cash  flows  of  the  
Corporation.  The  Corporation&s dependence  upon  consumer  perceptions  means  that  adverse  
scientific  research  reports,  findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other 
publicity, whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation, 
the demand for the Corporation&s proposed products, and the business, results of operations, financial 
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condition and cash flows of the Corporation. Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention 
regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of medical marijuana in general, or the Corporation&s proposed 
products specifically, or associating the consumption of medical marijuana with illness or other negative 
effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. Such adverse publicity reports or other media 
attention could arise even if the adverse effects associated with such products resulted from consumers& 
failure to consume such products appropriately or as directed.

Product Liability

If licensed as a distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, the Corporation faces an 
inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if its products are 
alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the sale of the Corporation&s products would 
involve the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product 
contamination. Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of the 
Corporation&s products alone or in combination with other medications or substances could occur. The 
Corporation may be subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, that the 
Corporation&s products caused injury or illness, include inadequate instructions for use or include 
inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other substances. A product 
liability claim or regulatory action against the Corporation could result in increased costs, could adversely 
affect the Corporation&s reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and could have a material 
adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Corporation. There can be no 
assurances  that  the  Corporation  will  be  able  to  obtain  or  maintain  product  liability  insurance  on 
acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and 
may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient 
insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims 
could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of the Corporation&s potential products.

Product Recalls

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products 
for a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side 
effects or interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling 
disclosure. If any of the Corporation&s products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any 
other reason, the Corporation could be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any 
legal proceedings that might arise in connection with the recall. The Corporation may lose a significant 
amount of sales and may not be able to replace those sales at an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, 
a product recall may require significant management attention. Although the Corporation has detailed 
procedures in place for testing its products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency or 
contamination problems will be detected in time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or 
lawsuits. Additionally, if one of the Corporation&s significant brands were subject to recall, the image of 
that brand and the Corporation could be harmed. A recall for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to 
decreased demand for the Corporation’s products and could have a material adverse effect on the results 
of operations and financial condition of the Corporation. Additionally, product recalls may lead to 
increased scrutiny of the Corporation’s operations by Health Canada or other regulatory agencies, 
requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses.
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Competition

If the Corporation is successful in securing a License, the Corporation will face intense competition from 
other companies, some of which have longer operating histories and more financial resources and 
manufacturing and marketing experience than the Corporation. Increased competition by larger and 
better financed competitors could materially and adversely affect the proposed business, financial 
condition and results of operations of the Corporation. In addition, the government has only issued to 
date a small number of licenses under the ACMPR to produce and sell medical marijuana. There are, 
however, several hundred applicants for licenses. The number of licenses granted could have an impact 
on the operations of the Corporation. Because of the early stage of the industry in which the Corporation 
operates, the Corporation expects to face additional competition from new entrants. If the number of 
users of medical marijuana in Canada increases, the demand for products will increase and the 
Corporation expects that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin 
to offer an increasing number of diversified products. To remain competitive, the Corporation will require 
a continued high level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales and client support. 
The Corporation may not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, 
sales and client support efforts on a competitive basis which could materially and adversely affect the 
business, financial condition and results of operations of DOJA.

18. PROMOTERS

18.1 –  18.3 – Promoter Consideration

Trent Kitsch and Ryan Foreman can be considered promoters of the resulting issuer in that they each took 
part in founding and organizing the business of DOJA and substantially reorganizing the business of the 
Corporation.

Neither the Corporation nor DOJA is a party to any written or oral agreement or understanding to provide 
any promotional or investor relations services for the Corporation or DOJA, respectively. 

19. LEGAL PROCEEDIDGS

19.1      Legal Proceedings

To the knowledge of the management of the Corporation, there are no actual or contemplated material 
legal proceedings to which the Corporation is a party.

19.2 Regulatory Actions

The Corporation is not subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by any court or regulatory authority 
relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority, nor has the Corporation entered 
into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties 
or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body or self-regulatory authority that are necessary to 
provide full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Corporation’s securities or would 
be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision.
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20. IDTEREST OF MADAGEMEDT ADD OTHERS ID MATERIAL TRADSACTIODS

The Corporation transacts with related parties in the normal course of business. These transactions are 
measured at their exchange amounts.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, DOJA did not enter into any other material transactions with 
related parties outside of those noted elsewhere in this Listing Statement.

21. AUDITORS, TRADSFER AGEDTS ADD REGISTRARS

21.1 Auditors

The auditors of the Corporation are Morgan & Company LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants at its 
office located at Suite 1630, 609 Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1A1.

The auditors of DOJA are MNP LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, at its office located at Suite 300, 
111 Richmond Street West, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2G4.

21.2 Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar of the Corporation is CST Trust Company, at its office located at Suite 
1600, 1066 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 3X1.

22. MATERIAL CODTRACTS

During the course of the two years prior to the date of the Listing Statement, the Corporation and DOJA 
have entered into the following material contracts, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary 
course of business:

(a) the Amalgamation Agreement (see Item 3.1 – General Development of the Business); and

(b) the Escrow Agreement (see Item 11 – Escrow).

22.2 Special Agreements

This section is not applicable to the Corporation or DOJA.

23. IDTEREST OF EXPERTS

No person or corporation whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the 
person or corporation and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement or 
as having prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement holds 
any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or property of the Corporation or of an 
Associate or Affiliate of the Corporation and no such person is expected to be elected, appointed or 
employed as a director, senior officer or employee of the corporation or of an Associate or Affiliate of the 
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Corporation and no such person is a promoter of the corporation or an Associate or Affiliate of the 
Corporation.  Morgan & Company LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, is independent of the 
Corporation in accordance with the rules of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered 
Professional Accountants of British Columbia.  MNP LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, is 
independent of the Corporation and DOJA in accordance with the rules of professional conduct of the 
Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario. 

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS

Other than as set out elsewhere in this Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about the 
Corporation, DOJA, or their respective securities which are necessary in order for this Listing Statement to 
contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Corporation and its respective 
securities.

25. FIDADCIAL STATEMEDTS

25.1 Financial Statements of the Corporation and DOJA

Schedule “A” contains a pro forma financial statement of the Resulting Issuer as at March 31, 2017 after 
giving effect to the Amalgamation as if it had been completed on that date. 

Schedule “B” contains the unaudited interim financial statements of the Corporation for the three-month 
period ended March 31, 2017 and the audited financial statements of the Corporation for the years ended 
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.

Schedule “E” contains the audited financial statements of DOJA for the year ended March 31, 2017 and 
2016.
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, SG Spirit Gold Inc., hereby applies for the 
listing of the above mentioned securities on the Canadian Securities Exchange.  The foregoing contains 
full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to SG Spirit Gold Inc.  It contains no 
untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be 
stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of 
the circumstances in which it was made.

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia this 31st day of July, 2017.

"Richard Grayston" (signed) "Mark Ferguson" (signed)

Richard Grayston
Chief Executive Officer

Mark Ferguson
Chief Financial Officer

"Richard Ko" (signed)

Richard Ko
Director



47

CERTIFICATE OF THE TARGET

The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to Northern 
Lights Marijuana Company Limited.  It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit 
to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is 
made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.

Dated at Kelowna, British Columbia this 31st day of July, 2017.

"William Trent Kitsch" (signed)

William Trent Kitsch
Chief Executive Officer

“Maria Kitsch" (signed) " Ryan Foreman"  (signed)

Maria Kitsch
Director

Ryan Foreman
Director

"William Trent Kitsch" (signed) " Ryan Foreman " (signed)

William Trent Kitsch
Promoter

Ryan Foreman
Promoter



SCHEDULE “A”
PRO FORMA FIDADCIAL STATEMEDTS

(See attached)



Northern Lights Marijuana Company Ltd.
(Formerly SG Spirit Gold Inc.)
Unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise noted)

 SG Spirit Gold Inc. 
 Northern Lights 

Marijuana 
Company Limited 

 Note 5  Adjustments  Total 

Assets $ $ $ $
Current assets

Cash 168,780                  1,896,364                (e)            2,993,902 4,909,046          
 (i)             (150,000)

Short term investments -                          1,300                                              -   1,300                 
Amounts receivable 2,126                      3,749                                              -   5,875                 
Subscriptions receivable -                          347,500                                          -   347,500             
Other receivables -                          85,723                                            -   85,723               

Total current assets 170,906                  2,334,636               2,843,902          5,349,444          

Non-current assets
Property and equipment -                          2,448,212                                       -   2,448,212          

Total assets 170,906                  4,782,848               2,843,902          7,797,656          

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 72,114                    203,962                                          -   276,076             
Current portion of mortgage payable -                          13,387                                            -   13,387               

Total current liabilities 72,114                    217,349                                          -   289,463             

Non-current liabilities
Mortgage payable -                          582,114                                          -   582,114             

Total liabilities 72,114                    799,463                                          -   871,577             

  
Shareholders' (Deficit) Equity

Share capital 5,504,592               4,451,420                (a)          (5,504,592) 9,980,565          
 (d)            2,535,243 
 (e)            2,993,902 

heserves 2,070,121               760,379                   (c)          (2,070,121) 2,228,627          
 (d)            1,307,796 
 (f)                 60,171 
 (g)                 93,703 
 (h)                   6,578 

Deficit (7,475,921)              (1,228,414)               (b)            7,475,921 (5,283,113)         
 (d)          (3,744,247)
 (f)               (60,171)
 (g)               (93,703)
 (h)                 (6,578)
 (i)             (150,000)

Total shareholders' (deficit) equity 98,792                    3,983,385               2,843,902          6,926,079          

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 170,906                  4,782,848               2,843,902          7,797,656          
See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma financial statement



Northern Lights Marijuana Company Ltd.
(Formerly SG Spirit Gold Inc.)
Notes to the unaudited pro form consolidated statement of financial position (in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)
March 31, 2017

1. Basis of presentation

(a) the unaudited statement of financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2017; and
(b) the unaudited statement of financial position of NLMCO as at March 31, 2017.

2. Significant accounting policies

3. The transaction

a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position of SG Spirit Gold Inc. (the "Company") as at March 31, 2017 (the "Pro Forma
Financial Statements"), has been prepared by management based on historical financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial
heporting Standards ("IFhS"), for illustrative purposes only, after giving effect to the proposed transaction between the Company and Northern Lights
Marijuana Company Limited ("NLMCO") on the basis of the assumptions and adjustments described in notes 2, 3, 4 and 5.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been derived from:

It is management's opinion that the unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statements, include all adjustments necessary for the fair presentation, in all
material respects, of the transactions described in notes 3 and 4 in accordance with IFhS, applied on a basis consistent with the NLMCO's accounting
policies, except as otherwise noted. The unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statements are not necessarily indicative of the financial position that would
have resulted if the combination had actually occurred on March 31, 2017.

The unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements and notes thereto of the Company
and NLMCO, included elsewhere in this Listing Statement.

The unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statements have been compiled using the significant accounting policies, as set out in the audited consolidated
financial statements of NLMCO as at and for the year ended March 31, 2017. Management has determined that no material pro forma adjustments are
necessary to conform the Company's accounting policies to the accounting policies used by NLMCO in the preparation of its financial statements.

NLMCO and a subsidiary of the Company will amalgamate and continue as one corporation. Former NLMCO securityholders shall exchange their
common shares, stock options, and warrants of NLMCO for 1.8 replacement common shares, stock options, and warrants of the Company.

NLMCO completes a financing raising gross proceeds of $3,057,162 through the sale of 3,396,847 common shares at $0.90 per share as part of
the transaction (pre-exchange ratio).

The acquisition is subject, but not limited, to regulatory and shareholder approvals.

Upon completion of the transaction, the former shareholders of NLMCO will become the controlling shareholders of the Company. This type of
share exchange, referred to as a reverse acquisition ("hTO"), deems NLMCO to be the acquirer for accounting purposes. In connection with the
transaction, the Company intends to change its name to "Northern Lights Marijuana Company Ltd." or such other name as may be agreed by the
parties.

The Company completes a 3-for-1 consolidation of its common shares and dilutive instruments.

Unless otherwise noted, the unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of financial position and the accompanying notes are presented in Canadian 
dollars.

The Company and NLMCO have entered into an agreement pursuant to which the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares
of NLMCO in consideration for securities of the Company.



Northern Lights Marijuana Company Ltd.
(Formerly SG Spirit Gold Inc.)
Notes to the unaudited pro form consolidated statement of financial position (in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)
March 31, 2017

4. Accounting for RTO

The Transaction has been accounted for in accordance with IFhS 2, which results in the following:

o

o

o

o

o

5. Pro forma assumptions and adjustments

(a) A reduction in share capital of $5,504,592 to eliminate the Company's historical share capital.

(b) An adjustment of $7,475,921 to eliminate the Company's historical deficit.

(c) An adjustment of $2,070,121 to eliminate the Company's historical equity reserves.

(d)

Consideration transferred:
5,070,486 shares (post-consolidation) at a price of $0.50 per share 2,535,243$           
3,400,000 warrants (post-consolidation) at a value of $0.50 per warrant 1,307,796             

3,843,039$           
Allocation:
Cash 168,780$              
Amounts receivable 2,126                    
Prepaid expenses -                       
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (72,114)                 
Transaction costs 3,744,247             

3,843,039$           

(e)

since the Company's operations do not constitute a business, the transaction has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition that is not a
business combination;

NLMCO is deemed to be the acquirer and the Company is deemed to be the acquiree for accounting purposes;

accordingly, NLMCO's balances are accounted for at cost and the Company is accounted for at fair value;

Since the Company's operations do not constitute a business, the consideration transferred by the Company will be allocated to share capital and
transaction costs will be expensed. An increase in share capital of $2,535,243, an increase in reserves of $1,307,796 and an increase in
transaction costs of $3,744,247 has been allocated based on the following:

therefore, the Company's share capital, deficit and equity reserves will be eliminated, the consideration transferred by the Company will be
allocated to share capital and transaction costs will be expensed;

the capital structure recognized in the consolidated financial statements will be that of the Company, but the dollar amount of the issued share
capital in the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position immediately prior to acquisition will be that of NLMCO, plus the
value of shares issued by the Company to acquire NLMCO, plus any shares issued by the Company prior to or as part of the transaction.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position reflects the following assumptions and adjustments:

An increase in share capital of $2,993,902 from issuance of 3,396,847 shares of NLMCO as part of a private placement subsequent to the period,
an increase in cash of $2,993,902, net of issuance costs of $63,260.



Northern Lights Marijuana Company Ltd.
(Formerly SG Spirit Gold Inc.)
Notes to the unaudited pro form consolidated statement of financial position (in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)
March 31, 2017

5. Pro forma assumptions and adjustments (continued)

(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

6. Pro forma share capital
Number Amount

The Company's common shares outstanding - March 31, 2017 15,211,457    5,504,592$           

Consolidation of the Company's shares at the exchange ratio (10,140,971)   -                       

Common shares issued to NLMCO's shareholders 47,568,118    4,451,420             

heverse takeover adjustment - the Company's common shares (note 5(a)) -                (5,504,592)            

Consideration transferred to shareholders of the Company (note 5(d)) -                2,535,243             

Shares issued to NLMCO shareholders in private placement subsequent to the period (note 5(e)) 6,114,325      2,993,902             

Pro forma share capital - March 31, 2017 58,752,929    9,980,565$           

7. Pro forma options and performance warrants reserve
Amount

The Company's options and performance warrants reserve - March 31, 2017 42,825$                

NLMCO's options and performance warrants reserve - March 31, 2017 645,228                

Elimination of the Company's options and agent's warrant reserve (note 5(c)) (42,825)                 

Issuance of stock options to as described in note 5(f) 60,171                  

Issuance of NLMCO's performance warrants as described in note 5(g) 93,703                  

Issuance of stock options to as described in note 5(h) 6,578                    

Pro forma contributed surplus - March 31, 2017 805,680$              

8. Pro forma warrant reserve
Number Amount

The Company's warrant reserve - March 31, 2017 10,200,000    2,027,296             

Consolidation of the Company's warrants at the exchange ratio (6,800,000)     -                       

Elimination of the Company's warrant reserve (note 5(c)) -                (2,027,296)            

NLMCO's warrants reserve - March 31, 2017 5,943,105      115,151                

Consideration transferred to warrantholders of the Company (note 5(d)) -                1,307,796             

Pro forma warrants - March 31, 2017 9,343,105      1,422,947$           

To reflect the issuance by NLMCO of 100,000 stock options as part of the transaction, resulting in an increase in reserves of $60,171. These
options vest based on certain performance criteria and were valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model using a volatility of 80%, risk
free rate of 0.73%, expected life of 5 years and dividend yield of 0%.

A decrease in cash and a corresponding increase in transaction costs in the amount of $150,000 representing estimated costs incurred related to
the transaction.

To reflect the issuance by NLMCO of 150,000 performance warrants subsequent to the period, resulting in an increase in warrants of $93,703.
These warrants vest based on certain performance criteria and were valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model using a volatility of
80%, risk free rate of 0.73%, expected life of 5 years and dividend yield of 0%.

To reflect the issuance by the Company of 33,333 stock options (post-consolidation) as part of the transaction, resulting in an increase in reserves
of $6,578. These options vest based on certain performance criteria and were valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model using a
volatility of 80%, risk free rate of 0.73%, expected life of 5 years and dividend yield of 0%.



Northern Lights Marijuana Company Ltd.
(Formerly SG Spirit Gold Inc.)
Notes to the unaudited pro form consolidated statement of financial position (in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)
March 31, 2017

9. Pro forma stock options and performance warrants
Weighted average 
remaining life (yrs)

Number 
outstanding

Number 
vested

Weighted average 
exercise price

The Company's options as at March 31, 2017 (post-consolidation) 4.67 86,667                 86,667           0.42$                    

Issuance of the Company's options as describedi note 5(h)(1) 5.00 33,333                 33,333           1.71$                    
NLMCO performance warrants issued as at March 31, 2017 2.57 7,616,399            -                0.10                      

NLMCO options issued subsequent to the period(1) 5.00 180,000               180,000         0.42                      

NLMCO performance warrants issued subsequent to the period(1) 5.00 270,000               270,000         0.38                      
Pro forma stock options and performance warrants - March 31, 2017 8,186,399            570,000         0.12$                    
(1) assumes all stock options and performance warrants granted vest immediately.

10. Pro forma warrants
Weighted average 
remaining life (yrs)

Number 
outstanding

Exercise price

The Company's warrants as at March 31, 2017 (post-consolidation) 3.84 3,400,000            0.18$             
NLMCO warrants issued as at March 31, 2017 1.88 10,697,589          0.81               
Pro forma warrants - March 31, 2017 14,097,589          0.66$             

11. Pro forma deficit
Amount

The Company's deficit - March 31, 2017 7,475,921$           

NLMCO's deficit - March 31, 2017 1,228,414             

Elimination of the Company's deficit (note 5(b)) (7,475,921)            

Additional transaction costs in note 5(d) 3,744,247             

To record the issuance of NLMCO stock options as described in note 5(f) 60,171                  

To record the issuance of NLMCO performance warrants as described in note 5(g) 93,703                  

To record the issuance of NLMCO stock options as described in note 5(h) 6,578                    

Additional transaction costs in note 5(i) 150,000                

Pro forma deficit - March 31, 2017 5,283,113$           

12. Pro forma income taxes

The Company expects to have an effective pro forma income tax rate of 26%.
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
Consolidated Interim Statement of Financial Position 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

  
March 31 December 31 

2017 2016 

Current assets  

Cash 168,780 $       93,177 $      
Amounts receivable 2,126            936            

Total assets 170,906 $       94,113 $      

Current liabilities  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  72,114 $       106,668 $      

Total liabilities 72,114            106,668            

Share capital (note 4) 5,504,592          5,358,192          

Reserves (note 4) 2,070,121          2,070,121          

Deficit (7,475,921)         (7,440,868)         

Total equity (deficiency) 98,792            (12,555)            

Total liabilities and equity (deficiency) 170,906 $       94,113 $      

Nature of operations and going concern (note 1) 
Events after the reporting period (note 9) 

Approved on behalf of the Board 

Director "Richard W. Grayston" 
Richard W. Grayston 

Director "Mark Ferguson" 
Mark Ferguson 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) 

ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
Consolidated Interim Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
  

For the three months ended  

2017 2016 

EXPENSES 
Consulting fees 7,500 $      1,000 $      
Filing fees 8,700            5,520            
Interest -            1,225            
Management fees (note 5) (1,500)            4,000            
Office 854            1,387            
Professional fees 17,914            33,396            
Share based compensation -            70,537            
Transfer agent fees 1,585            -            
Travel -            21,567            

Net and comprehensive loss for the period  35,053 $      138,632 $      

Basic and diluted loss per share 0.00 $      0.02 $      

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  14,319,902       7,808,124         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements 

March 31 
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
Consolidated Interim Statement of Cash Flow 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

 
 
. 

For the three months ended  

2017 2016 

Cash provided by (used in):  

Operating activities  

Net loss for the period (35,053) $      (138,632) $      
Items not affecting cash: 

Depreciation -            90            
Share based compensation -            70,537            

Change in non-cash working capital: 
Amounts receivable (1,190)            (2,139)            
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (34,554)            (430,032)           

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (70,797)            (500,176)           

Financing activities  

Proceeds from private placement, gross -            601,839            
Share purchase warrants exercised 110,000            -            
Stock options exercised 36,400            -            
Loan and interest repayments -            (38,037)            
Loan advances -            2,500            

146,400            566,302            

Change in cash during the period  75,603            66,126            

Cash (bank indebtedness), beginning of the period  93,177            (431)            

Cash, end of the period  168,780 $      65,695 $      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements 

March 31 

Net cash flow from financing activities  
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
Consolidated Interim Statement of Changes in Deficiency 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 
 

 
 

Number of 
Shares Share Capital  Reserves  Deficit  

Total 

(Shareholders')   
Deficiency  

Balance at January 1, 2016 951,457            4,689,253 $      2,027,276 $      (7,229,530) $   (513,001) $       

Shares issued in private placement (note 4) 12,100,000       605,000            -            -            605,000            

Shares issue costs -            (3,161)            -            -            (3,161)            

Share based compensation -            -            70,537            -            70,537            

Net loss for the period -            -            -            (138,632)        (138,632)            

Balance at March 31, 2016 13,051,457       5,291,092          2,097,813          (7,368,162)     20,743            

Balance at January 1, 2017 13,851,457       5,358,192          2,070,121          (7,440,868)     (12,555)            

Warrants exercised (note 4) 1,100,000         110,000            -            -            110,000            

Options exercised (note 4) 260,000            36,400            -            -            36,400            

Net loss for the period -            -            -            (35,053)          (35,053)            

Balance at March 31, 2017  15,211,457       5,504,592 $      2,070,121 $      (7,475,921) $   98,792 $       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements 

 

Equity 



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMEN TS 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  
 

SG Spirit Gold Inc. (the “Company”) is an exploration stage company whose common 
shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange and is in the business of identification, 
acquisition and exploration of mineral interests. All of the Company’s exploration and 
evaluation assets are located in Canada. The address of the Company’s registered 
office is 2200 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3E8.   
 
These financial statements were authorized for issue on May 30, 2017 by the directors 
of the Company. 
 

At the date of the consolidated interim financial statements, the Company has not 
identified a known body of commercial grade minerals on any of its properties.  The 
ability of the Company to realize the costs it has incurred to date on these properties is 
dependent upon the Company identifying a commercial mineral body, to finance its 
development costs and to resolve any environmental, regulatory or other constraints 
which may hinder the successful development of the property.  To date, the Company 
has not earned any revenues and is considered to be in the exploration stage. 
 
Management is targeting sources of additional financing through alliances with 
financial, exploration and mining entities, and other business and financial transactions 
which would assure continuation of the Company’s operations and exploration 
programs.  In addition, management closely monitors commodity prices of precious and 
base metals, individual equity movements, and the stock market to determine the 
appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company if favourable or adverse 
market conditions occur.   
 
These consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis which presumes the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in 
the normal course of operations in the foreseeable future.  The Company has incurred 
operating losses and at March 31, 2017 has a cumulative deficit of $7,475,921 
(December 31, 2016 - $7,440,868).  The continuing operations of the Company are 
dependent upon its ability to continue to raise adequate financing and to commence 
profitable operations in the future.   
 
These consolidated interim financial statements do not include any adjustments relating 
to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of 
liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in 
existence.  The aforementioned factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 
which may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Further discussion of liquidity risk is included in note 7. 
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2.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

 
Statement of compliance 
 
These consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) applicable to the preparation 
of consolidated interim financial statements, including International Accounting 
Standards (“IAS”) 34, Interim Financial Reporting. These interim financial statements 
do not include all of the information required for full annual financial statements and 
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited annual  financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2016, which have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The 
presentation and functional currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar.  
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
These consolidated interim financial statements include the accounts of the Company 
and its wholly owned subsidiaries, 0970990 B.C. Ltd. and SG Spirit Subco LLC, both 
wholly owned subsidiaries in which the Company has control, directly or indirectly, 
where control is defined as the power to govern the financial operating policies of an 
enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities.   
 
All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.   
 
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: 
 
Name Place of incorporation Interest % Principal activity  
 
0970990 B.C. Ltd. British Columbia, Canada 100% Inactive subsidiary 
SG Spirit Subco 
LLC Delaware, USA 100% Subsidiary 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

a) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 
 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated interim financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated interim 
financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based 
on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes 
can differ from these estimates. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in 
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies: 
 
The following are critical judgments that management has made in the process of 
applying accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the consolidated interim financial statements: 
• the determination that the Company will continue as a going concern for the next 

year; and 
• the determination that there have been no events or changes in circumstances that 

indicate the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets may not be 
recoverable. 

 
b) Impairment  
 

At each reporting period, management reviews all assets for indicators of impairment. If 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that 
would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value. If the recoverable amount of the asset is less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment 
loss is recognized in the profit or loss for that period. For an asset that does not 
generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash generating unit to which that asset belongs.  
 
Past impairments are also considered at each reporting period and where there is an 
indication that an impairment loss may have decreased, the recoverable amount is 
calculated as outlined above to determine the extent of the recovery. If the recoverable 
amount of the asset is more than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is reversed in the profit 
or loss for that period. The increased carrying amount due to reversal will not be more 
than what the depreciated historical cost would have been if the impairment had not 
been recognized. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

c) Recent accounting pronouncements 
 
New accounting standards issued but not yet effective  
 

The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have 
been issued but are not yet effective. The Company has not early adopted any of 
these standards and is currently evaluating the impact, if any, that these standards 
might have on its financial statements. 

 
4. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES  
 

Authorized 
 
Unlimited common shares without par value 
 
Issued  
 
On February 9, 2016, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 
12,100,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $605,000.  Each unit 
consists of one common share of the Company and one share purchase warrant 
entitling the holder to acquire an additional share at a price of $0.10 per share for a 
period of 5 years.  The Company paid $16,061 in share issue costs related to this 
private placement. 
 
During 2016, 800,000 warrants were exercised resulting in the issuance of 800,000 
common shares at $0.10 per share. 
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, 1,100,000 warrants were exercised 
resulting in the issuance of 1,100,000 common shares at $0.10 per share. 
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, 260,000 stock options were exercised 
resulting in the issuance of 260,000 common shares at $0.14 per share. 
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4. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES  (continued) 

 
Warrants 

 
Details of common share purchase warrants outstanding at March 31, 2017 are as 
follows: 

 
 
Common share purchase warrant transactions during the three month periods ended 
March 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of the issued and outstanding warrants 
at March 31, 2017 was 3.84 years. 
 
Share-based Payments 

 
The Company has a Rolling Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”), which follows the policies of 
the TSX Venture Exchange regarding stock option awards granted to employees, 
directors and consultants.  The stock option plan allows a maximum of 10% of the 
issued shares to be reserved for issuance under the plan.  Options granted under the 
Plan have a maximum term of 5 years. The vesting terms are at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors. 
 
 

 

March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Outstanding Outstanding Exercise
Warrants Warrants price Expiry date

Share purchase warrants

Issued 10,200,000           11,300,000              0.10$    February 9, 2021

Weighted  Weighted  

average average 

Number of  exercise  Fair Number of  exercise  Fair 

Warrants  price  Value Warrants  price  Value 

Outstanding - beginning of period 11,300,000   0.10 $    - $    -            - $    - $    

                                                  Exercised   (1,100,000) 0.10 

         

- 

      

             -   - 

         
  

- 

    Outstanding - end of period 10,200,000 

  

0.10 $       

  

- $     - 

         
  

- $        

  

- $       

 

2017 2016 

For the three months ended  

March 31 
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4. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES  (continued) 
 

On February 9, 2016, the Company granted 1,300,000 incentive stock options to 
directors and officers.  The incentive stock options have an exercise price of $0.08 per 
share, expire one year from the date of grant and vest immediately.  The estimated fair 
value, $0.03 per share, was calculated for the options using the Black-Scholes model 
based on the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 0.41%, expected life of 5 
years, no annual dividend, expected volatility of 177% and a forfeiture rate of Nil.  
These options were cancelled on September 30, 2016 and the share based 
compensation recorded in the period ended March 31, 2016 of $70,537 was 
extinguished. 
 
On November 30, 2016, the Company approved the issuance of 520,000 options to 
consultants at an exercise price of $0.14. These options were granted for a period of 
five years and vest immediately. The estimated fair value, $0.12 per share, was 
calculated for the options using the Black-Scholes model based on the following 
assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.00%, expected life of 5 years, no annual 
dividend, expected volatility of 150% and a forfeiture rate of 30%.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recognized $42,845 (2015 - 
$Nil) in share based compensation relating to this grant.  
 
As at March 31, 2017, the Company had stock options issued to a consultant of the 
Company outstanding as follows: 

 
 
 

5.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2017, the Company incurred $7,500 (2016 - 
$4,000) in management fees to directors, former directors or companies controlled by 
directors or former directors. At March 31, 2017, the Company owed directors, former 
directors or companies controlled by former directors $27,650 (2016 - $10,500) in 
respect of these fees, which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
 
Key management personnel comprise the Company’s Board of Directors and 
executive officers. No remuneration was paid to key management personnel during the 
three month periods ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 other than as indicated above. 

 
 
 
 

Date of grant

 Number of 
options 
issued 

 Options 
exercised 

 
Exercisable 

 Exercise 
price  Expiry date 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual life

November 30, 2016 520,000       (260,000) 260,000 0.14$          November 30, 2021 4.67 years
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6. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company’s objectives for the management of capital are to safeguard the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, including the preservation of capital, 
and to achieve reasonable returns on invested cash after satisfying the objective of 
preserving capital. 
 
The Company considers its cash to be its manageable capital.  The Company’s policy 
is to maintain sufficient cash and deposit balances to cover operating and exploration 
costs over a reasonable future period.  The Company accesses capital markets as 
necessary and may also acquire additional funds where advantageous circumstances 
arise. 
 
The Company currently has no externally-imposed capital requirements.  There was 
no change to the Company’s approach to capital management during the period. 
 

 
7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
As at March 31, 2017, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and 
accounts payable.  
 
In management’s opinion, the Company’s carrying values of cash and accounts 
payable approximate their fair values due to the immediate or short term maturity of 
these instruments. 
 
The Company classifies the fair value of these financial instruments according to the 
following hierarchy based on the amount of observable inputs used to value the 
instrument: 
 
Level 1 – Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
as of the reporting date. Active markets are those in which transactions occur in 
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 
Cash is classified under Level 1. 
 
Level 2 – Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted 
prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (derived from prices). The Company does not have any financial instruments 
classified under Level 2. 
 
Level 3 – Valuations in the level are those with inputs for the asset or liability that are 
not based on observable market data. Accounts payable are classified under Level 3. 
 
The Company’s financial instruments are exposed to the following risks: 
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.  The Company’s cash is held at a 
large Canadian financial institution in interest bearing accounts.   
 

Liquidity Risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due.  
 
The Company manages liquidity risk through its capital management as outlined in 
Note 6 to the consolidated interim financial statements.  
 
Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as 
interest rates, commodity and equity prices and foreign exchange rates. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
 
Price Risk 
 
The Company is not exposed to price risk. 
 
Currency Risk 
 
As at March 31, 2017, the Company’s expenditures are predominantly in Canadian 
dollars, and any future equity raised is expected to be predominantly in Canadian 
dollars. As a result, the Company does not believe it is exposed to any significant 
currency risk. 
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8. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

 
The Company operates in one reportable segment, being the identification, acquisition 
and exploration of mineral interests in Canada.  

 
9. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 
(a) On February 10, 2017, the Company entered into a definitive amalgamation 

agreement (the "Definitive Agreement") with Northern Lights Marijuana Company 
Limited ("DOJA"), pursuant to which the Company proposes to acquire all of the 
issued and outstanding securities of DOJA. 

 
In accordance with the terms of the Definitive Agreement DOJA will amalgamate with a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, following which the resulting amalgamated 
entity will continue as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. In consideration for 
the completion of this transaction the current holders of DOJA class "A" voting 
common shares will be issued one-and-eight-tenths (1.8) common shares of the 
Company in exchange for every share of DOJA they hold. Existing convertible 
securities of DOJA will be exchanged for convertible securities of the Company, on 
substantially the same terms, and applying the same exchange ratio. 
 
On April 28, 2017 the Company and DOJA agreed to amend the terms of the Definitive 
Agreement. Completion of the acquisition of DOJA is now subject to, among other 
things, the Company completing a consolidation of its issued and outstanding share 
capital on a three-for-one basis, DOJA completing a financing for gross proceeds of at 
least $3,000,000 on or before May 31, 2017, receipt of any required shareholder, 
regulatory and third party consents, the Canadian Securities Exchange having 
conditionally accepted the listing of the Company's common shares, the TSX Venture 
Exchange having consented to the voluntary delisting of the Company's common 
shares and the satisfaction of other customary closing conditions.  
 
After the amalgamation process is complete, the Company will change its name to 
DOJA Cannabis Company Limited. The acquisition is expected to close in June, 2017. 
 

(b) On March 29, 2017, the Company appointed a syndicate of agents to sell by way of 
private placement up to 13,333,333 subscription receipts of the Company at a price of 
$0.75 per subscription receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $10,000,000. 
Concurrently with the closing of the transaction contemplated in the Definitive 
Agreement, each subscription receipt will be automatically exchanged into "Units" of 
the Company. Each Unit shall consist of one (1) common share of the Company and 
one-half of one common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant shall entitle the 
holder to acquire one (1) additional common share of the Company at an exercise 
price of $1.25 for a period of 24 months from the date of issuance. 
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PO Box 10007, 1630 – 609 Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V7Y 1A1
Tel: (604) 687 – 5841 Fax: (604) 687 – 0075 www.morgancollp.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of
SG Spirit Gold Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of SG Spirit Gold Inc., which comprise the consolidated
statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss, cash flows and changes in deficiency for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of SG Spirit
Gold Inc. as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which describes matters and
conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Vancouver, Canada “Morgan & Company LLP”

May 1, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

DECEMBER 31,

2016 2015

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash $ 93,177 $ -
Amounts receivable 936 2,877

Total current assets 94,113 2,877

Equipment (Note 4) - 1,082

Total assets $ 94,113 $ 3,959

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Bank Indebtedness $ - $ 431
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 106,668 480,992
Loans payable (Note 8) - 35,537

Total liabilities 106,668 516,960

DEFICIENCY
Share capital (Note 5) 5,358,192 4,689,253
Reserves (Note 5) 2,070,121 2,027,276
Deficit (7,440,868) (7,229,530)

Total deficiency (12,555) (513,001)

Total liabilities and deficiency $ 94,113 $ 3,959

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1)
Subsequent events (Note 13)

Approved on behalf of the Board

Director  “Richard W. Grayston”

Richard W. Grayston

Director  “Mark Ferguson”

Mark Ferguson

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31,

2016 2015

Expenses
Consulting fees $ 28,500 $ 1,211
Depreciation (Note 4) 1,082 360
Filing fees 8,434 3,924
Interest 1,225 1,837
Management fees (Note 7) 23,000 20,000
Office 1,683 9,896
Professional fees 78,067 3,698
Share based compensation 42,845 -
Transfer agent fees 6,861 -
Travel 21,568 -

Loss before other income (expenses) (213,265) (40,926)

Other income (expenses)

Gain on accounts payable written-off - 3,024

Recovery of taxes 1,927 -

Realized loss – marketable securities - (25,000)

1,927 (21,976)

Net loss for the year (211,338) (62,902)

Unrealized gain – marketable securities - 5,000

Comprehensive loss for the year $ (211,338) $ (57,902)

Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.02) $ (0.07)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 11,758,561 951,457

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Supplemental disclosures with respect to cash flows (Note 6)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statement.

YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31,

2016 2015

Cash provided by (used for):
Operating activities

Net loss for the year $ (211,338) $ (62,902)
Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 1,082 360
Share based compensation 42,845 -
Gain on accounts payable written-off - (3,024)
Realized loss – marketable securities - 25,000

   Interest on loans payable - 1,837
Changes in non-cash working capital:

Amounts receivable 1,941 (1,985)
Prepaid expenses - 1,110
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (374,324) (38,285)

(539,794) (77,889)

Investing activity
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities - 45,000

- 45,000

Financing activities
Proceeds from private placement 605,000 -
Proceeds from warrants exercised 80,000 -
Share issue costs (16,061) -
Loan repayments (38,037) (1,000)
Loan advancements 2,500 34,700

633,402 33,700

Change in cash during the year 93,608 811

Bank Indebtedness, beginning of the year (431) (1,242)

Cash (bank indebtedness), end of the year $ 93,177 $ (431)
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Deficiency
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

NUMBER OF
SHARES

SHARE
CAPITAL RESERVES

ACCUMULATED
OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE
LOSS DEFICIT

TOTAL
DEFICIENCY

Balance at December 31, 2014 951,457 $ 4,689,253 $ 2,027,276 $ (5,000) $ (7,166,628) $ (455,099)

Unrealized gain – marketable securities - - - 5,000 - 5,000
Net loss for the year - - - - (62,902)      (62,902)

Balance at December 31, 2015 951,457 4,689,253 2,027,276 - (7,229,530) (513,001)

Shares issued in private placement (Note 5) 12,100,000 605,000 - - - 605,000
Share issue costs - (16,061) - - - (16,061)
Warrants exercised (Note 5) 800,000 80,000 - - - 80,000
Share based compensation - - 42,845 - - 42,845
Net loss for the year - - - - (211,338) (211,338)

Balance, December 31, 2016 13,851,457 $ 5,358,192 $ 2,070,121 $ - $ (7,440,868) $ (12,555)
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

SG Spirit Gold Inc. (the “Company”) is an exploration stage company whose common shares
trade on the TSX Venture Exchange and is in the business of identification, acquisition and
exploration of mineral interests. All of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets are
located in Canada. The address of the Company’s registered office is 2200 – 885 West Georgia
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3E8.

These financial statements were authorized for issue on May 1, 2017 by the directors of the
Company.

At the date of the consolidated financial statements, the Company has not identified a known body
of commercial grade minerals on any of its properties.  The ability of the Company to realize the
costs it has incurred to date on these properties is dependent upon the Company identifying a
commercial mineral body, to finance its development costs and to resolve any environmental,
regulatory or other constraints which may hinder the successful development of the property.  To
date, the Company has not earned any revenues and is considered to be in the exploration stage.

Management is targeting sources of additional financing through alliances with financial,
exploration and mining entities, and other business and financial transactions which would assure
continuation of the Company’s operations and exploration programs.  In addition, management
closely monitors commodity prices of precious and base metals, individual equity movements,
and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company
if favourable or adverse market conditions occur.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which
presumes the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of operations
in the foreseeable future.  The Company has incurred operating losses and at December 31,
2016, had a cumulative deficit of $7,440,868 (2015 - $7,229,530) and a working capital deficiency
of $12,555 (2015 - $514,083).  The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon
its ability to continue to raise adequate financing and to commence profitable operations in the
future.

These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that
might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in existence.  The aforementioned
factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Further discussion of liquidity risk is included
in Note 11.



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

___________________________________________________________________

6

2.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). They have also been prepared in
accordance with interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (“IFRIC”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
financial instruments classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, or
available-for-sale, which are stated at their fair value. In addition, these consolidated financial
statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow
information.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly
owned subsidiaries, 0970990 B.C. Ltd. and SG Spirit Subco LLC, both wholly owned subsidiaries
in which the Company has control, directly or indirectly, where control is defined as the power to
govern the financial operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Name Place of incorporation Interest % Principal activity

0970990 B.C. Ltd. British Columbia, Canada 100% Inactive subsidiary
SG Spirit Subco LLC Delaware, USA 100% Inactive subsidiary
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2.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies regarding certain types of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual
results could differ from those estimates

Information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:

Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgments regarding the going concern of the Company, as discussed in Note 1.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Because a precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events,
the preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates and
such differences could be significant. Significant estimates made by management affecting the
consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the following:

Share-based payments

Estimating fair value for granted stock options requires determining the most appropriate valuation
model which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the
option, volatility, dividend yield, and rate of forfeitures and making assumptions about them.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets and
liabilities based on an assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax
deductions against future taxable income prior to expiry of those deductions. Management
assesses whether it is probable that some or all of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and liabilities is dependent
upon the generation of future taxable income, which in turn is dependent upon the successful
discovery, extraction, development and commercialization of mineral reserves. To the extent that
management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize future tax deductions changes, the
Company would be required to recognize more or less deferred tax assets or liabilities, and
deferred income tax provisions or recoveries could be affected.
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Instruments

All financial instruments are classified into one of five categories: (1) financial assets or liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), (2) loans and receivables, (3) financial assets
available-for-sale (“AFS”), (4) financial assets held-to-maturity, and (5) other financial liabilities.
All financial instruments and derivatives are recognized in the statement of financial position at
fair value, except for loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and other financial
liabilities which are recognized at amortized cost. Subsequent measurement and changes in fair
value will depend on their initial classification. Fair value through profit or loss financial instruments
are measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognized in net income/loss. Available-
for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in
other comprehensive income/loss until the instrument is sold or impaired.

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are recorded and measured as follows:

Asset or Liability Category Measurement
Cash FVTPL Fair value
Loans payable Loans and receivables Amortized cost
Bank Indebtedness Other financial liabilities Amortized cost
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

The Company classifies financial instruments measured at fair value according to the following
hierarchy based on the reliability of inputs used to value the instrument.

Level 1 – Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the
reporting date. Active markets are those in which transactions occur in sufficient frequency and
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1. Prices
in Level 2 are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 valuations
are based on inputs, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value and volatility
factors, which can be substantially observed or corroborated in the marketplace.

Level 3 – Valuations in this level are those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data.

The carrying value of loans payable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and bank
indebtedness approximate their fair values due to their short terms to maturity.

Cash has been measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs.
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Bank Indebtedness

The Company considers all highly liquid short-term investments with a maturity of three months
or less to be cash equivalents. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had $Nil in cash
equivalents.

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, all costs related to the acquisition,
exploration and evaluation of mineral properties are capitalized by property. These direct
expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying, drilling, and payments made to
contractors during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributed to exploration and
evaluation activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the year in
which they occur.

The Company may occasionally enter into farm-out arrangements, whereby the Company will
transfer a part of a mineral interest, as consideration, for an agreement by the farmee to meet
certain exploration and evaluation expenditures which may have otherwise been undertaken by
the Company. The Company does not record any expenditures made by the farmee on its behalf.
Any cash consideration received from the agreement is credited against the costs previously
capitalized to the mineral interest given up by the Company.

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company,
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. As
a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated recoveries,
are written off to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been
determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as “mines
under construction.” Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested for impairment before the
assets are transferred to development properties.

As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in
connection with exploration activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration costs.
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Future Reclamation Costs

The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations
associated with the retirement of reclamation of mineral interests (exploration and evaluation
assets). The net present value of future rehabilitation cost estimates is capitalized to the related
assets along with a corresponding increase in the reclamation provision in the year incurred.
Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the
net present value.

The Company’s estimates of reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory
requirements, discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future
expenditures. These changes are recorded directly to the related assets with a corresponding
entry to the reclamation provision. The Company’s estimates are reviewed annually for changes
in regulatory requirements, discount rates, effects of inflation and changes in estimates.

Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of reclamation
costs, are charged to profit or loss for the year.

For the years presented, the Company does not have any significant future reclamation costs.

Loss per Share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the loss for the year by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the year. For diluted per share computations, assumptions
are made regarding potential common shares outstanding during the year. The weighted average
number of common shares is increased to include the number of additional common shares that
would be outstanding if, at the beginning of the year, or at time of issuance, if later, all options and
warrants are exercised. Proceeds from exercise are used to purchase the Company’s common
shares at their average market price during the year, thereby reducing the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding. If these computations prove to be anti-dilutive, diluted
loss per share is the same as basic loss per share.

Income Tax

Income tax on profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the
expected tax paid or payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax paid
or payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recorded by providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utilized. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the year that includes the date of the enactment
or substantive enactment of the change. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented
separately except where there is a right of offset within fiscal jurisdictions.
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-Based Payments

The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, officers,
employees and consultants. The Company recognizes share-based payments based on the
estimated fair value of the options. A fair value measurement is made for each vesting instalment
within each option grant and is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair
value of the options is recognized over the vesting period of the options granted as both share-
based payments and reserves. This includes a forfeiture estimate, which is revised for actual
forfeitures in subsequent periods. The reserves account is subsequently reduced if the options
are exercised and the amount initially recorded is then credited to share capital.

In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the goods
or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are
measured at the fair value of the share-based payment.  Otherwise, share-based payments are
measured at the fair value of the goods or services received.

Flow-Through Shares

Canadian income tax legislation permits an enterprise to issue securities referred to as flow-
through shares, whereby the investor can claim the tax deductions arising from the renunciation
of the related resource expenditures. The Company accounts for flow-through shares whereby
the premium paid for the flow-through shares in excess of the market value of the shares without
flow-through features at the time of issue is credited to other liabilities and included into income
at the same time the qualifying expenditures are made.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency and the reporting currency of the Company, and its subsidiary, is the
Canadian dollar. Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into Canadian
dollars at the rate of exchange in effect at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated into Canadian dollars at the rate
of exchange in effect at the statement of financial position date, while non-monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at historical rates. Any gains or losses resulting from translation have been
included in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

Equipment

Equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of equipment consists of the purchase price, any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use and an initial
estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is
located. Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of equipment, less its
estimated residual value, using the following rate:

Booth display 20% declining balance
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Equipment (continued)

Equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset,
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, is recognized in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Where an item of
equipment comprises major components with different useful lives, the components are
accounted for as separate items of equipment. Expenditures incurred to replace a component of
an item of equipment that is accounted for separately, including major inspection and overhaul
expenditures, are capitalized.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

At each financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of the Company’s long-lived assets
are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use, which is the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from
the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is
recognized in profit or loss for the year.

For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash-
generating units to which the exploration activity relates. For an asset that does not generate
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset
(or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately
in profit or loss.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income
(loss) and represents the change in equity (deficiency) which results from transactions and events
from sources other than the Company’s shareholders. Comprehensive income (loss) includes the
unrealized holding gains and losses from available-for-sale marketable securities which are not
included in net income (loss) until realized.
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Future Accounting Pronouncements

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued
by the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after January 1, 2017,
or later periods.  Updates that are not applicable or are not consequential to the Company have
been excluded in the standards listed below.

The Company anticipates that the application of these standards, amendments, revisions and
interpretations will not have a material impact on the results and financial position of the Company.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is part of the IASB’s wider project of replacing IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 simplifies the mixed measurement model
and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortized cost and fair
value. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash
flow characteristic of the financial assets. This standard is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2018.

New Standard Adopted

The following new accounting standard was adopted as of January 1, 2016 and did not have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company:

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendments are designed to encourage companies to apply professional judgement to
determine what information to disclose in the financial statements. In addition, the amendments
clarify that companies should use professional judgement in determining where and in what order
information is presented in the financial disclosures. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.
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4. EQUIPMENT

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s equipment for the years ended

December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Booth Display

Cost

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014 $ 7,504
Disposals (7,504)
As at December 31, 2016 -

Accumulated Depreciation
As at December 31, 2014 $ 6,062
Depreciation for the year 360
As at December 31, 2015 6,422
Depreciation for the year 1,082
Disposals (7,504)
As at December 31, 2016 $ -

Net Book Value
As at December 31, 2015 $ 1,082

As at December 31, 2016 $ -

5. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Authorized

Unlimited common shares without par value

Common Shares Issued

On February 9, 2016, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 12,100,000
units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $605,000.  Each unit consists of one
common share of the Company and one share purchase warrant entitling the holder to acquire
an additional share at a price of $0.10 per share for a period of 5 years.  The Company paid
$16,061 in share issue costs related to this private placement.

During 2016, 800,000 warrants were exercised resulting in the issuance of 800,000 common
shares at $0.10 per share.

There were no common shares issued during the year ended December 31, 2015.
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5. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

Warrants

Details of common share purchase warrants outstanding at December 31, 2016 are as follows:

Common share purchase warrant transactions during the years ended December 31, 2016 and
2015 are as follows:

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the issued and outstanding warrants at
December 31, 2016 was 4.09 years.

Share-based Payments

The Company has a Rolling Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”), which follows the policies of the TSX
Venture Exchange regarding stock option awards granted to employees, directors and
consultants.  The stock option plan allows a maximum of 10% of the issued shares to be reserved
for issuance under the plan.  Options granted under the Plan have a maximum term of 5 years.
The vesting terms are at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

On February 9, 2016, the Company granted 1,300,000 incentive stock options to directors and
officers.  The incentive stock options have an exercise price of $0.08 per share, expire one year
from the date of grant and vest immediately.  The estimated fair value, $0.03 per share, was
calculated for the options using the Black-Scholes model based on the following assumptions:
risk-free interest rate of 0.41%, expected life of 5 years, no annual dividend, expected volatility of
177% and a forfeiture rate of Nil.  These options were cancelled on September 30, 2016.

 2016  2015

Outstanding Outstanding Exercise

Warrants Warrants price Expiry date

Share purchase warrants

Issued 11,300,000 Nil 0.10$ February 9, 2021

Weighted Weighted

average average

Number of exercise Fair Number of exercise Fair

Warrants price Value Warrants price Value

Outstanding - beginning of year - -$ -$ - -$ -$

Issued  12,100,000 0.10 -            - - -

Exercised      (800,000) 0.10 -            - - -

Outstanding - end of year 11,300,000 0.10$ -$ - -$ -$

2016 2015



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

___________________________________________________________________

16

5. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

Share-based Payments (continued)

On November 30, 2016, the Company approved the issuance of 520,000 options to consultants
at an exercise price of $0.14. These options were granted for a period of five years and vest
immediately. The estimated fair value, $0.12 per share, was calculated for the options using the
Black-Scholes model based on the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.00%,
expected life of 5 years, no annual dividend, expected volatility of 150% and a forfeiture rate of
30%.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recognized $42,845 (2015 - $Nil) in
share based compensation relating to this grant.

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had stock options issued to a consultant of the Company
outstanding as follows:

6. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company paid interest in the amount of $1,225
(2015 - $Nil).

There were no non-cash transactions affecting cash flows from operating, investing, and financing
activities during the year ended December 31, 2016.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company had an unrealized gain on marketable
securities of $5,000, which was the only non-cash transaction affecting cash flows from operating,
investing, and financing activities.

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company incurred $30,500 (2015 - $20,000) in
management fees, including $10,000 in resignation bonuses, payable to directors, former
directors or companies controlled by directors or former directors. At December 31, 2016, the
Company owed a director and former directors or companies controlled by former directors
amounts totalling $25,475 (2015 - $4,200) in respect of these fees, which is included in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities.

Key management personnel comprise the Company’s Board of Directors and executive officers.
No remuneration was paid to key management personnel during the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015 other than as indicated above.

Date of grant

 Number of

options

issued Exercisable

 Exercise

price  Expiry date

Weighted

average

remaining

contractual life

November 30, 2016 520,000 520,000 0.14$ November 30, 2021 4.92 years
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8. LOANS PAYABLE

Loans payable in the amount of $Nil (2015 - $35,537) were unsecured and bore interest at 10%
per annum.  The lender had the option to be repaid in cash or shares of the Company. The
Company repaid all loans in cash during the year ended December 31, 2016.

9. INCOME TAXES

The reconciliation of income tax provision computed at statutory rates to the reported income tax
provision is as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2016 2015

Basic statutory and provincial income tax rate 26% 26%

Net loss for the year $ (211,338) $ (62,902)

Expected income tax recovery $ (55,000) $ (16,000)
Expiry of loss carryforward - 130,000
Change in tax rates and other 8,000 (8,000)
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets 47,000 (106,000)

Income tax recovery $ - $ -

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,
2016 2015

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):
Non-capital losses available for future period $ 958,000 $ 915,000
Share issue costs 3,000 -
Equipment 2,000 1,000
Exploration and evaluation assets 70,000 70,000
Allowable capital losses 4,000 4,000

1,037,000 990,000
Unrecognized deferred tax assets (1,037,000) (990,000)

Net deferred tax asset $ - $ -
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9. INCOME TAXES (continued)

The significant components of the Company’s unrecognized temporary differences and tax losses
are as follows:

December 31,
2016 Expiry

December 31,
2015 Expiry

Property and equipment $ 6,000 No expiry $ 5,000 No expiry
Share issue costs 13,000 2021 - -
Non-capital losses
available for future
periods 3,685,000 2026-2036 3,518,000 2026-2035
Exploration and
evaluation assets 268,000 No expiry 268,000 No expiry
Investment tax credit 1,000 2021-2034 1,000 2021-2034
Allowable capital losses 15,000 No expiry 15,000 No expiry

Tax attributes are subject to review and potential adjustment by tax authorities.

10. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company’s objectives for the management of capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, including the preservation of capital, and to achieve reasonable
returns on invested cash after satisfying the objective of preserving capital.

The Company considers its cash to be its manageable capital.  The Company’s policy is to
maintain sufficient cash and deposit balances to cover operating and exploration costs over a
reasonable future period.  The Company accesses capital markets as necessary and may also
acquire additional funds where advantageous circumstances arise.

The Company currently has no externally-imposed capital requirements.  There was no change
to the Company’s approach to capital management during the period.

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, bank
indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and loans payable.

The Company’s financial instruments are exposed to the following risks:

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations.  The Company’s cash is held at a large Canadian financial
institution in interest bearing accounts.
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11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit Risk (continued)

The Company’s receivables consist mainly of Goods and Services Tax receivable due from the
Government of Canada, and as such the Company does not believe there is significant credit risk
with respect to amounts receivable.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due.

The Company manages liquidity risk through its capital management as outlined in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at December 31, 2016, the Company does not have the cash resources to settle all its current
liabilities.  The Company will need to raise additional funds through equity or debt to continue with
its operations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates,
commodity and equity prices and foreign exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

Price Risk

The Company is not exposed to price risk.

Currency Risk

As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s expenditures are predominantly in Canadian dollars,
and any future equity raised is expected to be predominantly in Canadian dollars. As a result, the
Company does not believe it is exposed to any significant currency risk.

12. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Company operates in one reportable segment, being the identification, acquisition and
exploration of mineral interests in Canada.
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13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

a) On February 10, 2017, the Company entered into a definitive amalgamation agreement (the
"Definitive Agreement") with Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limited ("DOJA"), pursuant
to which the Company proposes to acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of
DOJA.

In accordance with the terms of the Definitive Agreement DOJA, will amalgamate with a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, following which the resulting amalgamated entity
will continue as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. In consideration for the completion
of this transaction, the current holders of DOJA class "A" voting common shares will be issued
one-and-eight-tenths (1.8) common shares of the Company in exchange for every share of
DOJA they hold. Existing convertible securities of DOJA will be exchanged for convertible
securities of the Company, on substantially the same terms, and applying the same exchange
ratio.

On April 28, 2017, the Company and DOJA agreed to amend the terms of the Definitive
Agreement. Completion of the acquisition of DOJA is now subject to, among other things, the
Company completing a consolidation of its issued and outstanding share capital on a three-
for-one basis, DOJA completing a financing for gross proceeds of at least $3,000,000 on or
before May 31, 2017, receipt of any required shareholder, regulatory and third party consents,
the Canadian Securities Exchange having conditionally accepted the listing of the Company's
common shares, the TSX Venture Exchange having consented to the voluntary delisting of
the Company's common shares and the satisfaction of other customary closing conditions.

After the amalgamation process is complete, the Company will change its name to DOJA
Cannabis Company Limited. The acquisition is expected to close in June, 2017.

b) On March 29, 2017, the Company appointed a syndicate of agents to sell by way of private
placement up to 13,333,333 subscription receipts of the Company at a price of $0.75 per
subscription receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $10,000,000. Concurrently with the
closing of the transaction contemplated in the Definitive Agreement, each subscription receipt
will be automatically exchanged into "Units" of the Company. Each Unit shall consist of one
(1) common share of the Company and one-half of one common share purchase warrant.
Each whole warrant shall entitle the holder to acquire one (1) additional common share of the
Company at an exercise price of $1.25 for a period of 24 months from the date of issuance.

c) Subsequent to year end 260,000, options and 1,100,000 warrants were exercised at $0.14
and $0.10 per share respectively for proceeds of $146,400.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
 
To the Shareholders of 
SG Spirit Gold Inc. 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of SG Spirit Gold Inc., which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015, and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
loss, cash flows and changes in deficiency for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial State ments 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of SG Spirit 
Gold Inc. as at December 31, 2015, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which describes matters and 
conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
 
Other Matter  
 
The consolidated financial statements of SG Spirit Gold Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014 were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on April 28, 2015. 
 
 
 

Vancouver, Canada  “Morgan & Company LLP” 
  
April 26, 2016 Chartered Professional Accountants 
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 DECEMBER 31, 
 2015 2014 
     
ASSETS     
Current assets     

Receivables $ 2,877 $ 892 
Prepaid expenses  -  1,110 

Total current assets  2,877  2,002 
     
Non-current assets     

Marketable securities (Note 4)  -  65,000 
Equipment (Note 5)  1,082  1,442 

Total non-current assets  1,082  66,442 
     
Total assets $ 3,959 $ 68,444 
     
LIABILITIES AND DEFICIENCY  

 
 

 
Current liabilities     

Bank Indebtedness  $ 431 $ 1,242 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  480,992  522,301 
Loans payable (Note 11)   35,537  - 

Total liabilities   516,960  523,543 
   
   
Deficiency     

Share capital (Note 8)  4,689,253  4,689,253 
Reserves (Note 8)  2,027,276  2,027,276 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 4)  -  (5,000) 
Deficit  (7,229,530)  (7,166,628) 

Total deficiency  (513,001)  (455,099) 
     
Total liabilities and deficiency $ 3,959 $ 68,444 

 
Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1) 
Subsequent events (Note 16) 
 
Approved on April 26, 2016 on behalf of the Board of Directors: 

“Stephen Brohman”  “Ryan Cheung” 
Director  Director 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

  YEARS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31, 

  2015  2014 
 
Expenses 

  

Consulting fees  $ 1,211 $ - 
Depreciation (Note 5)  360  360 
Filing fees  3,924  18,057 
Insurance  -  6,488 
Interest   1,837  899 
Investor relations   -  283 
Management fees  20,000  - 
Office and administration   9,896  11,876 
Professional fees   3,698  20,750 
Rent   -  4,783 
Wages   -  27,839 
     

Loss before other income (expenses)  (40,926)  (91,335) 
     
Other income (expenses)     

Finance income  -  51 
Foreign exchange loss  -  (5) 
Gain on accounts payable written-off  3,024  18,509 
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets (Note 7)  -  (326,525) 
Realized loss – marketable securities (Note 4)  (25,000)  - 

  (21,976)  (307,970) 
     
Net loss for the year  (62,902)  (399,305) 
     
Unrealized gain – marketable securities (Note 4)  5,000  5,000 
     
Comprehensive loss for the year $ (57,902) $ (394,305) 

Basic and diluted loss per share  
 
$ (0.07) 

 
$ (0.42) 

     
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  951,457  951,457 
   

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 
Supplemental disclosures with respect to cash flows (Note 9) 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  YEARS ENDED  
DECEMBER 31, 

  2015 2014 
 
Cash flows used in operating activities 

  

Net loss for the year $ (62,902) $ (399,305) 
Items not affecting cash    

Depreciation  360 360 
Gain on accounts payable written-off  (3,024) (18,509) 
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets  - 326,525 
Realized loss – marketable securities  25,000 - 

   Interest on loans payable  1,837 - 
Net changes in non-cash working capital items    

Receivables  (1,985) (296) 
Prepaid expenses  1,110  5,688 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (38,285) 272,482 
Due to related parties  - (287,910) 

Cash used in operating activities  (77,889) (100,965) 
    
Cash flows provided by investing activities     

Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets  - (6,328) 
Government tax credit received   - 3,526 
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities  45,000 - 
Refund of reclamation deposits   - 15,000 

Cash provided by investing activities  45,000 12,198 
    
Cash flows provided by financing activities     

Loan proceeds  34,700 - 
Loan payment  (1,000) - 

Cash provided by financing activities  33,700 - 
    
Increase (decrease) in cash during the year  811 (88,767) 
    
(Bank Indebtedness) cash, begi nning of the year  (1,242) 87,525 
     
Bank indebtedness, end of the year $ (431) $ (1,242) 
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN DEFICIENCY 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 and 2014 
 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 
SHARE CAPITAL   

ACCUMULATED  
OTHER   

 
NUMBER AMOUNT RESERVES 

COMPREHENSIVE 
LOSS DEFICIT TOTAL 

            
Balance, December 31, 2013 951,457 $ 4,689,253 $ 2,027,276 $ (10,000) $ (6,767,323) $ (60,794) 
            
Unrealized gain– marketable securities (Note 4) -  -  -  5,000  -  5,000 
Net loss for the year -  -  -  -  (399,305)      (399,305) 
            
Balance, December 31, 2014 951,457  4,689,253  2,027,276  (5,000)  (7,166,628)  (455,099) 
            
Unrealized gain– marketable securities (Note 4) -  -  -  5,000  -  5,000 
Net loss for the year -  -  -  -  (62,902)     (62,902) 
            
Balance, December 31, 2015 951,457 $ 4,689,253 $ 2,027,276 $ - $ (7,229,530) $ (513,001) 



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 
 

SG Spirit Gold Inc. (the “Company” or “SG Spirit Gold”) is an exploration stage company whose 
common shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange and is in the business of acquiring, 
exploring and evaluating mineral resource properties. All of the Company’s exploration and 
evaluation assets are located in Canada. The address of the Company’s registered office is 
#2200 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3E8.   

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will 
be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the 
foreseeable future. Management’s assessment of the Company, based on its current cash flow 
forecast and financial model, is that there is significant doubt as to whether it can sustain in 
the future as a going concern. 
 
As at December 31, 2015, the Company’s working capital deficiency was $514,083 (2014 - 
$521,541). The Company is currently in the process of exploring and evaluating its exploration 
and evaluation assets and has not yet determined whether the properties contain mineral 
reserves that are economically recoverable. The Company has incurred operating losses since 
inception, has no source of revenue, and is unable to self-finance operations.  
 
The Company's ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on management's ability 
to obtain additional financing to fulfil its present obligations and future commitments and, 
ultimately, the attainment of profitable operations or the profitable sale of the Company’s 
exploration interests. While management has been successful in obtaining funding in the past, 
there can be no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future.  These uncertainties may 
cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  These 
consolidated financial statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to 
the carrying values and classifications of assets and liabilities should the Company be unable 
to continue as a going concern, and such adjustments could be material. 
 
 

  



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
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2.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION  
 
Statement of compliance 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). They have also been 
prepared in accordance with interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 
 
Basis of measurement  

 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except 
for financial instruments classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, 
or available-for-sale, which are stated at their fair value. In addition, these consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash 
flow information.  
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the 
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiary. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly 
owned subsidiary, 0970990 B.C. Ltd.  A wholly owned subsidiary is an entity in which the 
Company has control, directly or indirectly, where control is defined as the power to govern the 
financial operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities.   
 
All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.   
 
Details of the Company’s subsidiary are as follows: 
 

Name Place of incorporation Interest % Principal activity  
 
0970990 B.C. Ltd. British Columbia, Canada 100% Inactive subsidiary 

 
Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies regarding certain types of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 
Information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements is included in the following notes:  



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
 

7 
 

2.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued) 
 
Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments regarding the going concern of the Company, as discussed in Note 1.  
 
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
Because a precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future 
events, the preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and the disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of expenses during the reporting years. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates and such differences could be significant. Significant estimates made by 
management affecting the consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets  
  
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Company’s exploration and 
evaluation assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that they have 
suffered an impairment loss or reversal of previous impairment.  Where such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment.  
Refer to Note 7 for further details. 
 
Share-based payments 
 
Estimating fair value of granted stock options requires determining the most appropriate 
valuation model which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate 
also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the 
expected life of the option, volatility, dividend yield, and rate of forfeitures and making 
assumptions about them.   



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
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2.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued) 
 
Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued) 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets 
and liabilities based on an assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future 
tax deductions against future taxable income prior to expiry of those deductions. Management 
assesses whether it is probable that some or all of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and liabilities is dependent 
upon the generation of future taxable income, which in turn is dependent upon the successful 
discovery, extraction, development and commercialization of mineral reserves. To the extent 
that management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize future tax deductions 
changes, the Company would be required to recognize more or less deferred tax assets or 
liabilities, and deferred income tax provisions or recoveries could be affected. 

 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Financial Instruments 
 
All financial instruments are classified into one of five categories: (1) financial assets or 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), (2) loans and receivables, (3) financial 
assets available-for-sale (“AFS”), (4) financial assets held-to-maturity, and (5) other financial 
liabilities. All financial instruments and derivatives are recognized in the statement of financial 
position at fair value, except for loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and other 
financial liabilities which are recognized at amortized cost. Subsequent measurement and 
changes in fair value will depend on their initial classification. Fair value through profit or loss 
financial instruments are measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognized in 
net income/loss. Available-for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value recorded in other comprehensive income/loss until the instrument is sold 
or impaired. 

  



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are recorded and measured as follows: 
 

Asset or Liability  Category  Measurement  
Cash  FVTPL Fair value 
Marketable securities  AFS Fair value 
Loans payable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Bank Indebtedness Other financial liabilities  Amortized cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 

 
The Company classifies financial instruments measured at fair value according to the following 
hierarchy based on the reliability of inputs used to value the instrument.  
 
Level 1 – Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of 
the reporting date. Active markets are those in which transactions occur in sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

 
Level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1. 
Prices in Level 2 are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 
valuations are based on inputs, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value 
and volatility factors, which can be substantially observed or corroborated in the marketplace. 

 
Level 3 – Valuations in this level are those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data. 
 
The carrying value of loans payable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and bank 
indebtedness approximate their fair values due to their short terms to maturity. 
 
Cash and marketable securities have been measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Bank Indebtedness 
 
The Company considers all highly liquid short-term investments with a maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had $Nil in cash 
equivalents. 

  



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, all costs related to the acquisition, 
exploration and evaluation of mineral properties are capitalized by property. These direct 
expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying, drilling, and payments made to 
contractors during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributed to exploration and 
evaluation activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the year 
in which they occur. 
 
The Company may occasionally enter into farm-out arrangements, whereby the Company will 
transfer a part of a mineral interest, as consideration, for an agreement by the farmee to meet 
certain exploration and evaluation expenditures which may have otherwise been undertaken 
by the Company. The Company does not record any expenditures made by the farmee on its 
behalf. Any cash consideration received from the agreement is credited against the costs 
previously capitalized to the mineral interest given up by the Company.  
 
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company, 
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. 
As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated 
recoveries, are written off to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss.  
 
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable 
amount.  
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has 
been determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified 
as “mines under construction.” Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested for 
impairment before the assets are transferred to development properties.  

 
As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in 
connection with exploration activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration 
costs. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  
Future Reclamation Costs 
 

The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations 
associated with the retirement of reclamation of mineral interests (exploration and evaluation 
assets). The net present value of future rehabilitation cost estimates is capitalized to the related 
assets along with a corresponding increase in the reclamation provision in the year incurred. 
Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate 
the net present value. 
 
The Company’s estimates of reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in 
regulatory requirements, discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of 
the future expenditures. These changes are recorded directly to the related assets with a 
corresponding entry to the reclamation provision. The Company’s estimates are reviewed 
annually for changes in regulatory requirements, discount rates, effects of inflation and 
changes in estimates. 
 
Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of 
reclamation costs, are charged to profit or loss for the year. 
 
For the years presented, the Company does not have any significant future reclamation costs.   

 
Loss per Share 
 
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the loss for the year by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the year. For diluted per share computations, 
assumptions are made regarding potential common shares outstanding during the year. The 
weighted average number of common shares is increased to include the number of additional 
common shares that would be outstanding if, at the beginning of the year, or at time of 
issuance, if later, all options and warrants are exercised. Proceeds from exercise are used to 
purchase the Company’s common shares at their average market price during the year, 
thereby reducing the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. If these 
computations prove to be anti-dilutive, diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per 
share. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Income Tax 
 
Income tax on profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the 
expected tax paid or payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax 
paid or payable in respect of previous years.  
 
Deferred tax is recorded by providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be utilized. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the year that includes the date of the 
enactment or substantive enactment of the change. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
presented separately except where there is a right of offset within fiscal jurisdictions. 
 
Share-Based Payments  
 
The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, 
officers, employees and consultants. The Company recognizes share-based payments based 
on the estimated fair value of the options. A fair value measurement is made for each vesting 
instalment within each option grant and is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model. The fair value of the options is recognized over the vesting period of the options granted 
as both share-based payments and reserves. This includes a forfeiture estimate, which is 
revised for actual forfeitures in subsequent periods. The reserves account is subsequently 
reduced if the options are exercised and the amount initially recorded is then credited to share 
capital.   
 
In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the 
goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they 
are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment.  Otherwise, share-based payments 
are measured at the fair value of the goods or services received. 
 
Flow-Through Shares 
 
Canadian income tax legislation permits an enterprise to issue securities referred to as flow-
through shares, whereby the investor can claim the tax deductions arising from the 
renunciation of the related resource expenditures. The Company accounts for flow-through 
shares whereby the premium paid for the flow-through shares in excess of the market value of 
the shares without flow-through features at the time of issue is credited to other liabilities and 
included into income at the same time the qualifying expenditures are made. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Foreign Currency Translation 
 
The functional currency and the reporting currency of the Company, and its subsidiary, is the 
Canadian dollar. Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into Canadian 
dollars at the rate of exchange in effect at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated into Canadian dollars at the 
rate of exchange in effect at the statement of financial position date, while non-monetary assets 
and liabilities are translated at historical rates. Any gains or losses resulting from translation 
have been included in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss. 
 
Equipment 
 

Equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 
 
The cost of an item of equipment consists of the purchase price, any costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use and an initial 
estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is 
located. Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of equipment, less its 
estimated residual value, using the following rate: 
 

Booth display 20% declining balance 
 
Equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset, is recognized in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Where an 
item of equipment comprises major components with different useful lives, the components are 
accounted for as separate items of equipment. Expenditures incurred to replace a component 
of an item of equipment that is accounted for separately, including major inspection and 
overhaul expenditures, are capitalized. 

 

Impairment of Long-lived Assets 
 

At each financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of the Company’s long-lived 
assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that those assets are 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, which is the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to 
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 
amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the year. 

  



SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
 

14 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Impairment of Long-lived Assets (continued) 
 
For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to 
cash-generating units to which the exploration activity relates. For an asset that does not 
generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized 
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
 
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income 
(loss) and represents the change in equity (deficiency) which results from transactions and 
events from sources other than the Company’s shareholders. Comprehensive income (loss) 
includes the unrealized holding gains and losses from available-for-sale marketable securities 
which are not included in net income (loss) until realized. 

 
Future Accounting Pronouncements 
 
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been 
issued by the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after January 
1, 2016, or later periods.  Updates that are not applicable or are not consequential to the 
Company have been excluded in the standards listed below.  
 
The Company anticipates that the application of these standards, amendments, revisions and 
interpretations will not have a material impact on the results and financial position of the 
Company. 

 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is part of the IASB’s wider project of replacing IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 simplifies the mixed measurement model 
and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortized cost and 
fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the 
contractual cash flow characteristic of the financial assets. This standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Future Accounting Pronouncements (continued) 

 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
The amendments are designed to encourage companies to apply professional judgement to 
determine what information to disclose in the financial statements. In addition, the amendments 
clarify that companies should use professional judgement in determining where and in what 
order information is presented in the financial disclosures. The amendment is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  

 
 
4. MARKETABLE SECURITIES 

 
The following table summarizes changes with respect to the Company’s marketable securities 
during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014: 

  PJX Resources 
Inc. 

Cost   
As at December 31, 2014 and 2013 $ 70,000 
Disposals  (70,000) 
As at December 31, 2015 $ - 
Adjustments to Fair Value   
As at December 31, 2013 $ (10,000) 
Adjustments for the year  5,000 
As at December 31, 2014  (5,000) 
Adjustments for the year  5,000 
As at December 31, 2015 $ - 
Fair Value   
As at December 31, 2014 $ 65,000 
As at December 31, 2015 $ - 

 
PJX Resources Inc. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company received 500,000 common shares 
of PJX Resources Inc., a TSX-Venture Exchange listed company, in connection with the sale 
of exploration and evaluation assets.  These shares had a fair value of $70,000 initially and 
$65,000 at December 31, 2014. 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company sold 500,000 common shares of 
PJX Resources Inc. for proceeds of $45,000, resulting in $25,000 in realized loss on the sale 
of marketable securities. 
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5. EQUIPMENT 
 

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s equipment for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

 Booth Display 
  
Cost  
As at December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 $ 7,504 
  

Accumulated Depreciation  
As at December 31, 2013 $ 5,702 
Depreciation for the year 360 
As at December 31, 2014  6,062 
Depreciation for the year  360 
As at December 31, 2015 $ 6,422 
   

Net Book Value   
As at December 31, 2014 $ 1,442 
As at December 31, 2015 $ 1,082 

 
 
6. RECLAMATION DEPOSITS  

 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, deposits in the amount of $14,500 (2014 -$15,000) 
with the British Columbia government were returned to the Company which related to the 
Purcell-Rub and Purcell-Zinger properties which were sold during the year ended December 
31, 2013 to PJX Resources Inc. (“PJX”).  These amounts recovered were returned to PJX as 
received. 

 
 
7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 
The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s exploration and evaluation 
assets for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

  Purcell LOV 
   

Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 323,723 
Additions  6,328 
Government tax credit  (3,526) 
Impairment  (326,525) 
   

Balance, December 31, 2015 and 2014 $ - 
 
The properties noted above are all located in southeast British Columbia, Canada.  
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 
Purcell LOV Property (“LOV Property”) 
 
The Company entered into a series of option agreements with Bearclaw Capital Corp. 
(“Bearclaw”) (a TSX-Venture Exchange listed company), whereby Bearclaw could earn up to 
an 80% interest in the Company’s LOV Property (part of the Purcell-Rub and Purcell-Zinger 
property group) located in the Purcell mountains in the East Kootenay region of British 
Columbia.   
 
On September 9, 2012, Bearclaw notified the Company that it did not intend to exercise its 
option on the LOV Property and returned the LOV Property to the Company on October 25, 
2012. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company impaired the Purcell LOV property, 
by amounts of $326,525, as the Company has no current plans to explore this property. 

 
 

8. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES  
 

  

Authorized 
 
Unlimited common shares without par value 
 
Common Share Issuances  
 
There were no common shares issued during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. 
 
Stock Options 
 
The Company has a Rolling Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”), which follows the policies of the 
TSX Venture Exchange regarding stock option awards granted to employees, directors and 
consultants.  The stock option plan allows a maximum of 10% of the issued shares to be 
reserved for issuance under the plan.  Options granted under the Plan have a maximum term 
of 5 years. The vesting terms are at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

 
Reserves 
 

Options and 
agent ’s warrants 

Finance 
warrants Total 

    
Balance, December 31, 

2015 and 2014 
 

$ 
 

623,092 
 

$ 
 

1,404,184   
 

$ 
 

2,027,276 
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9. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS  

 
The Company did not pay or receive any amounts for interest or income taxes during the 
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. 
 
The following were non-cash transactions affecting cash flows from investing and financing 
activities during the year ended December 31, 2015 
 
 Unrealized gain on marketable securities $5,000 
 
The following were non-cash transactions affecting cash flows from investing and financing 
activities during the year ended December 31, 2014:  
 
 Unrealized gain on marketable securities $5,000 
 

 
10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
Related party transactions impacting the consolidated financial statements are summarized 
below and include transactions with the following individuals or entities: 
 
Key Management Personnel 
 
Key management personnel include those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company as a whole. The Company has 
determined that key management personnel consist of executive and non-executive members 
of the Company’s Board of Directors and corporate officers. 
 
Remuneration attributed to key management personnel is summarized as follows: 
 

 Years ended December 31, 
  2015  2014 
     
Short-term benefits* $ 20,000 $ 7,878 

 
*include base salaries, pursuant to contractual employment or consultancy arrangements, recorded in management 
fees. 
 
Amounts owed to key management personnel as at December 31, 2015 include $4,200 (2014 
– $36,274) in short-term benefits, and the amounts are included in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities.  The amounts due to related parties are non-interest bearing, with no fixed 
terms of repayment. 
 
Other Related Party Transactions 
 
As at December 31, 2015, $Nil (2014 - $8,000) is owed to a former officer and director, in 
relation to director fees.   
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11. LOANS PAYABLE 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company completed loan arrangements by 
way of demand loans totalling $34,700 (2014 - $Nil) from an unrelated party.  The loans 
bear an interest rate of 10% per annum and are repayable either in cash or in shares at the 
option of the lender. The Company repaid a principal amount of $1,000 (2014 - $Nil) in cash 
during the year. As at December 31, 2015, the Company had principal of $33,700 (2014 - 
$Nil) and interest of $1,837 (2014 - $Nil) owing to the lender.  

 
 

12. INCOME TAXES 
 
The reconciliation of income tax provision computed at statutory rates to the reported 
income tax provision is as follows: 
  
 Years ended December 31, 
 2015 2014 
   
Basic statutory and provincial income tax rate 26% 26% 
   
Net loss for the year  $ (62,902) $ (399,305)  
   
Expected income tax recovery  $ (16,000) $ (104,000)  
Expiry of loss carryforward 130,000 - 
Change in tax rates and other (8,000) 60,000 
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets (106,000) 44,000 
     
Income tax recovery $ - $ - 

 
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 
 
 December 31, 
 2015 2014 
   
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):   

Non-capital losses available for future period $ 915,000 $  1,018,000 
Share issue costs  -  5,000 
Equipment 1,000  1,000 
Exploration and evaluation assets 70,000  70,000 
Marketable securities -  1,000 
Allowable capital losses 4,000  1,000 
   

  990,000   1,096,000 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets  (990,000)  (1,096,000) 
     
Net deferred tax asset  $ - $  - 
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12. INCOME TAXES (continued) 

 
The significant components of the Company’s unrecognized temporary differences and tax 
losses are as follows: 

 
 December 31, 

2015 Expiry 
December 31, 

2014 Expiry 
Property and equipment $ 5,000 No expiry $ 4,000 No expiry 
Share issue costs  - -  19,000 2015 
Non-capital losses 

available for future 
periods 

 

3,518,000 2026-2035  3,916,000 2015-2034 
Exploration and 

evaluation assets 
 

268,000 No expiry  268,000 No expiry 
Investment tax credit  1,000 2021-2034  1,000 2021-2034 
Marketable securities  - No expiry  5,000 No expiry 
Allowable capital losses  15,000 No expiry  5,000 No expiry 

 
Tax attributes are subject to review and potential adjustment by tax authorities.  
 
 

13. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the 
funds available to the Company, in order to support acquisition, exploration and evaluation 
of mineral properties. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital 
criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management 
to sustain future development of the business. 
 
In the management of capital, the Company considers components of deficiency. 
 
The property in which the Company has had interests are in the exploration stage; and as 
such, the Company has historically relied on the equity market to fund its activities. The 
Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional 
properties if it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate 
financial resources to do so. 
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes 
that this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 
 
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. There were no 
changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the current reporting 
period. 
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14. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS  

 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, bank indebtedness, marketable 
securities, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and loans payable.   
 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.  The Company’s cash is held at a large 
Canadian financial institution in interest bearing accounts.   
 
The Company’s receivables consist mainly of Goods and Services Tax receivable due from 
the Government of Canada, and as such the Company does not believe there is significant 
credit risk with respect to receivables. 
 
Liquidity Risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due.  
 
The Company manages liquidity risk through its capital management as outlined in Note 13 
to the consolidated financial statements.  
 
As at December 31, 2015, the Company does not have any cash resources to settle its 
current liabilities.  Subsequent to year end, the Company closed $605,000 in private 
placement financing (Note 16).  The Company will need to raise additional funds through 
equity or debt to continue with its operations. 
 
Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest 
rates, commodity and equity prices and foreign exchange rates. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
 
The Company does not have any significant interest rate risk as at December 31, 2015, 
since it has no cash, and minimal interest-bearing debt. 
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14. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (continued) 

 
Market Risk (continued) 
 
Price Risk 
 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity, equity and marketable 
security prices. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings 
and economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. The prices of these 
commodities affect the value of the Company and the potential value of its property and 
investments.  Equity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s 
earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or general movements in the level of 
the stock market. The Company closely monitors commodity prices of precious metals, 
individual equity movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of 
action to be taken by the Company. 
 
Currency Risk 
 
As at December 31, 2015, the Company’s expenditures are predominantly in Canadian 
dollars, and any future equity raised is expected to be predominantly in Canadian dollars. 
As a result, the Company does not believe it is exposed to any significant currency risk. 
 
 

15. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 

The Company operates in one reportable segment, being the acquisition, exploration and 
evaluation of mineral resources in Canada.  
 
 

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

a) On February 9, 2016, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 
12,100,000 units, at a price of $0.05 per unit, for gross proceeds of $605,000.  Each unit 
consists of one common share of the Company, and one share-purchase warrant 
entitling the holder to acquire an additional share at a price of $0.10 per share for a period 
of five years. 
 
The Company granted 1,300,000 stock options exercisable at a price of $0.08 per share 
for a period of one year, to directors and officers of the Company.  The options vest 
immediately. 

 
b) On March 11, 2016, the Company entered into a letter of intent effective March 8, 2016, 

pursuant to which the Company has agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding 
securities of ArcScan, Inc., an arm’s length party. 



SCHEDULE “C”
MD&A OF SG SPIRIT GOLD IDC.

(See attached)



 

1 
 

SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
MANAGEMENT`S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 

FOR THE THREE MONTHS  ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 

 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
This Management’s Discussion & Analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to supplement and 
complement the consolidated interim financial statements of SG Spirit Gold Inc. (the “Company” 
or “SG Spirit Gold”) for the three months ended March 31, 2017. The information provided 
herein should be read in conjunction with the Company’s  audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 including the accompanying notes.  
 
All dollar figures presented are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. The  
consolidated interim financial statements of the Company and summary information derived 
therefrom have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34, 
Interim Financial Reporting.  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial statements, 
including the maintenance of appropriate information systems, procedures and internal controls 
and to ensure that information used internally or disclosed externally, including the financial 
statements and MD&A, is complete and reliable. The Company’s Board of Directors follows 
recommended corporate governance guidelines for public companies to ensure transparency 
and accountability to shareholders.  The Board’s audit committee meets with management 
quarterly to review the consolidated financial statements, including the MD&A, and to discuss 
other financial, operating and internal control matters. 
 
This MD&A is dated May 29, 2017 and presents material information up to this date. 
 
The reader is encouraged to review the Company’s statutory filings on www.sedar.com. 
 
FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 
 
Information set forth in this MD&A contains certain "forward-looking  statements" under 
applicable securities laws. Forward-looking statements relate to future, not past, events. In this 
context, forward-looking statements often address expected future business and financial 
performance, and often contain words such as "anticipate", "believe", "plan", "estimate", 
"expect", and "intend", statements that an action or event "may", "might", "could", "should", or 
"will" be taken or occur, or other similar expressions. All statements, other than statements of 
historical fact, included herein including without limitation, statements about the future 
expenditures and capital needs of the Company and future financings and acquisitions are 
forward-looking statements.  
 
Forward looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be 
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied 
by the forward-looking information.  
 
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive. The forward-looking 
information contained in this MD&A is expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. Except 
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as required by applicable securities laws, the Company does not undertake any obligation to 
publicly update or revise any forward-looking information. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND OVERVIEW 
 
SG Spirit Gold Inc. (the “Company” or “SG Spirit Gold”) is an exploration stage company whose 
common shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange and is in the business of acquiring, 
exploring and evaluating mineral resource properties. All of the Company’s exploration and 
evaluation assets are located in Canada. The address of the Company’s registered office is 
#2200 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3E8.   
 
At present, the Company maintains approximately 1,175 hectares of exploration and evaluation 
property located in the East Kootenay region of British Columbia known as the LOV Property.  
The LOV Property was previously optioned to Bearclaw Capital Corp. (“Bearclaw”), granting 
Bearclaw the option to earn up to an 80% interest in the property.  All mineral claims relating to 
the LOV Property were returned to the Company by Bearclaw in October 2012 in addition to all 
assessment reports, logs and other technical data that Bearclaw had compiled on the LOV 
Property during the option period.    
 
The Company currently has no plans with respect to the LOV property. 
 
Further to the news release dated March 11, 2016, the Company entered into a definitive 
agreement (“agreement”)”, dated May 26, 2016 with ArcScan Inc. (“ArcScan”).  ArcScan is a 
privately held company, incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, which has 
developed and has commenced the commercialization of the latest evolution of ultrasonic 
imaging technology. In accordance with the terms of the definitive agreement, ArcScan was to 
merge with SG Spirit Subco LLC which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant 
to the laws of the State of Delaware, following which the resulting merged entity would continue 
as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. In consideration for completion of the merger, 
the current holders of ArcScan common shares and preferred A shares were to be issued one 
post consolidated common share of the Company in exchange for every one common share of 
ArcScan that they held.  The transaction, when complete, would be considered a reverse 
takeover.  The transaction was subject to regulatory approvals and trading in shares of the 
Company was halted pending completion of the transaction. 
 
On October 25, 2016 SG Spirit Gold announced that the definitive agreement and plan of 
merger entered into between the Company and ArcScan, Inc. had expired and would not be 
further extended. Trading in the Company`s shares resumed on October 27, 2016. 
 
On September 30, 2016 the Company announced that, effective immediately, it had 
reconstituted its board of directors to consist of Richard Grayston, Mark Ferguson and Richard 
Ko. Mr. Grayston was appointed CEO of the Company and Mr. Ferguson was appointed CFO. 
 
On February 10, 2017, the Company entered into a definitive amalgamation agreement (the 
"Definitive Agreement") with Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limited ("DOJA"), pursuant to 
which the Company proposes to acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of DOJA. 
 
In accordance with the terms of the Definitive Agreement DOJA will amalgamate with a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, following which the resulting amalgamated entity will 
continue as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. In consideration for the completion of 
this transaction the current holders of DOJA class "A" voting common shares will be issued one-
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and-eight-tenths (1.8) common shares of the Company in exchange for every share of DOJA 
they hold. Existing convertible securities of DOJA will be exchanged for convertible securities of 
the Company, on substantially the same terms, and applying the same exchange ratio.  
 
On March 29, 2017 the Company appointed a syndicate of agents to sell by way of private 
placement up to 13,333,333 subscription receipts of the Company at a price of $0.75 per 
subscription receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $10,000,000. Concurrently with the 
closing of the transaction contemplated in the Definitive Agreement each subscription receipt 
will be automatically exchanged into "Units" of the Company. Each Unit shall consist of one (1) 
common share of the Company and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. Each 
whole warrant shall entitle the holder to acquire one (1) additional common share of the 
Company at an exercise price of $1.25 for a period of 24 months from the date of issuance. 
 
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
The following financial data are selected information for the Company for the three most 
recently completed financial years:  
 

 December 31,  
2016   

December 31, 
2015 

December 31, 
2014 

    
Net loss for the year $ (211,338) $ (62,902) $ (399,305) 
Net comprehensive loss for 
the year 

 
(211,338)  (57,902)  (394,305) 

Basic and diluted loss per 
share (0.02) (0.07) 

 
(0.42) 

Total assets 94,113 3,959 68,444 
 
Results for 2016 were dominated by efforts made by the Company to conduct due diligence 
regarding the acquisition of ArcScan, which effort were terminated in October, 2016. 
 
The 2015 fiscal year was devoted to reviewing Company alternatives and possible exploration 
initiatives fort the LOV property. Coincidentally management maintained minimal expenditure 
levels while seeking additional financing. 
 
Results for 2014 were dominated by impairment charges concerning the LOV property and 
other east Kootenay property interests formerly held by the Company. 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
The following selected financial data is derived from the financial statements of the Company 
prepared within acceptable limits of materiality and is in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 
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Operating Results for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2017 
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2017 SG Spirit Gold incurred a loss of $35,053 
($0.00 per share) compared to a loss of $138,632 ($0.02 per share) in the same period of  
2015. Consulting fees were $7,500 in the first quarter of 2017 versus $1,000 in the first three 
months of 2016.The increase occurred because CEO of the Company, appointed September 
30, 2016, receives a $2,500 per month consulting fee for his services whereas prior to 
September 30, 2016 the officers of the Company received management fees. Filing fees were 
$8,700 in the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to a $5,520 in the first three 
months of 2016. Interest expense was $NIL in the quarter ended March 31, 2017 compared with 
$1,225 in the first three months of 2016 as all interest-bearing loans were repaid with the 
proceeds of the February, 2016 private placement. SG Spirit Gold experienced a $1,500 
recovery of management fees in the 2017 period compared to management fees of $4,000 in 
the 2015 period. These changes reflect the change in management at September 30, 2016. 
Office costs were minimal in the two three month periods: 2017 - $854, 2016 - $1,387. The 
Company paid  professional fees of $17,914 in the first quarter of 2017 as a result of the initial 
efforts to complete a transaction with DOJA while professional fees were $33,396 in the first 
quarter of 2016 as the Company focussed on completing the proposed ArcScan transaction. 
The Company had transfer agent fees of $1,585 in the 2017 period versus $NIL in the 2016 
period. Share based compensation costs were $NIL in the first three months of 2017 versus 
$70,537 in the first three months of 2016; the latter incurred as a result of the issuance of 
1,300,000 stock options in February, 2016. Travel costs were $NIL in the three months ended 
March 31, 2017 versus $21,567 in the first three months of 2016 as a result of due diligence 
efforts concerning the proposed ArcScan transaction. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  
 
As at March 31, 2017, the Company had cash of $168,780, amounts receivable of $2,126,  and 
current liabilities of $72,114. As a result SG Spirit Gold had a working capital of $98,792.  
 
Cash Flow 
 
Cash used in operating activities during the three months ended March 31, 2017 amounted to 
$70,797, compared to $500,176 during the first quarter of 2016.  The private placement in 
February, 2016 which allowed for a substantial reduction of accounts payable along with the 
ongoing ArcScan efforts were the principal reasons for the greater use of cash in  2016. 
 
In the first three months of 2017 the Company raised a net $146,400 ($110,000 from the 
exercise of warrants and $36,400 from the exercise of stock options) in cash. In the first three 
months of 2016 SG Spirit Gold raised a net $566,302 in cash primarily from a private placement 

3 Months 
ended Mar 
31, 2017     

$

3 Months 
ended  Dec 
31, 2016     

$

3 Months 
ended  Sept 

30, 2016     
$

3 Months 
ended June 

30, 2016      
$

3 Months 
ended Mar 
31, 2016     

$

3 Months 
ended  Dec 
31, 2015     

$

3 Months 
ended  Sept 

30, 2015     
$

3 Months 
ended June 

30, 2015      
$

Total revenue Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Net loss 35,053         22,918         13,238          36,550           138,632       28,091         16,807          13,096           

Net loss per share, basic and diluted 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.03 0.02 0.01

Total assets 170,906       94,113         35,896          48,071           71,703         3,959           83,269          92,989           

Total liabilities 72,114         106,668       77,841          63,878           50,960         516,960       558,179        541,092         

Total shareholders' equity (deficiency) 98,792         (12,555)        (41,945)         (15,807)         20,743         (513,001)      (474,910)       (448,103)       
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that realized gross proceeds of $605,000.  
 
At present, the Company has no producing properties and consequently has no current 
operating income or cash flows. The Company is actively seeking additional sources of 
financing to pay its ongoing working capital needs and finance the acquisition of new projects.  
The Company intends to finance its future requirements through a combination of debt and/or 
equity issuance. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain such financings 
or obtain them on favorable terms. These uncertainties cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.     
 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held in a Schedule 1 Canadian financial 
institution and its affiliated brokerage house in highly liquid accounts and interest bearing 
investments. No amounts have been or are invested in asset-backed commercial paper. 
 
To date, the Company’s operations, exploration and evaluation activities have been almost 
entirely financed from equity financings. The Company will continue to identify financing 
opportunities in order to provide additional financial flexibility and to continue the development of 
its property portfolio, meet land claim expenditure requirements and other commitments. While 
the Company has been successful raising the necessary funds in the past, there can be no 
assurance it can do so in the future. 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2017 the Company incurred $7,500 (2016 - $4,000) 
in management fees to directors, former directors or companies controlled by directors or former 
directors. At March 31, 2017 the Company owed directors, former directors or companies 
controlled by former directors amounts totaling $27,650 (2016 - $10,500) in respect of these 
fees, which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
 
CAPITAL STOCK  
 
Common Shares 
 
The Company's share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares. 
 
As at March 31, 2017 there are 15,211,457 common shares outstanding. 
 
Common shares issued during the year ended December 31, 2016: 
 
On February 9, 2016, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 12,100,000 
units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $605,000.  Each unit consists of one 
common share of the Company and one share purchase warrant entitling the holder to acquire 
an additional share at a price of $0.10 per share for a period of 5 years. The Company paid 
$16,061 in share issue costs related to this private placement. 
 
In addition, 800,000 shares were issued following the exercise 800,000 warrants originally 
issued as part of the February 9, 2016 private placement. 
 
Common shares issued during the three months ended March 31, 2017: 
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1,100,000 warrants were exercised resulting in the issuance of 1,100,000 common shares at 
$0.12 per share. 
 
260,000 stock options were exercised resulting in the issuance of 260,000 common shares at 
$0.14 per share. 
 
Share Purchase Warrants 
 
On February 9, 2016 the Company issued 12,100,000 share purchase warrants. Each warrant 
entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.10 per share 
for a period of five years. The warrants expire on February 9, 2021. 
 
800,000 of these warrants were exercised in 2016, leaving 11,300,000 warrants outstanding at 
December 31, 2016. 
 
 In the first quarter of 2017 a further 1,100,000 warrants were exercised leaving 10,200,000 
warrants outstanding as at March 31, 2017. 
 
Stock Options 
 
On February 9, 2016, the Company granted 1,300,000 incentive stock options to directors and 
officers.  The incentive stock options have an exercise price of $0.08 per share, expire one year 
from the date of grant and vest immediately. These stock options were cancelled on September 
30, 2016. 
 
On November 30, 2016 the Company approved the issuance of 520,000 options to consultants 
at an exercise price of $0.14. These options were granted for a period of five years and vest 
immediately. During the first three months of 2017 260,000 of these options were exercised. As 
a result 260,000 options remain outstanding exercisable at $0.14 per share until November 30, 
2021. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies regarding certain types of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements is included in the following notes: 
 
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments regarding the 
going concern of the Company, as discussed in Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2016. In addition, management has made judgments 
regarding the functional currency of the Company, and has determined that the functional 
currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar. 
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 

Because a precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, 
the preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the 
disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates and such differences could be significant. Significant estimates made by management 
affecting the consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets  

  
At the end of each reporting period the carrying amounts of the Company’s exploration and 
evaluation assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that they have 
suffered an impairment loss or reversal of previous impairment.  Where such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment.   

 
Share-based payments 

 
Estimating fair value for granted stock options requires determining the most appropriate 
valuation model which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also 
requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected 
life of the option, volatility, dividend yield, and rate of forfeitures and making assumptions about 
them. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities based on an assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax 
deductions against future taxable income prior to expiry of those deductions. Management 
assesses whether it is probable that some or all of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and liabilities is dependent 
upon the generation of future taxable income, which in turn is dependent upon the successful 
discovery, development and commercialization of mineral reserves. To the extent that 
management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize future tax deductions changes, 
the Company would be required to recognize more or less deferred tax assets or liabilities, and 
deferred income tax provisions or recoveries could be affected. 
 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
For a summary of the Company’s accounting policies and new accounting standards to be 
adopted, see Note 3 of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2016. 
 
RISK FACTORS 
 
The exploration of mineral deposits involves significant risks, which even a combination of 
careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. Certain of the more immediate 
risk factors are discussed below. 
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Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may serve from time to time as directors, 
officers, promoters and members of management of other companies involved in natural 
resource exploration and development and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise 
between their duties as a director or officers of the Company and their duties as a director, 
officer, promoter or member of management of such other companies. The directors and 
officers of the Company are aware of the existence of laws governing accountability of directors 
and officers for corporate opportunity and requiring disclosures by directors of conflicts of 
interest and the Company will rely upon such laws in respect of any directors’ and officers’ 
conflicts of interest or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors or officers. All 
such conflicts will be disclosed by such directors or officers in accordance with applicable laws 
and the directors and officers will govern themselves in respect thereof to the best of their ability 
in accordance with the obligations imposed upon them by law. 
 
Third Party Credit Risk 
 
The Company may be exposed to third party credit risk through its contractual arrangements 
with future joint venture partners and other parties.  In the event such entities fail to meet their 
contractual obligations to the Company, such failures may have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.  In addition, poor 
credit conditions in the industry and of joint venture partners may impact a joint venture 
partner’s willingness to participate in the Company’s ongoing capital program, potentially 
delaying the program and the results of such program until the Company finds a suitable 
alternative partner. 
 
Exploration, Evaluation and Development 
 
Mineral exploration, evaluation and development involve a high degree of risk and few 
properties that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. There is no 
assurance that the Company’s mineral exploration and evaluation activities will result in any 
discoveries of new bodies of commercial ore.  There is also no assurance that presently 
identified mineralization can be mined at a profit.  Discovery of mineral deposits is dependent 
upon a number of factors and significantly influenced by the technical skill of the exploration 
personnel involved. 
 
The commercial viability of a mineral deposit is also dependent upon a number of factors, some 
of which are beyond the Company’s control such as commodity prices, exchange rates, 
government policies and regulation and environmental protection. 
 
Financing 
 
The Company does not currently have any operations generating cash to fund projected levels 
of exploration and evaluation activity and associated overhead costs. The Company is therefore 
dependent upon debt and equity financing to carry out its exploration and evaluation plans. 
There can be no assurance that such financing will be available to the Company.  In the future, 
the Company will require additional funding to maintain its properties in good standing. The lack 
of additional financing could result in delay or indefinite postponement of further exploration and 
possible, partial, or total loss of the Company’s interest in its exploration and evaluation assets. 
 
 



 

9 
 

Commodity Price Volatility 
 
The market prices for commodities are volatile. The Company does not have any control over 
such prices or volatility. Lower commodity prices could make it more difficult for the Company to 
obtain financing for its current or new mineral projects.  There is no assurance that if 
commercial quantities of mineralization are discovered, a profitable market will exist for a 
production decision to be made or for the ultimate sale of production at a profit.  As the 
Company is currently not in production, no sensitivity analysis for price changes has been 
provided. 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements as at the date hereof. 
 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, amounts receivables and accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities.   

 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  

 
Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations.  The Company’s cash is held at a large Canadian 
financial institution in interest bearing accounts.   

 
The Company’s receivables consist mainly of Goods and Services Tax receivable due from the 
Government of Canada, and as such the Company does not believe there is significant credit 
risk with respect to accounts receivable. 
 
Liquidity Risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due.  
 
The Company manages liquidity risk through its capital management as outlined in Note 11 to 
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.  
 
As at March 31, 2017, the Company has sufficient cash to settle all of its accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities.  The Company will need to raise additional funds through equity or debt to 
continue with its operations. 

 
Market Risk 

 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest 
rates, commodity and equity prices and foreign exchange rates. 
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Interest Rate Risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
 
Price Risk 

 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity, equity and marketable 
security prices. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and 
economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. The prices of these 
commodities affect the value of the Company and the potential value of its property and 
investments.  Equity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s 
earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or general movements in the level of the 
stock market. The Company closely monitors commodity prices of precious metals, individual 
equity movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company. 
 
Currency Risk 

 
As at March 31, 2017, the Company’s expenditures are predominantly in Canadian dollars, and 
any future equity raised is expected to be predominantly in Canadian dollars. As a result, the 
Company does not believe it is exposed to any significant currency risk. 
 
INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
There have been no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during 
the three months ended March 31 2017, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting. 
 
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 
On April 28, 2017 the Company and DOJA agree to amend the terms of the Definitive 
Agreement. Completion of the acquisition of DOJA is now subject to, among other things, the 
Company completing a consolidation of its issued and outstanding share capital on a three-for-
one basis, DOJA completing a financing for gross proceeds of at least $3,000,000 on or before 
May 31, 2017, receipt of any required shareholder, regulatory and third party consents, the 
Canadian Securities Exchange having conditionally accepted the listing of the Company's 
common shares, the TSX Venture Exchange having consented to the voluntary delisting of the 
Company's common shares and the satisfaction of other customary closing conditions. 
 
After the amalgamation process is complete, the Company will change its name to DOJA 
Cannabis Company Limited. The acquisition is expected to close in June, 2017. 
 
Additional information relating to the Company is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  
 
APPROVAL 
 
The Board of Directors of SG Spirit Gold Inc. has approved the disclosure contained in this 
MD&A. 
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SG SPIRIT GOLD INC. 
MANAGEMENT`S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 

FOR THE THREE MONTHS AND YEAR  ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 

 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
This Management’s Discussion & Analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to supplement and 
complement the consolidated financial statements of SG Spirit Gold Inc. (the “Company” or “SG 
Spirit Gold”). The information provided herein should be read in conjunction with the Company’s  
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 including the 
accompanying notes.  
 
All dollar figures presented are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. The  
consolidated financial statements of the Company and summary information derived therefrom 
have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34, Interim 
Financial Reporting.  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial statements, 
including the maintenance of appropriate information systems, procedures and internal controls 
and to ensure that information used internally or disclosed externally, including the financial 
statements and MD&A, is complete and reliable. The Company’s Board of Directors follows 
recommended corporate governance guidelines for public companies to ensure transparency 
and accountability to shareholders.  The Board’s audit committee meets with management 
quarterly to review the consolidated financial statements, including the MD&A, and to discuss 
other financial, operating and internal control matters. 
 
This MD&A is dated May 1, 2017 and presents material information up to this date. 
 
The reader is encouraged to review the Company’s statutory filings on www.sedar.com. 
 
FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 
 
Information set forth in this MD&A contains certain "forward-looking  statements" under 
applicable securities laws. Forward-looking statements relate to future, not past, events. In this 
context, forward-looking statements often address expected future business and financial 
performance, and often contain words such as "anticipate", "believe", "plan", "estimate", 
"expect", and "intend", statements that an action or event "may", "might", "could", "should", or 
"will" be taken or occur, or other similar expressions. All statements, other than statements of 
historical fact, included herein including without limitation, statements about the future 
expenditures and capital needs of the Company and future financings and acquisitions are 
forward-looking statements.  
 
Forward looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be 
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied 
by the forward-looking information.  
 
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive. The forward-looking 
information contained in this MD&A is expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. Except 
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as required by applicable securities laws, the Company does not undertake any obligation to 
publicly update or revise any forward-looking information. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND OVERVIEW 
 
SG Spirit Gold Inc. (the “Company” or “SG Spirit Gold”) is an exploration stage company whose 
common shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange and is in the business of acquiring, 
exploring and evaluating mineral resource properties. All of the Company’s exploration and 
evaluation assets are located in Canada. The address of the Company’s registered office is 
#2200 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3E8.   
 
At present, the Company maintains approximately 1,175 hectares of exploration and evaluation 
property located in the East Kootenay region of British Columbia known as the LOV Property.  
The LOV Property was previously optioned to Bearclaw Capital Corp. (“Bearclaw”), granting 
them the option to earn up to an 80% interest in the property.  All mineral claims relating to the 
LOV Property were returned to the Company by Bearclaw in October 2012 in addition to all 
assessment reports, logs and other technical data that Bearclaw had compiled on the LOV 
Property during the option period.    
 
The Company currently has no plans with respect to the LOV property. 
 
Further to the news release dated March 11, 2016, the Company entered into a definitive 
agreement (“agreement”)”, dated May 26, 2016 with ArcScan Inc. (“ArcScan”).  ArcScan is a 
privately held company, incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, which has 
developed and has commenced the commercialization of the latest evolution of ultrasonic 
imaging technology. In accordance with the terms of the definitive agreement, ArcScan was to 
merge with SG Spirit Subco LLC which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant 
to the laws of the State of Delaware, following which the resulting merged entity would continue 
as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. In consideration for completion of the merger, 
the current holders of ArcScan common shares and preferred A shares were to be issued one 
post consolidated common share of the Company in exchange for every one common share of 
ArcScan that they held.  The transaction, when complete, would be considered a reverse 
takeover.  The transaction was subject to regulatory approvals and trading in shares of the 
Company was halted pending completion of the transaction. 
 
On October 25, 2016 SG Spirit Gold announced that the definitive agreement and plan of 
merger entered into between the Company and ArcScan, Inc. had expired and would not be 
further extended. Trading in the Company`s shares resumed on October 27, 2016. 
 
The Company also intends to seek additional resource and/or business opportunities which 
might increase returns to investors.  
 
On September 30, 2016 the Company announced that, effective immediately, it had 
reconstituted its board of directors to consist of Richard Grayston, Mark Ferguson and Richard 
Ko. Mr. Grayston was appointed CEO of the Company and Mr. Ferguson was appointed CFO. 
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
The following financial data are selected information for the Company for the three most 
recently completed financial years:  
 

 December 31,  
2016   

December 31, 
2015 

December 31, 
2014 

    
Net loss for the year $ (211,338) $ (62,902) $ (399,305) 
Net comprehensive loss for 
the year 

 
(211,338)  (57,902)  (394,305) 

Basic and diluted loss per 
share (0.02) (0.07) 

 
(0.42) 

Total assets 94,113 3,959 68,444 
 
Results for 2016 were dominated by efforts made by the Company to conduct due diligence 
regarding the acquisition of ArcScan, which effort were terminated in October, 2016. 
 
The 2015 fiscal year was devoted to reviewing Company alternatives and possible exploration 
initiatives fort the LOV property. Coincidentally management maintained minimal expenditure 
levels while seeking additional financing. 
 
Results for 2014 were dominated by impairment charges concerning the LOV property and 
other east Kootenay property interests formerly held by the Company. 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
The following selected financial data is derived from the financial statements of the Company 
prepared within acceptable limits of materiality and is in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 
 

 
 
 
Operating Results for the Three Months Ended December 31, 2016 
 
During the three months ended December 31, 2016 SG Spirit Gold incurred a loss of $22,918 
($0.00 per share) compared to a loss of $28,091($0.03 per share) in the same period of  2015. 
Depreciation expense was $NIL in the 2016 three months compared to $90 in the 2015 period 
as the Company wrote-off the remaining balance in the Equipment account in 2016. Filing fees 
were $414 in the three months ended December 31, 2016 compared to a recovery of $630 in 
the same three months of 2015. Interest expense was a recovery in both periods: $171 in the 

3 Months 
ended  Dec 
31, 2016     

$

3 Months 
ended  Sept 

30, 2016     
$

3 Months 
ended June 

30, 2016      
$

3 Months 
ended Mar 
31, 2016     

$

3 Months 
ended  Dec 
31, 2015     

$

3 Months 
ended  Sept 

30, 2015     
$

3 Months 
ended June 

30, 2015      
$

3 Months 
ended Mar 
31, 2015     

$

Total revenue Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Net loss 22,918         13,238          36,550           138,632       28,091         16,807          13,096           4,908           

Net loss per share, basic and diluted 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.03 0.02 0.01 0.00

Total assets 94,113         35,896          48,071           71,703         3,959           83,269          92,989           93,131         

Total liabilities 106,668       77,841          63,878           50,960         516,960       558,179        541,092         528,138       

Total shareholders' deficiency (equity) 12,555         41,945          15,807           (20,743)       513,001       474,910        448,103         435,007       
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2016 period compared to $1,029 in the 2015 period. The Company retired outstanding loans in 
the 2016 period with the proceeds of the February, 2016 private placement. SG Spirit Gold paid 
$27,500 in management fees in the 2016 period compared to management fees of $8,000 in the 
2015 period. The higher fees paid in the 2016 period are attributable to the payment of retiring 
allowances paid to officers and directors who left the Company on October 1, 2016. Office costs 
were minimal in the two three month periods: 2016 - (592), 2015 - $659. The Company paid  
professional fees of $24,159 in the 2016 period as a result of the termination of the proposed 
ArcScan transaction versus a recovery of professional fees in the amount of $3,999 in the 2015 
period. The Company had transfer agent fees of $1,227 in the 2016 period versus $NIL in the 
2015 period. A net recovery of share based compensation occurred in the 2016 three months: 
$27,692.This was caused by the cancellation, in the year of issuance, of 1,300,000 stock 
options, followed by the issuance of 520,000 options in November, 2016.  Lastly, the Company 
incurred an unrealized loss on marketable securities in the amount of $25,000 in the last three 
months of 2015. 
 
Operating Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 
 
In the year ended December 31, 2016 SG Spirit Gold incurred a loss of $211,338 ($0.02 per 
share) compared to a loss of $62,902 ($0.07 per share) in the 2015 fiscal year. A number of 
expense categories were higher in the 2016 period as a result of efforts expended on the 
proposed ArcScan transaction: Filing fees - $8,434 in 2016  versus $3,924 in 2015; Transfer 
agent fees of $6,861 in 2016 versus $NIL in 2015: Travel of $21,568 in fiscal 2016 versus $NIL 
in 2015; and Consulting fees were $28,500 in 2016 versus $1,211 in 2015. Depreciation was 
higher in 2016, at $1,082, compared to 2015, at $270, as the Company wrote-off the remaining 
equipment balance in 2016. Interest cost was  lower in fiscal 2016, at $1,225, than in 2015,  
when it was $1,837, as the Company repaid loans in 2016 with part of the proceeds of the 
February, 2016 private placement. Management fees totaled $23,000 in 2016 versus $20,000 in 
2015 with the 2016 expense including $10,000 in resignation bonuses when new management 
was retained after terminating the proposed ArcScan transaction.  Office costs were $1,683 in 
2016  versus $9,896 in 2015. Professional fees were substantially higher in 2016, at $78,067, 
than in 2015, when they were $3,698, because of the significant efforts to acquire ArcScan plus 
initial work on a Letter of Intent regarding another possible acquisition. The Company incurred a 
share based compensation expense of $42,845 in 2016 versus $NIL in 2015 as a result of stock 
option transactions in 2016.  
 
Lastly, there were several transactions in the "Other expense (income)" category between the 
two fiscal years: In 2016 the Company recovered tax in the amount of $1,927; in 2015 the 
Company had a gain on an account payable write-off of $3,024 and a realized loss on 
marketable securities in the amount of $25,000. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  
 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had cash of $93,177, amounts receivable of $936,  and 
current liabilities of $106,668. As a result SG Spirit Gold had a working capital deficiency of 
$12,555. Additional equity or debt financing will be required. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be able to obtain adequate financing to achieve its objectives. 
 
Cash Flow 
 
Cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2016 amounted to 
$539,794, compared to $77,889 during the prior year.  A larger loss in the 2016 period,  
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because of ArcScan efforts and payment of accounts payable in  2016, was the principal 
reasons for the greater use of cash in  2016. 
 
In 2015 the Company received $45,000 from the sale of marketable securities. 
 
The Company raised a net $633,402 in cash  as a result of financing activities in 2016 
compared to a net $33,700 raised in 2015. The monies raised in the 2016 period resulted from a 
private placement of $605,000, from which the Company paid share issue costs of $16,061 and 
repaid loans in the amount of $38,037, and received $80,000 cash as a result of exercise of 
warrants. In 2015 the Company received loans in the net amount of $33,700. 
 
At present, the Company has no producing properties and consequently has no current 
operating income or cash flows. The Company does not have sufficient cash to cover its 
working capital deficit. The Company is actively seeking additional sources of financing to pay 
its ongoing working capital needs and finance the acquisition of new projects.  The Company 
intends to finance its future requirements through a combination of debt and/or equity issuance. 
There is no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain such financings or obtain them 
on favorable terms. These uncertainties cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.     
 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held in a Schedule 1 Canadian financial 
institution and its affiliated brokerage house in highly liquid accounts and interest bearing 
investments. No amounts have been or are invested in asset-backed commercial paper. 
 
To date, the Company’s operations, exploration and evaluation activities have been almost 
entirely financed from equity financings. The Company will continue to identify financing 
opportunities in order to provide additional financial flexibility and to continue the development of 
its property portfolio, meet land claim expenditure requirements and other commitments. While 
the Company has been successful raising the necessary funds in the past, there can be no 
assurance it can do so in the future. 
 
LOANS PAYABLE 
 
 Loans payable in the amount of $NIL (December 31, 2015 - $35,537) are unsecured and bear 
interest at 10% per annum. The lender has the option to be repaid in cash or shares of the 
Company. The Company repaid all loans in cash during the year ended December 31, 2016. 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2016 the Company incurred $30,500 (2015 - $20,000) in 
management fees, including $10,000 in resignation bonuses, payable to directors, former 
directors or companies controlled by directors or former directors. At December 31, 2016 the 
Company owed a director and former directors or companies controlled by former directors 
amounts totaling $25,475 (2015 - $4,200) in respect of these fees, which is included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities. 
 
CAPITAL STOCK  
 
Common Shares 
 
The Company's share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares. 
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As at December 31, 2016 there are 13,851,457 common shares outstanding. 
 
Common shares issued during the year ended December 31, 2016: 
 
On February 9, 2016, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 12,100,000 
units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $605,000.  Each unit consists of one 
common share of the Company and one share purchase warrant entitling the holder to acquire 
an additional share at a price of $0.10 per share for a period of 5 years. The Company paid 
$16,061 in share issue costs related to this private placement. 
 
In addition, 800,000 shares were issued following the exercise 800,000 warrants issued as part 
of the February 9, 2016 private placement. 
 
There were no common share issuances during the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
Share Purchase Warrants 
 
On February 9, 2016 the Company issued 12,100,000 share purchase warrants. Each warrant 
entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.10 per share 
for a period of five years. The warrants expire on February 9, 2021. 
 
800,000 of these warrants were exercised in 2016, leaving 11,300,000 warrants outstanding at 
December 31, 2016. 
 
Stock Options 
 
On February 9, 2016, the Company granted 1,300,000 incentive stock options to directors and 
officers.  The incentive stock options have an exercise price of $0.08 per share, expire one year 
from the date of grant and vest immediately. These stock options were cancelled on September 
30, 2016. 
 
On November 30, 2016 the Company approved the issuance of 520,000 options to consultants 
at an exercise price of $0.14. These options were granted for a period of five years and vest 
immediately. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies regarding certain types of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements is included in the following notes: 
 
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments regarding the 
going concern of the Company, as discussed in Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements. 



 

7 
 

In addition, management has made judgments regarding the functional currency of the 
Company, and has determined that the functional currency of the Company is the Canadian 
dollar. 
 
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 
Because a precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, 
the preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the 
disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates and such differences could be significant. Significant estimates made by management 
affecting the consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets  

  
At the end of each reporting period the carrying amounts of the Company’s exploration and 
evaluation assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that they have 
suffered an impairment loss or reversal of previous impairment.  Where such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment.   

 
Share-based payments 

 
Estimating fair value for granted stock options requires determining the most appropriate 
valuation model which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also 
requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected 
life of the option, volatility, dividend yield, and rate of forfeitures and making assumptions about 
them. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities based on an assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax 
deductions against future taxable income prior to expiry of those deductions. Management 
assesses whether it is probable that some or all of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and liabilities is dependent 
upon the generation of future taxable income, which in turn is dependent upon the successful 
discovery, development and commercialization of mineral reserves. To the extent that 
management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize future tax deductions changes, 
the Company would be required to recognize more or less deferred tax assets or liabilities, and 
deferred income tax provisions or recoveries could be affected. 
 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
For a summary of the Company’s accounting policies and new accounting standards to be 
adopted, see Note 3 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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RISK FACTORS 
 
The exploration of mineral deposits involves significant risks, which even a combination of 
careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. Certain of the more immediate 
risk factors are discussed below. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may serve from time to time as directors, 
officers, promoters and members of management of other companies involved in natural 
resource exploration and development and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise 
between their duties as a director or officers of the Company and their duties as a director, 
officer, promoter or member of management of such other companies. The directors and 
officers of the Company are aware of the existence of laws governing accountability of directors 
and officers for corporate opportunity and requiring disclosures by directors of conflicts of 
interest and the Company will rely upon such laws in respect of any directors’ and officers’ 
conflicts of interest or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors or officers. All 
such conflicts will be disclosed by such directors or officers in accordance with applicable laws 
and the directors and officers will govern themselves in respect thereof to the best of their ability 
in accordance with the obligations imposed upon them by law. 
 
Third Party Credit Risk 
 
The Company may be exposed to third party credit risk through its contractual arrangements 
with future joint venture partners and other parties.  In the event such entities fail to meet their 
contractual obligations to the Company, such failures may have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.  In addition, poor 
credit conditions in the industry and of joint venture partners may impact a joint venture 
partner’s willingness to participate in the Company’s ongoing capital program, potentially 
delaying the program and the results of such program until the Company finds a suitable 
alternative partner. 
 
 
Exploration, Evaluation and Development 
 
Mineral exploration, evaluation and development involve a high degree of risk and few 
properties that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. There is no 
assurance that the Company’s mineral exploration and evaluation activities will result in any 
discoveries of new bodies of commercial ore.  There is also no assurance that presently 
identified mineralization can be mined at a profit.  Discovery of mineral deposits is dependent 
upon a number of factors and significantly influenced by the technical skill of the exploration 
personnel involved. 
 
The commercial viability of a mineral deposit is also dependent upon a number of factors, some 
of which are beyond the Company’s control such as commodity prices, exchange rates, 
government policies and regulation and environmental protection. 
 
Financing 
 
The Company does not currently have any operations generating cash to fund projected levels 
of exploration and evaluation activity and associated overhead costs. The Company is therefore 
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dependent upon debt and equity financing to carry out its exploration and evaluation plans. 
There can be no assurance that such financing will be available to the Company.  In the future, 
the Company will require additional funding to maintain its properties in good standing. The lack 
of additional financing could result in delay or indefinite postponement of further exploration and 
possible, partial, or total loss of the Company’s interest in its exploration and evaluation assets. 
 
Commodity Price Volatility 
 
The market prices for commodities are volatile. The Company does not have any control over 
such prices or volatility. Lower commodity prices could make it more difficult for the Company to 
obtain financing for its current or new mineral projects.  There is no assurance that if 
commercial quantities of mineralization are discovered, a profitable market will exist for a 
production decision to be made or for the ultimate sale of production at a profit.  As the 
Company is currently not in production, no sensitivity analysis for price changes has been 
provided. 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, bank indebtedness, marketable securities, 
receivables, reclamation deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and loans payable.   

 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks.  

 
Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations.  The Company’s cash is held at a large Canadian 
financial institution in interest bearing accounts.   

 
The Company’s receivables consist mainly of Goods and Services Tax receivable due from the 
Government of Canada, and as such the Company does not believe there is significant credit 
risk with respect to accounts receivable. 
 
Liquidity Risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due.  
 
The Company manages liquidity risk through its capital management as outlined in Note 11 to 
the consolidated financial statements.  
 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company does not have the cash resources to settle all of its 
current liabilities.  The Company will need to raise additional funds through equity or debt to 
continue with its operations. 
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Market Risk 
 

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest 
rates, commodity and equity prices and foreign exchange rates. 

 
Interest Rate Risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
 
Price Risk 

 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity, equity and marketable 
security prices. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and 
economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. The prices of these 
commodities affect the value of the Company and the potential value of its property and 
investments.  Equity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s 
earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or general movements in the level of the 
stock market. The Company closely monitors commodity prices of precious metals, individual 
equity movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company. 
 
Currency Risk 

 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s expenditures are predominantly in Canadian dollars, 
and any future equity raised is expected to be predominantly in Canadian dollars. As a result, 
the Company does not believe it is exposed to any significant currency risk. 
 
INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
There have been no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during 
the year ended December 31 2016, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting. 
 
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 
On February 10, 2017, the Company entered into a definitive amalgamation agreement (the 
"Definitive Agreement") with Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limited ("DOJA"), pursuant to 
which the Company proposes to acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of DOJA. 
 
In accordance with the terms of the Definitive Agreement DOJA will amalgamate with a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, following which the resulting amalgamated entity will 
continue as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. In consideration for the completion of 
this transaction the current holders of DOJA class "A" voting common shares will be issued one-
and-eight-tenths (1.8) common shares of the Company in exchange for every share of DOJA 
they hold. Existing convertible securities of DOJA will be exchanged for convertible securities of 
the Company, on substantially the same terms, and applying the same exchange ratio.  
 
On April 28, 2017 the Company and DOJA agree to amend the terms of the Definitive 
Agreement. Completion of the acquisition of DOJA is now subject to, among other things, the 
Company completing a consolidation of its issued and outstanding share capital on a three-for-
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one basis, DOJA completing a financing for gross proceeds of at least $3,000,000 on or before 
May 31, 2017, receipt of any required shareholder, regulatory and third party consents, the 
Canadian Securities Exchange having conditionally accepted the listing of the Company's 
common shares, the TSX Venture Exchange having consented to the voluntary delisting of the 
Company's common shares and the satisfaction of other customary closing conditions. 
 
After the amalgamation process is complete, the Company will change its name to DOJA 
Cannabis Company Limited. The acquisition is expected to close in June, 2017. 
 
On March 29, 2017 the Company appointed a syndicate of agents to sell by way of private 
placement up to 13,333,333 subscription receipts of the Company at a price of $0.75 per 
subscription receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $10,000,000. Concurrently with the 
closing of the transaction contemplated in the Definitive Agreement each subscription receipt 
will be automatically exchanged into "Units" of the Company. Each Unit shall consist of one (1) 
common share of the Company and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. Each 
whole warrant shall entitle the holder to acquire one (1) additional common share of the 
Company at an exercise price of $1.25 for a period of 24 months from the date of issuance. 
 
Subsequent to year end 260,000 options and 1,100,000 warrants were exercised at $0.14 and 
$0.10 per share respectively for proceeds of $146,400. 
 
Additional information relating to the Company is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  
 
APPROVAL 
 
The Board of Directors of SG Spirit Gold Inc. has approved the disclosure contained in this 
MD&A. 
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Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limited  
 
Management Discussion & Analysis 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 
 
 
Introduction 
 
This MD&A is dated as of July 10, 2017, the date it was approved by the Board of Directors of Northern 
Lights Marijuana Company Limited (“NLMCO” or the “Company”), and reflects all material events up to that 
date. 
 
It should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended March 
31, 2017, including the notes thereof.  
 
For reporting purposes, the Company prepares consolidated financial statements in Canadian dollars in 
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar 
(‘‘$’’) amounts in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars. Additional information relating to the 
Company is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
Business Overview 
 
NLMCO is a company incorporated under the British Columbia Business Corporations Act on October 26, 
2012 under the name Kitsch Real Estate Holdings Ltd.  On October 8, 2013, NLMCO changed its name to 
Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limited.  The registered and head office of NLMCO is located at 1593 
Ellis Street, Kelowna, British Columbia V1Y 2A7.  
 
NLMCO is a Licensed Producer of medical marijuana in Canada under the Access to Cannabis for Medical 
Purposes Regulations (Canada) (“ACMPR”).  
 
The market for cannabis (including medical marijuana) in Canada is regulated by the Controlled Drugs and 
Substances Act (“CDSA”), the ACMPR, the Narcotic Control Regulations and other applicable law. Health 
Canada is the primary regulator of the industry as a whole. The ACMPR aims to treat cannabis like any 
other narcotic used for medical purposes by creating conditions for a new commercial industry that is 
responsible for its production and distribution. 
Any applicant seeking to become a licensed producer under the ACMPR is subject to stringent Health 
Canada licensing requirements.  
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Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements with respect to expected financial performance, strategy 
and business conditions. The words “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “plan”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, 
“project”, “will”, “would” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, 
although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. These statements reflect 
management’s current beliefs with respect to future events and are based on information currently available 
to management.  
 
The forward-looking statements contained herein are based on certain key expectations and assumptions, 
including: 
 

 the ability of the Company to generate cash flow from operations and obtain necessary financing 
on acceptable terms; 

 general economic, financial market, regulatory and political conditions in which the Company 
operates; 

 consumer interest in the Company’s products; 
 the timely receipt of any required regulatory approvals, included approvals from Health Canada; 
 competition; 
 the ability of the Company to obtain qualified staff, equipment and services in a timely and cost 

efficient manner; and 
 the ability of the Company to conduct operations in a safe, efficient and effective manner. 

 
Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are 
reasonable, undue reliance should not be placed on them as actual results may differ materially from the 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve significant known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties. Many factors could cause actual results, performance or achievement to be materially 
different from any future forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such differences include, but 
are not limited to, general economic and market conditions, investment performance, financial markets, 
legislative and regulatory changes, technological developments, catastrophic events and other business 
risks.  
 
These forward-looking statements are as of the date of this MD&A and the Company and management 
assume no obligation to update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances except as required 
by securities laws. 
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Results of Operations 
 
On June 16, 2017, NLMCO received notification from Health Canada that it had been issued a License to 
cultivate under the ACMPR. 
 
The below table provides a general overview of the licensing process as described by Health Canada. 
 

Stage  Overview 
   

Stage 1  Preliminary Screening: When an application is received, it undergoes a preliminary screening for completeness. 
If an application is not complete, it will be returned. If an application is complete, it will be assigned an 
application number. The application number means that the application has completed the preliminary 
screening. 

   
Stage 2  Enhanced Screening: Once an application has been assigned an application number, it will be reviewed to 

ensure: that the location of the proposed site does not pose a risk to public health, safety and security; that the 
proposed security measures outlined in the application meet the requirements of the ACMPR; and the proposed 
quality assurance person has the appropriate credentials to meet the good production requirements outlined 
in Division 4 of the ACMPR. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that they are in compliance with all 
applicable provincial, territorial, and municipal legislation, regulations and bylaws, including zoning restrictions. 

   
Stage 3  Security Clearance: Once the screening of an application is complete, the security clearance forms for key 

personnel will be sent for processing. The time required to conduct mandatory security checks varies with each 
application. Security clearances generally take several months at a minimum. Health Canada and the RCMP are 
not able to provide updates on the status of security checks. 

Applications will only advance to the review stage once the security clearances for the key personnel are 
completed. Please note that until such a time as Health Canada receives the results of the security checks, there 
will be no further communication from Health Canada. 

   
Stage 4 

 
 Review: Once all security clearances are obtained, an application will be thoroughly reviewed to validate the 

information provided. Given the extensive review process, applicants are generally required to communicate 
with the Office of Controlled Substances multiple times to provide clarifications on the application. Physical 
security plans will be reviewed and assessed in detail at this stage. Applicants must meet a minimum of a level 
y (pursuant to the physical security directive) to be considered for a license. 

   
Stage 5  Pre-Licence Inspection: Upon confirmation from the applicant that the site has been fully built and security 

measures are in place, a pre-licence inspection will be scheduled. If any deficiencies are identified, they will be 
communicated to the applicant and must be addressed prior to a licence being issued. 

   
Stage 6 

NLMCO received 
its license to 

cultivate on June 
16, 2017 

 Licensing: Once it has been confirmed through the pre-licence inspection that the applicant meets all the 
requirements of the ACMPR, a licence will be issued. Health Canada has introduced a staged process for the 
issuance of licences. Applicants will first be issued a licence to produce only. This will enable Health Canada 
inspectors to confirm that the first batch of dried marijuana produced meets the good production practices and 
record keeping requirements outlined in the ACMPR. It also allows Health Canada to verify the test results of 
the dried marijuana (e.g. for microbial and chemical contaminants) to ensure that the dried marijuana meets 
all quality control requirements before it is made available for sale. 

Once a licensed producer has finished producing the first crop of marijuana, they must demonstrate through 
an inspection and test results that the planned growing processes will result in the production of a dried product 
that meets the licensed producer's specified quality control standards and the Good Production Practices set 
out in Division 4 of the ACMPR. Only once Health Canada is satisfied the licensed producer meets the 
requirements of Division 4 of the ACMPR will a licence be amended to allow sale to the public. 

 
Applicants and Licensed Producers are required to demonstrate compliance with regulatory requirements, 
such as quality control standards, record-keeping of all activities as well as inventories of marijuana, and 
physical security measures to protect against potential diversion. Licensed Producers are also required to 
employ qualified quality assurance personnel who ultimately approve the quality of the product prior to 
making it available for sale. This approval process includes testing (and validation of testing) for microbial 
and chemical contaminants to ensure that they are within established tolerance limits for herbal medicines 
for human consumption as required under the Food and Drugs Act, and determining the percentage by 
weight of the two active ingredients of marijuana, delta-9-Tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol. 
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NLMCO's facility (the "Facility") is a 7,100 square foot commercial building located at 6-2322 Dominion 
Road, West Kelowna, British Columbia and was acquired by NLMCO pursuant to a Contract of Purchase 
and Sale on October 15, 2016.  
 
Selected Annual Information 

  Year ended 
March 31, 

Year ended 
March 31, 

  2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

Total revenue  17,335 26,788 
Net income (loss)  (967,372) (240,954) 
Basic and diluted loss per share  (0.07) (2,007.95) 
Weighted average number of 
shares outstanding 

 14,113,290 120 

Total assets  4,782,848 42,914 

Long-term liabilities  582,114 - 

Working capital (deficit)  2,117,287 (261,030) 
 
Discussion of the year ended March 31, 2017 versus 2016 
 
The following table sets forth the statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended March 31, 
2017 and 2016: 
 

 
 
 
 

For the year ended For the year enoeo
 March 31,  March 31, 

2017 2016

Revenue:
Rental income 17,335$                    26,788$                    

Gross profit 17,335                      26,788                      

Expenses:
Rent 43,177                      55,000                       
Loss on change in fair value of oerivative liability 492                            139,789                    
Salaries ano wages 120,371                    -                                 
Stock-baseo compensation 459,228                    -                                 
Professional fees 80,208                      9,622                         
Finance expense 19,404                      39,368                       
Consulting fees 216,443                    12,867                       
Utilities 8,450                         2,481                         
Office expense 30,108                      7,564                         
Vehicle 530                            -                                 
Travel 168                            1,076                         
Finance income (527)                          (25)                            
Insurance 6,655                         -                                 

984,707                    267,742                     

Net loss and comprehensive loss (967,372)$                 (240,954)$                 
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Revenue 
 
Revenue during the year ended March 31, 2017 consisted of rental revenue for sub-leased space. Revenue 
was lower on a year over year basis due to lower subleasing activity during the first quarter of 2017. No 
revenue has been generated from the Company’s principal operations. 
 
General and administrative expenses 
 
General and administrative expenses consist of items, such as rent, utilities, vehicle, travel, insurance, 
professional fees, consulting fees, and other office overhead charges. These expenses increased during 
the year ended March 31, 2017 compared to the prior year due to a ramp up in activities as the Company 
continues to progress through the Health Canada licensing process.  
 
Finance expenses 
 
Finance expenses consist of interest, accretion and bank charges. These expenses were lower during the 
year ended March 31, 2017 as the Company recognized no accretion expense for the year, compared to 
$38,996 for the year ended March 31, 2016.  
 
Loss on change in fair value of derivative liability 
 
In June 2015, convertible promissory notes payable were issued by the Company which contains a 
conversion feature and preferential equity participation rights. The preferential equity participation rights 
are classified as a derivative liability and re-valued to fair value at each reporting period. During the year 
ended March 31, 2017, a loss of $492 was recognized on the change in fair value of the derivative liability, 
compared to a loss of $139,789 recognized in 2016. 
 
Net loss 
 
The Company reported a net loss for the year ended March 31, 2017 of $967,372, an increase from the 
prior year loss of $240,954. The increase in the loss is due to increased operations during the year. 
 
Selected Quarterly Financial Information 
 
The Company did not prepare financial statements for those quarters prior to the date of this MD&A. 
 
Subsequent event 
 
Subsequent to the year, the Company issued 3,396,847 Class A common shares at a price of $0.90 per 
share, for total gross proceeds of $3,057,162, and incurred issuance costs of $63,260. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
The Company’s objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure it has sufficient cash 
resources to maintain its ongoing operations and finance its research and development activities, corporate 
and administration expenses, working capital and overall capital expenditures. Since inception, the 
Company has primarily financed its liquidity needs through issuance of shares and convertible promissory 
notes payable. 
 
The Company is exposed to liquidity risk or the risk of not meeting its financial obligations as they come 
due.  The Company constantly monitors and manages its cash flows to assess the liquidity necessary to 
fund operations. All of the Company’s financial liabilities are due within one year except for the mortgage 
payable. 
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As at March 31, 2017, NLMCO had cash of $1,896,364, and working capital of $2,117,287. Based on the 
Company’s historical performance to date and expected capital expenditures, management believes 
NLMCO has adequate cash resources to satisfy working capital needs for at least the next 12 months to 
fund operations.  
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Company is subject to interest rate risk from its mortgage payable, which is currently a fixed rate 
instrument.  As a result of debt not being subject to floating interest rates, changes in prevailing interest 
rates would not be expected to have a material impact on profit or loss. The Company does not consider 
this risk to be material. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
NLMCO does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a 
current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of NLMCO, including, and without 
limitation, such considerations as liquidity and capital resources. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
The Company has classified its cash and derivative liability as fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), 
accounts receivable and other receivables as loans and receivables, and accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, due to related parties, and convertible promissory notes payable as other financial liabilities. 
 
The carrying values of cash, accounts receivable, other receivables, due to related parties, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities and convertible promissory notes payable approximate their fair values due 
to their short periods to maturity. 
 
For additional information, refer to the financial statements of NLMCO. 
 
Related party transactions 
 
 The Company was indebted to officers of the Company in the amount of $nil at March 31, 2017 (March 

31, 2016 - $16,303). 
 During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Company issued 75,990 Class A common shares to settle 

$22,797 owed to an officer of the Company. 
 During the year ended March 31, 2016, officers of the Company advanced $4,481 to the Company 

interest-free with no fixed terms of repayment. 
 Certain related parties subscribed for convertible promissory notes payable issued in June 2015. 
 Key management includes directors and officers of the Company. Total compensation paid to key 

management for the year was $483,231 (2016 - $nil), of which $442,955 (2016 - $nil) was stock-based 
compensation. 

 
Proposed Transaction 
 
On February 10, 2017, the Company entered into a definitive amalgamation agreement with SG Spirit Gold 
Inc. (“SG”). Pursuant to the terms of the Definitive Agreement, SG will acquire all of the issued and 
outstanding securities of the Company (the "Transaction"). 
 
On April 28, 2017, the Agreement was amended as agreed upon by both parties. In accordance with the 
terms of the amended Definitive Agreement, the Company will amalgamate with a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of SG, following which the resulting amalgamated entity will continue as a wholly-owned subsidiary of SG. 
Following a consolidation of the outstanding common shares of SG on a 1-for-3 basis, as consideration for 
completion of the Transaction, the current holders of the Company’s Class A common shares will be issued 
1.8 post-consolidated common shares of SG, in exchange for every share of the Company they hold. 
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Existing dilutive securities of the Company will be exchanged for dilutive securities of SG, on substantially 
the same terms, and applying the same exchange ratio. 
 
Prior to closing of the Transaction it is anticipated that SG will apply to list its common shares for trading on 
the Canadian Securities Exchange (the "CSE") and voluntarily delist its shares from the TSX Venture 
Exchange. On closing of the Transaction it is anticipated that the Company will change its name to "DOJA 
Production Company Limited" and SG will change its name to “DOJA Cannabis Company Limited”. 
 
Closing of the Transaction remains subject to a number of conditions, including the completion of 
satisfactory due diligence, receipt of any required shareholder, regulatory and third-party consents, the 
Canadian Securities Exchange having conditionally accepted the listing of SG’s common shares, the TSX 
Venture Exchange having consented to the voluntarily delisting of SG’s common shares, and the 
satisfaction of other customary closing conditions. 
 
Accounting Changes 

New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted 
 
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations and have not been applied 
in preparing these financial statements, as set out below:  
 

 IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It 
replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that relates to the classification and measurement of financial 
instruments. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three 
primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortized cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (OCI) and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of classification 
depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 
asset. Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit or 
loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in OCI not recycling. 
There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model 
used in IAS 39. For financial liabilities, there were no changes to classification and measurement 
except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The standard is effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted.  
 

 IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, deals with revenue recognition and establishes 
principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. 
Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of goods or services and thus has the 
ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the goods or services. The standard replaces 
IAS 18, Revenue, and IAS 11, Construction Contracts, and related interpretations. The standard is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and earlier application is 
permitted.  
 

 In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases, which will replace IAS 17, Leases. Under IFRS 
16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Under IAS 17, lessees were 
required to make a distinction between a finance lease and an operating lease. IFRS 16 now 
requires lessees to recognize a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a right-of-use 
asset for virtually all lease contracts. There is an optional exemption for certain short-term leases 
and leases of low value assets; however, this exemption can only be applied by lessees. The 
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier 
application if IFRS 15 is also applied.  
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The Company has yet to assess the impact of these standards. Other accounting standards or amendments 
to existing accounting standards that have been issued, but have future effective dates, are either not 
applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
Outstanding Share Data 
 
The following securities were outstanding as at the date of this report: 
 

   

Class A common shares  29,823,579 
Warrants  5,943,105 
Performance warrants  4,231,333 

 

Risk Factors 

The Company’s overall performance and results of operations are subject to a number of risks and 
uncertainties. The Company is subject to certain risks and uncertainties from both financial and operational 
factors. The risks and uncertainties described below are those that the Company’s management believes 
are material, but these risks and uncertainties may not be the only ones that the Company may face. 
Additional risks and uncertainties, including those that the Company’s management currently are not aware 
of or deem immaterial, may also result in decreased operating revenues, increased operating expenses or 
other events that could result in a decline in the value of any securities of the Company.  
 
Some of the key risks are highlighted as follows: 
 
Dried Marijuana is Not an Approved Drug or Medicine 
 
Dried marijuana is not an approved drug or medicine in Canada. The Government of Canada does not 
endorse  the  use  of  marijuana,  but  the  courts  have  required  reasonable  access  to  a  legal  source  
of marijuana when authorized by a healthcare practitioner. 
 
The Company is Not a Licensed Seller Under the ACMPR 
 
NLMCO is a licensed producer under the ACMPR that would enable NLMCO but is not yet licensed to sell 
medical marijuana. NLMCO's ability to sell medical marijuana in Canada is dependent on obtaining a 
license from Health Canada and there can be no assurance that NLMCO will obtain such a license. 
 
NLMCO's success to date includes: 
 

 NLMCO has received its license to produce marijuana; 
 NLMCO personnel have passed through the security clearance stage of the licensing process; and 
 NLMCO has substantially completed the build out of its proposed Facility. 

 
NLMCO’s license is subject to NLMCO complying with ongoing compliance and reporting requirements. 
Failure to comply with the requirements of the license or any failure to maintain the license could have a 
material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of the NLMCO. 
Furthermore, the license has an expiry date of June 16, 2020.  Upon expiration of the license, NLMCO is 
required to submit an application  for  renewal  to  Health  Canada  containing  information  prescribed  
under  the  ACMPR and renewal cannot be assured. 
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Licensing Requirements Under the ACMPR 
 
The market for cannabis (including medical marijuana) in Canada is regulated by the CDSA, the ACMPR, 
the Narcotic Control Regulations, and other applicable law. Health Canada is the primary regulator of the 
industry as a whole. The ACMPR aims to treat cannabis like any other narcotic used for medical purposes 
by creating conditions for a new commercial industry that is responsible for its production and distribution. 
 
Any applicant seeking to become a Licensed Producer under the ACMPR is subject to stringent Health 
Canada licensing requirements.  
 
Once a licensed producer has finished producing the first crop of marijuana, they must demonstrate through 
an inspection and test results that the planned growing processes will result in the production of a dried 
product that meets the licensed producer's specified quality control standards and the Good Production 
Practices set out in Division 4 of the ACMPR. Only once Health Canada is satisfied the licensed producer 
meets the requirements of Division 4 of the ACMPR will a licence be amended to allow sale to the public. 
 
Applicants and Licensed Producers are required to demonstrate compliance with regulatory requirements, 
such as quality control standards, record-keeping of all activities as well as inventories of marijuana, and 
physical security measures to protect against potential diversion. Licensed producers are also required to 
employ qualified quality assurance personnel who ultimately approve the quality of the product prior to 
making it available for sale.  This  approval  process  includes  testing  (and  validation  of  testing)  for 
microbial and chemical contaminants to ensure that they are within established tolerance limits for herbal 
medicines for human consumption as required under the Food and Drugs Act, and determining the 
percentage by weight of the two active ingredients of marijuana, delta-9- Tetrahydrocannabinol and 
cannabidiol. 
 
Factors related to the Facility which may Prevent Realization of Business Objectives 
 
As of the date of this MD&A, the Company's proposed production Facility is substantially complete. The 
Facility was inspected by Health Canada prior to the granting of its license under the ACMPR. Adverse 
changes or developments affecting construction of the Facility and commencement of production could 
have a material and adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and prospects. There is 
a risk that these changes or developments could cause the Facility to not be completed on time, on budget, 
or at all, as it can be adversely affected by a variety of factors, including some that are discussed elsewhere 
in these risk factors and the following: 
 
a) delays in obtaining, or conditions imposed by, regulatory approvals; 
b) plant design errors; 
c) environmental pollution; 
d) non-performance by third party contractors;  
e) increases in materials or labour costs; 
f) construction performance falling below expected levels of output or efficiency; 
g) breakdown, aging or failure of equipment or processes; 
h) contractor or operator errors; 
i) labour disputes, disruptions or declines in productivity; 
j) inability to attract sufficient numbers of qualified workers;  
k) disruption in the supply of energy and utilities; or 
l) major  incidents  and/or  catastrophic  events  such  as  fires,  explosions,  earthquakes  or storms. 
 
It is also possible that the final costs of constructing the Facility and commencing production may be 
significantly greater than anticipated by the Company's management, and may be greater than funds 
available to the Company, in which circumstance the Company may curtail, or extend the timeframes for 
completing its business plans. This could have an adverse effect on the financial results of the Company. 
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Timeframes and Cost to Obtain a License Under the ACMPR 
 
The timeframes and costs required for the Company or any applicant for a license to sell under the ACMPR 
to build the infrastructure required, to apply for, and to receive, a License can be significant. Estimates of 
the timeframe and costs cannot be reliably determined at this time given that the Company is at the review 
stage in the licensing process. The current backlog of applications from other licensees with Health Canada 
and the anticipated timeframe for processing and approval of any application cannot be reliably determined 
at this time. 
 
Ultimately, in the process of meeting all licensing requirements, a facility meeting the rigorous requirements 
of Health Canada must be available for inspection by Health Canada before any license can be granted. 
 
Regulatory Risks 

The proposed activities of the Company will be subject to regulation by governmental authorities, 
particularly Health Canada's Office of Controlled Substances. The Company's business objectives are 
contingent upon, in part, compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental 
authorities and obtaining all regulatory approvals, where necessary, for the sale of its products. The 
Company  cannot  predict  the  time  required  to  secure  all  appropriate  regulatory  approvals  for  its 
products, or the extent of testing and documentation that may be required by governmental authorities. Any 
delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain regulatory approvals would significantly delay the development of 
markets and products and could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and 
financial condition of the Company. 
 
Furthermore, although the operations of the Company are currently carried out in accordance with all 
applicable rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be 
enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail the 
Company's ability to produce or sell medical marijuana. Amendments to current laws and regulations 
governing the importation, distribution, transportation and/or production of medical marijuana, or more 
stringent implementation thereof could have a substantial adverse impact on the Company. 
 
Governmental Regulations and Risks 
 
The Company’s operations  are be  subject  to  environmental  regulation  in  the  jurisdiction  in  which  it 
operates. These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water quality 
standards and land reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the generation, transportation, storage 
and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will 
require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non- compliance, more 
stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for 
companies and their officers, directors and employees. There is no assurance that future changes in 
environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company's operations. 
 
Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future, be required in connection with the 
Company's operations. To the extent such approvals are required and not obtained, the Company may be 
curtailed or prohibited from its proposed production of medical marijuana or from proceeding with the 
development of its operations as currently proposed. 
 
Failure  to  comply  with  applicable  laws,  regulations  and  permitting  requirements  may  result  in 
enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 
operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, 
installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. The Company may be required to compensate 
those suffering loss or damage by reason of its operations and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties 
imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations. 
 
Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing the production of medical marijuana, or 
more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on the Company and cause 
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increases in expenses, capital expenditures or production costs or reduction in levels of production or 
require abandonment or delays in development. 
 
Limited Operating History 
 
While NLMCO was incorporated and began carrying on business in 2013, it is yet to generate any significant 
revenue. The Company is therefore subject to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, 
including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other 
resources and lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a 
return on shareholders' investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of the early 
stage of operations. 
 
History of Losses 
 
The Company has incurred losses in recent periods. The Company may not be able to achieve or maintain 
profitability and may continue to incur significant losses in the future. In addition, the Company expects to 
continue to increase operating expenses as it implements initiatives to continue to grow its business. If the 
Company's revenues do not increase to offset these expected increases in costs and operating expenses, 
it will not be profitable. 
 
Risks Inherent in an Agricultural Business 
 
The Company's business may, in the future, involve the growing of medical marijuana, an agricultural 
product. Such business will be subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, 
plant diseases and similar agricultural risks. Although all such growing is expected to be completed indoors 
under climate controlled conditions, there can be no assurance that natural elements will not have a material 
adverse effect on any such future production. 
 
Energy Costs 
 
The Company's medical marijuana growing operations will consume considerable energy, which will make 
it vulnerable to rising energy costs. Accordingly, rising or volatile energy costs may, in the future, adversely 
impact the business of the Company and its ability to operate profitably. 
 
Reliance on Management 
 
Another risk associated with the production and sale of medical marijuana is the loss of important staff 
members. The Company is currently in good standing with all high level employees and believes that with 
well managed practices will remain in good standing. The success of the Company will be dependent upon 
the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion and good faith of its senior management and key personnel. 
While employment agreements are customarily used as a primary method of retaining the services of key 
employees, these agreements cannot assure the continued services of such employees. Any loss of the 
services of such individuals could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, operating 
results or financial condition. 
  
Insurance and Uninsured Risks 
 
The Company's business is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including adverse 
environmental conditions, accidents, labour disputes and changes in the regulatory environment. Such 
occurrences could result in damage to assets, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in 
operations, monetary losses and possible legal liability. 
 
Although the Company maintains and intends to continue to maintain insurance to protect against certain 
risks in such amounts as it considers to be reasonable, its insurance will not cover all the potential risks 
associated with its operations. The Company may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks 
at economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may not be 
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adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as environmental pollution 
or other hazards encountered in the operations of the Company is not generally available on acceptable 
terms. The Company might also become subject to liability for pollution or other hazards which may not be 
insured against or which the Company may elect not to insure against because of premium costs or other 
reasons. Losses from these events may cause the Company to incur significant costs that could have a 
material adverse effect upon its financial performance and results of operations. 
 
The Company Will Be an Entrant Engaging in a New Industry 
 
The medical marijuana industry is fairly new. There can be no assurance that an active and liquid market 
for shares of the Company will develop and shareholders may find it difficult to resell their shares. 
Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the Company will be successful in the long term. 
 
Dependence on Suppliers and Skilled Labour 
 
The ability of the Company to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a reasonable 
cost and in a timely manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. No assurances can be 
given that the Company will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, equipment, 
parts and components. This could have an adverse effect on the financial results of the Company. 
 
Reliance on a Single Facility 
 
To date, the Company's proposed activities and resources have been primarily focused on the premises 
leased under the Lease Agreement and the Company will continue to be focused on the Facility for the 
foreseeable future. Adverse changes or developments affecting the Facility could have a material and 
adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and prospects. 
 
Difficulty to Forecast 
 
The Company must rely largely on its own market research to forecast sales as detailed forecasts are not 
generally obtainable from other sources at this early stage of the medical marijuana industry in Canada. A 
failure in the demand for its products to materialize as a result of competition, technological change or other 
factors could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition 
of the Company. 
 
Management of Growth 
 
The Company may be subject to growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on its 
internal systems and controls. The ability of the Company to manage growth effectively will require it to 
continue to implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and manage 
its employee base. The inability of the Company to deal with this growth may have a material adverse effect 
on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 
 
Internal Controls 
 
Effective internal controls are necessary for the Company to provide reliable financial reports and to help 
prevent fraud. Although the Company will undertake a number of procedures and will implement a number 
of safeguards, in each case, in order to help ensure the reliability of its financial reports, including those 
imposed on the Company under Canadian securities law, the Company cannot be certain that such 
measures will ensure that the Company will maintain adequate control over financial processes and 
reporting. Failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their 
implementation, could harm the Company's results of operations or cause it to fail to meet its reporting 
obligations. If the Company or its auditors discover a material weakness, the disclosure of that fact, even if 
quickly remedied, could reduce the market's confidence in the Company's consolidated financial statements 
and materially adversely affect the trading price of the Company shares. 
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Liquidity 
 
The Company cannot predict at what prices the Company will trade upon completion of the Amalgamation, 
and there can be no assurance that an active trading market in the Company will develop or be sustained. 
Final approval of the CSE has not yet been obtained. There is a significant liquidity risk associated with an 
investment in the Company. 
 
Litigation 
 
The Company may become party to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business which 
could adversely affect its business.  Should any litigation in which the Company becomes involved be 
determined against the Company such a decision could adversely affect the Company's ability to continue 
operating and the market price for Company shares and could use significant resources. Even if the 
Company is involved in litigation and wins, litigation can redirect significant Company resources. 
 
Risks Related to the Medical Marijuana Industry 
 
Legislative or Regulatory Reform 
 
The Company's operations will be subject to a variety of laws, regulations, guidelines and policies relating 
to the manufacture, import, export, management, packaging/labeling, advertising, sale, transportation, 
storage and disposal of medical marijuana but also including laws and regulations relating to drugs, 
controlled substances, health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the environment. 
Due to matters beyond the control of the Company, these laws, regulations, guidelines and policies may 
cause adverse effects to its operations. 
 
The commercial medical marijuana industry is a new industry and the Company anticipates that such 
regulations will be subject to change as the Federal Government monitors licensed producers in action.  
 
Unfavourable Publicity or Consumer Perception 
 
Management of the Company believes the medical marijuana industry is highly dependent upon consumer 
perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the medical marijuana produced. Consumer 
perception of the Company's proposed products may be significantly influenced by scientific research or 
findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption 
of medical marijuana products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, 
regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favourable 
to the medical marijuana market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future 
research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are 
perceived as less favourable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have 
a material adverse effect on the demand for the Company's proposed products and the business, results  
of  operations,  financial  condition  and  cash  flows  of  the  Company.  The  Company's dependence  upon  
consumer  perceptions  means  that  adverse  scientific  research  reports,  findings, regulatory proceedings, 
litigation, media attention or other publicity, whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company, the demand for the Company's proposed products, and the business, 
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of the Company. Further, adverse publicity reports 
or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of medical marijuana in general, or the 
Company's proposed products specifically, or associating the consumption of medical marijuana with illness 
or other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. Such adverse publicity 
reports or other media attention could arise even if the adverse effects associated with such products 
resulted from consumers' failure to consume such products appropriately or as directed. 
Product Liability 
 
If licensed as a distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, the Company faces an inherent 
risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if its products are alleged to have 
caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the sale of the Company's products would involve the risk of 
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injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination. Previously 
unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of the Company's products alone or in 
combination with other medications or substances could occur. The Company may be subject to various 
product liability claims, including, among others, that the Company's products caused injury or illness, 
include inadequate instructions for use or include inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or 
interactions with other substances. A product liability claim or regulatory action against the Company could 
result in increased costs, could adversely affect the Company's reputation with its clients and consumers 
generally, and could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of 
the Company. There can be no assurances  that  the  Company  will  be  able  to  obtain  or  maintain  
product  liability  insurance  on acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. 
Such insurance is expensive and may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The 
inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against 
potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of the Company's potential 
products. 
 
Product Recalls 
 
Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products 
for a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects 
or interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. 
If any of the Company's products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, the 
Company could be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that 
might arise in connection with the recall. The Company may lose a significant amount of sales and may not 
be able to replace those sales at an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, a product recall may require 
significant management attention. Although the Company has detailed procedures in place for testing its 
products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected 
in time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or lawsuits. Additionally, if one of the 
Company's significant brands were subject to recall, the image of that brand and the Company could be 
harmed. A recall for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for the Company’s 
products and could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of 
the Company. Additionally, product recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of the Company’s operations by 
Health Canada or other regulatory agencies, requiring further management attention and potential legal 
fees and other expenses. 
 
Competition 
 
The Company will face intense competition from other companies, some of which have longer operating 
histories and more financial resources and manufacturing and marketing experience than the Company. 
Increased competition by larger and better financed competitors could materially and adversely affect the 
proposed business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company. In addition, the 
government has only issued to date a small number of licenses under the ACMPR to produce and sell 
medical marijuana. There are, however, several hundred applicants for licenses. The number of licenses 
granted could have an impact on the operations of the Company. Because of the early stage of the industry 
in which the Company operates, the Company expects to face additional competition from new entrants. If 
the number of users of medical marijuana in Canada increases, the demand for products will increase and 
the Company expects that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin 
to offer an increasing number of diversified products. To remain competitive, the Company will require a 
continued high level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales and client support. The 
Company may not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, sales and 
client support efforts on a competitive basis which could materially and adversely affect the business, 
financial condition and results of operations of NLMCO. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limited:
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limited, which comprise
the statements of financial position as at March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016, and the statements of loss and
comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders' equity (deficiency) and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Northern Lights
Marijuana Company Limited as at March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants

July 10, 2017 Licensed Public Accountants
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Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limiteo 
 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
Nature of operations (note 1) 
 
On behalf of the Boaro 
 
 
“William Kitsch”       “Jeffrey Barber”   
Director      Director  

Htatements of FGnancGal PosGtGon
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

March 31, March 31,
2017 2016

Assets
Current assets

Cash 1,896,364$          28,228$                
Short-term investment 1,300                    -                        
Accounts receivable 3,749                    13,356                  
Subscriptions receivable (note 5) 347,500               -                        
Other receivables 85,723                 -                        
trepaio expenses -                       1,330                    

2,334,636            42,914                  

troperty ano equipment (note 4) 2,448,212            -                        
4,782,848$          42,914$               

LGabGlGtGes
Current lGabGlGtGes

Accounts payable ano accrueo liabilities 203,962$             11,356$                
Due to relateo parties (note 7) -                       16,303                 
Convertible promissory notes payable (note 8) -                       90,777                 
Derivative liability (note 6) -                       185,508               
Current portion of mortgage payable (note 9) 13,387                 -                        

217,349               303,944               

Mortgage payable (note 9) 582,114               -                        
799,463               303,944                

Hhareholders' equGty (defGcGency)
Share capital (note 5) 4,451,420            12                         
Contributeo surplus (note 5) 645,228               -                        
Warrant reserve (note 5) 115,151               -                        
Deficit (1,228,414)           (261,042)              

3,983,385            (261,030)              
4,782,848$          42,914$               
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Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limiteo 
 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

Htatements of Loss and ComprehensGve Loss
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

For the year ended For the year enoeo
 March 31,  March 31, 

2017 2016

Revenue:
Rental income 17,335$                    26,788$                    

Gross profit 17,335                      26,788                      

Expenses:
Rent 43,177                      55,000                       
Loss on change in fair value of oerivative liability (note 6) 492                            139,789                    
Salaries ano wages (note 7) 120,371                    -                                 
Stock-baseo compensation (note 5 and 7) 459,228                    -                                 
trofessional fees 80,208                      9,622                         
Finance expense 19,404                      39,368                       
Consulting fees 216,443                    12,867                       
Utilities 8,450                         2,481                         
Office expense 30,108                      7,564                         
Vehicle 530                            -                                 
Travel 168                            1,076                         
Finance income (527)                          (25)                            
Insurance 6,655                         -                                 

984,707                    267,742                     

Net loss and comprehensGve loss (967,372)$                 (240,954)$                 

Net loss per share
Basic ano oiluteo (0.07)$                       (2,007.95)$                

Weighteo average shares outstanoing 14,113,290               120                            
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Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limiteo 
 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
 

Htatements of Changes Gn Hhareholders' EquGty (DefGcGency)
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

ContrGbuted
Hhare capGtal surplus Warrants DefGcGt Total

Balance, March 31, 2015 12$                     -$                    -$                    (20,088)$             (20,076)$             

Net loss for the year                          -   -                      -                      (240,954)             (240,954)             
Balance, March 31, 2016 12$                     -$                    -$                    (261,042)$           (261,030)$           

Cancellation of shares                       (12) -                      -                      -                      (12)                      
Shares issueo for cash, net of issuance costs             3,943,623 -                      115,151              -                      4,058,774           
Subscriptions receivable                347,500 -                      -                      -                      347,500              
Shares issueo for services                  62,797 -                      -                      -                      62,797                
Conversion of promissory notes                  97,500 -                      -                      -                      97,500                
Exercise of preferrential participation rights                          -   186,000              -                      -                      186,000              
Stock-baseo compensation                          -   459,228              -                      -                      459,228              
Net loss for the year                          -   -                      -                      (967,372)             (967,372)             

Balance, March 31, 2017 4,451,420$         645,228$            115,151$            (1,228,414)$       3,983,385$         
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Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limiteo 
 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
 

Htatements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

For the year ended For the year enoeo
March 31, March 31,

2017 2016
Cash flow from operatGng actGvGtGes

Net loss (967,372)$                 (240,954)$                 
Aoo (oeouct) items not involving cash

Accretion ano accrueo interest 8,987                         38,996                      
Loss on change in fair value of oerivative liability 492                            139,789                    
Stock-baseo compensation 459,228                    -                             
Shares issueo for services 62,797                      -                             

Change in non-cash working capital
Accounts receivable 9,607                         (13,356)                     
Other receivables (85,723)                     -                             
trepaio expenses 1,330                         (1,330)                       
Accounts payable ano accrueo liabilities 190,330                    2,256                         

(320,324)                   (74,599)                     
Cash flow from fGnancGng actGvGtGes

trivate placement of shares, net of issuance costs 4,058,774                 -                             
Aovances/repayment to relateo parties (16,303)                     4,481                         
Receipt of promissory notes payable -                            97,500                      
troceeos from mortgages payable, net of repayments 595,501                    -                             

4,637,972                 101,981                    
Cash flow from GnvestGng actGvGtGes

Investment in property ano equipment (2,448,212)                -                             
turchase of short-term investment (1,300)                       -                             

(2,449,512)                -                             

Increase Gn cash 1,868,136                 27,382                      
Cash, begGnnGng of perGod 28,228                      846                            
Cash, end of perGod 1,896,364$               28,228$                    
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1. Nature of operatGons 
  
Northern Lights Marijuana Company Limiteo (“NLMC” or the “Company”) was incorporateo unoer the BC Business 
Corporations Act. The Company’s principal business activity is the cultivation ano sale of meoical cannabis. The 
Company is in the oevelopment stage ano has not yet earneo any revenues from sales of cannabis.  
 
On February 10, 2017, the Company signeo a oefinitive amalgamation agreement with SG Spirit Golo Inc. 
(TSXV:SG), pursuant to which the Company will amalgamate with a wholly-owneo subsioiary of SG, following 
which the resulting amalgamateo entity will continue as a wholly-owneo subsioiary of SG (note 13). 
 
2. BasGs of presentatGon 
  
(a) Statement of compliance 
 
The Company’s financial statements have been prepareo in accoroance with International Financial Reporting 
Stanoaros (“IFRS”) as issueo by the International Accounting Stanoaros Boaro (“IASB”). 
 
These financial statements were approveo by the Company’s boaro of oirectors on July 10, 2017. 
 
(b) Basis of presentation 
 
These financial statements have been prepareo on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that 
are measureo at fair value, as oetaileo in the Company’s accounting policies. 
 
(c) Functional ano presentation currency 
 
The Company’s functional currency, as oetermineo by management, is the Canaoian oollar. These financial statements 
are presenteo in Canaoian oollars. 
 
(o) Use of estimates ano juogments 
  
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make juogments, estimates ano assumptions that 
affect the application of policies ano reporteo amounts of assets ano liabilities, ano revenue ano expenses. The 
estimates ano associateo assumptions are baseo on historical experience ano various other factors that are believeo to 
be reasonable unoer the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the juogments about carrying 
values of assets ano liabilities that are not reaoily apparent from other sources. Actual results may oiffer from these 
estimates. 
 
Management has applieo significant estimates ano assumptions relateo to the following: 
 
Derivative liability 
 
tromissory notes are convertible on terms that incluoe a preferential participation right that may result in a variable 
number of shares being issueo ano are consioereo a oerivative liability measureo at fair value. 
 
The Company estimates the fair value at each reporting oate using key assumptions incluoing the probability of 
completing an equity raise by the Company ano the expecteo quantum of participation rights exerciseo. 
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3. HGgnGfGcant accountGng polGcGes 
  
A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been applieo consistently to all perioos presenteo in the 
accompanying financial statements, are set out below: 
 
Rental income 
 
Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessee) is recognizeo on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. 
 
troperty, plant ano equipment 
 
troperty, plant ano equipment are stateo at cost, net of accumulateo oepreciation ano accumulateo impairment losses, 
if any. Such costs incluoe the cost of replacing parts of the property, plant ano equipment. Likewise, when a major 
inspection is performeo, its cost is recognizeo in the carrying value of the equipment as a replacement if the recognition 
criteria are satisfieo. All other repair ano maintenance costs are recognizeo in the statement of loss ano comprehensive 
loss as incurreo.  
 
No amortization is taken on assets unoer construction until the relevant asset has been put into use. An item of 
equipment is oerecognizeo upon oisposal or when no future economic benefits are expecteo from its use. Any gain or 
loss arising on oerecognition of the asset (calculateo as the oifference between the net oisposal proceeos ano the 
carrying value of the asset) is incluoeo in the statements of loss ano comprehensive loss in the perioo the asset is 
oerecognizeo. 
 
The assets’ resioual values, useful lives ano methoos of oepreciation are revieweo at each financial year eno, ano 
aojusteo prospectively if appropriate. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
  
Intangible assets with a finite useful life are testeo for impairment when events or changes in circumstances inoicate 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Events relating to recoverability may incluoe significant unfavorable 
changes in business conoitions, recurring losses, or a forecasteo inability to achieve break-even operating results over 
an extenoeo perioo.  An impairment loss is recognizeo for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeos 
its recoverable amount. The Company evaluates impairment losses for potential reversals when events or 
circumstances warrant such consioeration. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets ano liabilities are recognizeo when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are oerecognizeo when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
assets have expireo or have been transferreo ano the Company has transferreo substantially all risks ano 
rewaros of ownership. Financial liabilities are oerecognizeo when the obligation specifieo in the contract is 
oischargeo, cancelleo or expires. 
 
A oerivative is a financial instrument whose value changes in response to a specifieo variable, require little or no net 
investment ano is settleo at a future oate. 
 
At initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in to the following categories: 
 

(i) Financial assets ano liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: a financial asset or liability is classifieo in this 
category if acquireo principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short-term. Derivatives are also 
incluoeo in this category unless they are oesignateo as heoges. Financial instruments in this category are 
recognizeo initially ano subsequently at fair value. Gains ano losses arising from changes in fair value are 
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presenteo in the statements of loss ano comprehensive loss within other expense (income) in the perioo in which 
they arise. 
 

(ii) Loans ano receivables: Loans ano receivables are non-oerivative financial assets with fixeo or oeterminable 
payments that are not quoteo in an active market. Loans ano receivables are initially recognizeo at the amount 
expecteo to be receiveo, less, when material, a oiscount to reouce the loans ano receivables to fair value. 
Subsequently, loans ano receivables are measureo at amortizeo cost using the effective interest methoo less a 
provision for impairment. 

 

(iii) Available for sale financial assets: Available for sale assets are non-oerivative financial assets that are oesignateo 
as available for sale ano are not categorizeo into any of the other categories oescribeo above. They are initially 
recognizeo at fair value incluoing oirect ano incremental transaction costs. They are subsequently recognizeo at 
fair value. Gains ano losses arising from changes in fair value are incluoeo as a separate component of equity 
until sale, when the cumulative gain or loss is transferreo to the statements of loss ano comprehensive loss. Interest 
is oetermineo using the effective interest methoo, ano impairment losses ano translation oifferences on monetary 
items are recognizeo in the statements of loss ano comprehensive loss. The Company ooes not have any available 
for sale assets. 

 

(iv) Financial liabilities at amortizeo cost: Financial liabilities at amortizeo cost are composeo of accounts payable. 
Traoe payables ano accrueo liabilities are initially recognizeo at the amount requireo to be paio, less, when 
material, a oiscount to reouce payables to fair value. Subsequently, accounts payable are measureo at amortizeo 
cost using the effective interest methoo. These are classifieo as current liabilities if payment is oue within 12 
months. Otherwise, they are presenteo as non-current liabilities. 

 
Impairment of financial assets carrieo at amortizeo cost 
 
At each statement of financial position oate, the Company assesses whether there is objective evioence a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaireo. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaireo ano impairment 
losses are incurreo if, ano only if, there is objective evioence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurreo after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event), ano that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimateo future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimateo. 
 
The amount of the loss is measureo as the oifference between the asset’s carrying amount ano the present value of 
estimateo future cash flows (excluoing future creoit losses) oiscounteo at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate. The asset’s carrying amount is reouceo ano the amount of the loss is recognizeo in the statements of loss ano 
comprehensive loss. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the oiscount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the 
current effective interest rate oetermineo unoer the contract. For practical reasons, the Company may measure 
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price. 
 
Loss per common share, basic ano oiluteo 
  
Basic loss per share is calculateo by oivioing the net loss for the perioo attributable to equity owners of the Company 
by the weighteo average number of common shares outstanoing ouring the perioo. Contingently issuable shares 
(incluoing shares helo in escrow) are not consioereo outstanoing common shares ano consequently are not incluoeo 
in the loss per share calculations. 
 
Diluteo loss per share is calculateo by aojusting the weighteo average number of common shares outstanoing for 
oilutive instruments. The number of shares incluoeo with respect to options, warrants ano similar instruments is 
computeo using the treasury stock methoo. The Company’s potentially oilutive common shares comprise stock options 
ano warrants. Stock options ano warrants have been excluoeo from the calculation of oiluteo loss per share because 
their effect is anti-oilutive. 
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Income taxes 
 
Income tax comprises current ano oeferreo tax. Income tax is recognizeo in the statements of loss ano comprehensive 
loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognizeo oirectly in shareholoers’ equity, in which case the income 
tax is also recognizeo oirectly in shareholoers’ equity. 
 
Current tax is the expecteo tax payable on the taxable income for the perioo, using tax rates enacteo at the eno of the 
reporting perioo, ano any aojustments to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
In general, oeferreo tax is recognizeo in respect of temporary oifferences arising between the tax bases of assets ano 
liabilities ano their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferreo income tax is oetermineo on a non-
oiscounteo basis using the tax rates ano laws that have been enacteo or substantively enacteo at the statements of 
financial position oates ano are expecteo to apply when the oeferreo tax asset or liability is settleo. Deferreo tax assets 
are recognizeo to the extent that it is probable the assets can be recovereo. 
 
Deferreo income tax assets ano liabilities are presenteo as non-current. 
 
trovisions 
 
A provision is recognizeo when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimateo 
reliably, ano it is probable an outflow of economic benefits will be requireo to settle the obligation. trovisions are 
measureo at the present value of the expenoitures expecteo to be requireo to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money ano the risks specific to the obligation. 
 
New stanoaros, amenoments ano interpretations not yet aoopteo  
 
A number of new stanoaros ano amenoments to stanoaros ano interpretations have been releaseo ano have not been 
applieo in preparing these financial statements, as set out below:  
 

 IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, aooresses the classification, measurement ano recognition of financial assets 
ano financial liabilities. The complete version of IFRS 9 was issueo in July 2014. It replaces the guioance in 
IAS 39 that relates to the classification ano measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains but 
simplifies the mixeo measurement mooel ano establishes three primary measurement categories for financial 
assets: amortizeo cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) ano fair value through profit or 
loss. The basis of classification oepenos on the entity’s business mooel ano the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are requireo to be measureo at fair 
value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in OCI 
not recycling. There is now a new expecteo creoit losses mooel that replaces the incurreo loss impairment 
mooel useo in IAS 39. For financial liabilities, there were no changes to classification ano measurement 
except for the recognition of changes in own creoit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities 
oesignateo at fair value through profit or loss. The stanoaro is effective for accounting perioos beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018. Early aooption is permitteo.  
 

 IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, oeals with revenue recognition ano establishes principles 
for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing ano 
uncertainty of revenue ano cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is 
recognizeo when a customer obtains control of gooos or services ano thus has the ability to oirect the use ano 
obtain the benefits from the gooos or services. The stanoaro replaces IAS 18, Revenue, ano IAS 11, 
Construction Contracts, ano relateo interpretations. The stanoaro is effective for annual perioos beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018 ano earlier application is permitteo.  

 
 In January 2016, the IASB issueo IFRS 16, Leases, which will replace IAS 17, Leases. Unoer IFRS 16, a 

contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an ioentifieo asset for a 
perioo of time in exchange for consioeration. Unoer IAS 17, lessees were requireo to make a oistinction 
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between a finance lease ano an operating lease. IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognize a lease liability 
reflecting future lease payments ano a right-of-use asset for virtually all lease contracts. There is an optional 
exemption for certain short-term leases ano leases of low value assets; however, this exemption can only be 
applieo by lessees. The stanoaro is effective for annual perioos beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with 
earlier application if IFRS 15 is also applieo.  

 
The Company has yet to assess the impact of these stanoaros. Other accounting stanoaros or amenoments to existing 
accounting stanoaros that have been issueo, but have future effective oates, are either not applicable or are not expecteo 
to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
4. Property and equGpment 
 

 
 
As at March 31, 2017, the property ano equipment were not in use, ano therefore no oepreciation has been taken. 
Incluoeo in builoing ano improvements as at March 31, 2017 are $8,853 of capitalizeo interest. 
 
5. Hhareholders’ equGty 
  
Authorizeo share capital 
 
Class A Common Shares – voting – unlimiteo 
Class B Common Shares – voting – unlimiteo 
Class C Common Shares – voting – unlimiteo 
Class D Common Shares – non-voting – unlimiteo 
Class E Common Shares – non-voting – unlimiteo 
Class F Common Shares – non-voting – unlimiteo 
Class G treferreo Shares – non-voting – unlimiteo 
Class H treferreo Shares – non-voting – unlimiteo 
Class I treferreo Shares – non-voting – unlimiteo 
Class J treferreo Shares – non-voting – unlimiteo 
Class K treferreo Shares – non-voting – unlimiteo 
 
 
 
 
 

furnGture & 
equGpment

BuGldGng and 
Gmprovements Total

Cost
At March 31, 2016 -$                       -$                       -$                       
Aooitions                 46,385           2,401,827           2,448,212 
At March 31, 2017 46,385$             2,401,827$        2,448,212$        

Accumulated deprecGatGon
At March 31, 2016 -$                       -$                       -$                       
Expense for the perioo -                         -                         -                         
At March 31, 2017 -$                       -$                       -$                       

Net book value
At March 31, 2016 -$                       -$                       -$                       
At March 31, 2017 46,385$             2,401,827$        2,448,212$        
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Outstanoing share capital 
 

 
 
During the year enoeo March 31, 2017, the Company issueo 12,933,333 Class A common shares at $0.0001 per share, 
for gross proceeos of $1,293. In conjunction with the share issuance, the original 120 Class A common shares 
outstanoing were returneo to treasury ano subsequently cancelleo. Of these Class A common shares issueo, 2,933,333 
were reoeemeo ano cancelleo at a price of $0.0001 per share in October 2016.  
 
In November 2016, the Company issueo 6,616,681 Class A common shares for gross proceeos of $1,701,504. As part 
of the issuance, $97,500 of the convertible promissory notes payable electeo to be converteo into shares ano $186,000 
was transferreo to share capital as the fair value of the oerivative liability, less $17,000 of share issuance costs. 
 
In February 2017, the Company issueo 5,943,105 units at $0.18 per unit, each consisting of one Class A common 
share ano one warrant exercisable at $0.45 per share for gross proceeos of $1,069,759. The warrants expire 24 months 
from the oate of issuance ano hao a fair value of $115,151. 
 
In March 2017, the Company receiveo gross proceeos $1,303,429 in cash ano $347,500 in subscriptions receivable 
from the issuance of 3,668,733 Class A common shares. 
 
During the year enoeo March 31, 2017, the Company issueo 198,213 Class A common shares to settle oebts arising 
from services renoereo that were valueo at $62,797, of which $22,797 were from a relateo party.  

Warrants 
  
Each warrant entitles the holoer to purchase a Class A common share at a set price ano is exercisable at the option of 
the holoer for a set perioo of time.  
 
During the perioo, the Company issueo 5,943,105 warrants as part of a private placement offering. The warrants are 
exercisable at $0.45 for Class A common shares, with an expiry of 2 years from the oate of issuance. The fair value 
of these warrants was $115,151. As at March 31, 2017, these warrants hao a remaining life of 1.88 years. 
 
The fair value of the warrants on the oate granteo was estimateo using the Black-Scholes valuation mooel. The 
following assumptions were useo: 
 

 
 

Number of shares Amount
Balance, March 31, 2016                                      120 12$                                    
Cancellation of shares (120)                                   (12)                                     
Class A common shares issueo for cash, net of issuance costs 24,992,010                        3,943,623                          
Class A common shares issueo for services 198,213                             62,797                               
Subscriptions receivable 772,223                             347,500                             
Conversion of promissory notes 464,286                             97,500                               
Balance at March 31, 2017                         26,426,732 4,451,420$                        

2017 2016
Volatility 70% n/a
Risk-free interest rate 0.73% n/a
Expecteo life (years)                                2.00 n/a
Divioeno yielo NGl n/a
Forfeiture rate 0% n/a
Share price $0.16 n/a
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terformance Warrants 
 
During the year enoeo March 31, 2017, the Company issueo performance warrants to management ano certain 
employees. These performance warrants are exercisable at prices ranging from $0.0001 to $0.30 for Class A common 
shares, with an expiry of 3 years from the oate of issuance. Vesting conoitions are baseo on the Company achieving 
certain milestones, such as obtaining certain licenses from Health Canaoa ano cumulative sales volume. The Company 
recognizeo $459,228 (2016 - $nil) in stock-baseo compensation with respect to performance warrants ouring 2017. 
 
The fair value of each group of performance warrants on the oate granteo was estimateo using the Black-Scholes 
valuation mooel. The following assumptions were useo: 

 
 
The following table presents information relateo to performance warrants at March 31, 2017: 
 

 
 
6. DerGvatGve lGabGlGty 
 
The convertible promissory notes payable issueo by the Company contain a conversion feature as well as preferential 
participation rights. The convertible promissory note holoer may elect to convert the principal ano any interest accrueo 
into equity in accoroance with the preferential participation right. As part of the preferential participation right, each 
convertible promissory note holoer has a right to purchase up to $100,000 of a future equity raise within two years 
from the oate of issuance. The participation woulo be at a 30% oiscount to the issue price of any other equity issueo 
as part of the equity raise.  
 
These preferential participation rights may result in variability in the number of shares issueo unoer the convertible 
promissory notes. In accoroance with IFRS, a contract to issue a variable number of shares fails to meet the oefinition 
of equity ano must insteao be classifieo as a oerivative liability ano measureo at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognizeo in the statements of loss ano comprehensive loss at each perioo-eno. The oerivative liability will ultimately 
be converteo into common shares when the rights are exerciseo or will be extinguisheo on the expiration of those 
rights ano will not result in the outlay of any aooitional cash by the Company.  
 
Upon initial recognition, the Company recoroeo a oerivative liability in the amount of $45,719. The Company recoroeo 
a loss of $492 on revaluation of the oerivative liability for the year enoeo March 31, 2017 (2016 – loss of $139,789).  
 
In November 2016, the Company issueo to the noteholoers 2,066,667 Class A common shares in exchange for 
$336,500 of cash (note 5), conversion of the convertible promissory notes, ano exercise of their preferential 
participation rights. The fair value of the preferential participation rights was $186,000 at the oate of the conversion, 
ano was recognizeo in contributeo surplus. 
 

2017 2016
Volatility 70% n/a
Risk-free interest rate 0.56% to 0.76% n/a
Expecteo life (years)                                  2.0 n/a
Divioeno yielo NGl n/a
Forfeiture rate 0% to 100% n/a
Share price $0.30 n/a

WeGghted average exercGse prGce Number of OptGons
WeGghted average 

remaGnGng lGfe (years) yested
$0.0001 3,081,333                          2.50 -                                     
$0.18 1,000,000                          2.76 -                                     
$0.30 150,000                             2.67 -                                     
Balance at March 31, 2017                           4,231,333 2.57 -                                     
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7. Related party transactGons 
 
(a) The Company was inoebteo to officers of the Company in the amount of $nil at March 31, 2017 (March 31, 2016 

- $16,303). 
(b) During the year enoeo March 31, 2017, the Company issueo 75,990 Class A common shares to settle $22,797 

oweo to an officer of the Company. 
(c) During the year enoeo March 31, 2016, officers of the Company aovanceo $4,481 to the Company interest-free 

with no fixeo terms of repayment. 
(o) Certain relateo parties subscribeo for convertible promissory notes payable as oescribeo in note 8. 
(e) Key management incluoes oirectors ano officers of the Company. Total compensation paio to key management 

for the year was $483,231 (2016 - $nil), of which $442,955 (2016 - $nil) was stock-baseo compensation. 
 
8. ConvertGble promGssory notes payable 
 
On June 15, 2015, the Company issueo convertible promissory notes payable in the amount of $97,500, bearing no 
interest ano maturing on May 20, 2016. At the option of the lenoer, the promissory note ano any interest accrueo can 
be converteo into equity of the Company simultaneously with any equity raise, in accoroance with a preferential 
participation right. If the promissory notes are not repaio or converteo by the maturity oate, the notes bear interest at 
15% per annum. 
 
The convertible promissory note holoer may elect to convert the principal ano any interest accrueo into equity in 
accoroance with the preferential participation right. As part of the preferential participation right, each convertible 
promissory note holoer has a right to purchase up to $100,000 of a future equity raise within the two years from the 
oate of issuance. The participation woulo be at a 30% oiscount to the issue price of any other equity issueo as part of 
the equity raise.  
 
This conversion ano participation right is consioereo to be a oerivative liability (note 6). On initial recognition, the 
promissory note component was valueo at $51,781 ano the oerivative liability was valueo at $45,719. 
 
 

 
 
During the year, $97,500 of convertible promissory notes payable were electeo to be converteo into shares as part of 
an equity financing (note 5). As part of the conversion, the noteholoers waiveo any accrueo interest owing on the 
convertible promissory notes ano only converteo the principal amounts. 
 
The Company recognizeo $6,723 (2016 - $38,996) of accretion relateo to the convertible promissory notes ouring the 
year enoeo March 31, 2017 
 
9. Mortgage payable 
 
The mortgage bears interest at 4.5% per annum, is payable in monthly instalments of $3,338, ano is oue November 1, 
2020. The mortgage payable is secureo by a first charge over certain specifieo properties. Interest expense on 
mortgages payable was $11,129 for the year enoeo March 31, 2017 (2016 - $146,103).  

Amount
Balance, March 31, 2015 -$                                   
Issuance of convertible promissory notes 97,500                               
Less: allocateo to oerivative liability (45,719)                              
Accretion 38,996                               
Balance, March 31, 2016  $                             90,777 
Accretion 6,723                                 
Less: promissory notes converteo (97,500)                              
Balance, March 31, 2017  $                                     -   
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10. CapGtal management 
 
The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure a sufficient liquioity position to safeguaro the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in oroer to provioe returns for shareholoers ano benefits for other stakeholoers. 
The Company oefines capital as net equity ano oebt, compriseo of issueo share capital ano accumulateo oeficit, as 
well as convertible promissory notes payable ano oue to relateo parties.  
 
The Company’s objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure it has sufficient cash resources to 
maintain its ongoing operations ano finance its research ano oevelopment activities, corporate ano aoministration 
expenses, working capital ano overall capital expenoitures. Since inception, the Company has primarily financeo its 
liquioity neeos through issuance of shares ano convertible promissory notes payable.  
 
There have been no changes to the Company’s objectives ano what it manages as capital since the prior fiscal year. 
The Company is not subject to externally imposeo capital requirements. 
 
11. FGnancGal Gnstruments and rGsk management 
 
Financial instruments 
 
The Company has classifieo its cash ano oerivative liability as fair value through profit ano loss (“FVTtL”), accounts 
receivable ano other receivables as loans ano receivables, ano accounts payable ano accrueo liabilities, oue to relateo 
parties, convertible promissory notes payable ano mortgage payable as other financial liabilities. 
 
The carrying values of cash, accounts receivable, other receivables, oue to relateo parties, accounts payable ano 
accrueo liabilities ano convertible promissory notes payable approximate their fair values oue to their short perioos to 
maturity. 
 
FaGr value hGerarchy 
 
Financial instruments recoroeo at fair value are classifieo using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
inputs useo in making the measurements. The hierarchy is summarizeo as follows: 
 
Level 1 – quoteo prices (unaojusteo) in active markets for ioentical assets ano liabilities 
Level 2 – inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either oirectly (prices) or inoirectly (oeriveo from prices) 

from observable market oata 
Level 3 – inputs for assets ano liabilities not baseo upon observable market oata 
 
FGnancGal rGsk factors 
 
The Company’s risk exposure ano the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarizeo below: 
 
(a) Creoit risk  
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of creoit risk consist 
principally of cash. The Company’s cash is helo at a major Canaoian bank. The Company regularly monitors the creoit 
risk exposure ano takes steps to mitigate the likelihooo of these exposures resulting in actual loss. 
 
(b) Liquioity risk 
 
The Company is exposeo to liquioity risk or the risk of not meeting its financial obligations as they come oue.  The 
Company constantly monitors ano manages its cash flows to assess the liquioity necessary to funo operations (see 
note 1). All of the Company’s financial liabilities are oue within one year except for the oerivative liability.  
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(c) Interest rate risk 
 
The Company is subject to interest rate risk from its convertible promissory notes payable ano mortgage payable, 
which are all currently fixeo rate instruments.   
 
12. Income taxes 
  
The reconciliation of the combineo Canaoian feoeral ano provincial corporate income taxes at statutory effective 
income tax rates is as follows: 
 

 
 
Deferreo taxes are provioeo as a result of temporary oifferences that arise oue to the oifferences between the income 
tax values ano the carrying amount of assets ano liabilities. Deferreo tax assets have not been recognizeo in respect of 
the following oeouctible temporary oifferences: 
 

 
 
Deferreo tax assets have not been recognizeo in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable 
income will be available to utilize the benefits therefrom. 
 
The Company hao Canaoian non-capital loss carry forwaros which may be available to offset future years’ taxable 
income. The losses expire as follows: 
 

 
13. Proposed transactGon 
 
On February 10, 2017, the Company signeo a oefinitive amalgamation agreement with SG Spirit Golo Inc. (“SG”). 
tursuant to the terms of the Definitive Agreement, SG will acquire all of the issueo ano outstanoing securities of the 
Company (the "Transaction"). 
 
On April 28, 2017, the Agreement was amenoeo as agreeo upon by both parties. In accoroance with the terms of the 
amenoeo Definitive Agreement, the Company will amalgamate with a wholly-owneo subsioiary of SG, following 

2017 2016

Net Income (Loss) before recovery of income taxes (967,372)$    (240,954)$    

Expecteo income tax recovery (251,517)      (63,853)         
Non-oeouctible expenses 125,483       64                 
Tax rate changes ano other aojustments 1,303            -                
Amounts bookeo oirectly into equity 43,940          -                
Change in unrecognizeo oeferreo tax assets 80,791          63,789          

Net oeferreo tax liabilities -$             -$              

2017 2016

Non-capital losses carrieo forwaro 571,908       81,831          
Derivative liability -                178,785        
Share issuance costs 13,600          -                

585,508       260,616        

2035 19,903      
2036 61,928      
2037 490,077    

571,908    
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which the resulting amalgamateo entity will continue as a wholly-owneo subsioiary of SG. Following a consolioation 
of the outstanoing common shares of SG on a 1-for-3 basis, as consioeration for completion of the Transaction, the 
current holoers of the Company’s Class A common shares will be issueo 1.8 post-consolioateo common shares of SG, 
in exchange for every share of the Company they holo. Existing oilutive securities of the Company will be exchangeo 
for oilutive securities of SG, on substantially the same terms, ano applying the same exchange ratio. 
 
trior to closing of the Transaction it is anticipateo that SG will apply to list its common shares for traoing on the 
Canaoian Securities Exchange (the "CSE") ano voluntarily oelist its shares from the TSX Venture Exchange. On 
closing of the Transaction it is anticipateo that the Company will change its name to "DOJA Cannabis Company 
Limiteo". 
 
Closing of the Transaction remains subject to a number of conoitions, incluoing the completion of satisfactory oue 
oiligence, receipt of any requireo shareholoer, regulatory ano thiro-party consents, the Canaoian Securities Exchange 
having conoitionally accepteo the listing of SG’s common shares, the TSX Venture Exchange having consenteo to the 
voluntarily oelisting of SG’s common shares, ano the satisfaction of other customary closing conoitions. 
 
14. Hubsequent event 
 
Subsequent to the year, the Company issueo 3,396,847 Class A common shares at a price of $0.90 per share, for total 
gross proceeos of $3,057,162, ano incurreo issuance costs of $63,260. 


